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Plaintiffs, 

tvs. 

CITY OF VALLEJO; GREG NYHOFF; 
RANDY RISNER; ANNE CARDWELL; 
HEATHER RUIZ; and DOES 1-50, 
!inclusive, 

Defendants. 

t:oMPLAINT FOR DAMAGES AND 

DEMANDFORTRIALBYJURY 
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Case No.: 

COMPLAINT FOR DAMAGES 
1. VIOLATION OF LABOR CODE 
SECTION 1102.5 
2. HARASSMENT 
3. RETALIATION 
4. DEFAMATION 
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I. INTRODUCTION 

1. Plaintiffs Slater Matzke, William Morat, and Joanna Altman were dedicated and 

3 ccessful public servants for the City of Vallejo for many years. All three (3) Plaintiffs worked 

4 · n supervisory positions, where they learned of and/or witnessed incidents of discrimination, 

5 assment, and retaliation. They were shocked to find that Human Resources rarely, if ever, 

6 · vestigated complaints of these incidents. Further, they were retaliated against and harassed 

7 

8 

9 

making complaints of discrimination, harassment, and retaliation on behalf of an aggrieved 

2. In their positions, they also worked closely with the City Manager, Greg Nyhoff. 

10 yhoff did nothing to remedy these issues, instead fostering this hostile environment. In fact, 

11 yhoff, himself, engaged in improper, unethical, corrupt, and illegal conduct. Of particular 

12 · portance, Nyhoffhas undermined Vallejo's position in negotiations regarding the 

evelopment ofland on North Mare Island, favoring and benefitting a private developer contrary 

14 o and to the detriment of Vallejo. However, Nyhoffused Vallejo employees to conceal his 

·ons, including by firing employees and pressuring employees and legislators to publicly state 

eir support for him. 

3. Eventually, the City Council did order an investigation of Nyhoff. During the 

18 · vestigation, Plaintiffs reported these concerns - after being threatened with termination if they 

21 

ed to participate and/or failed to be as truthful as possible. Although the interviews should 

ave remained confidential, Plaintiffs' statements during their interviews were disclosed to 

yhoff. As a result of their whistleblowing and complaints of unlawful discrimination, Plaintiffs 

22 ere all terminated from their employment. 

23 

24 

II. PARTIES 

4. Plaintiff SLATER MATZKE (hereinafter, "Matzke") worked for defendant City 

25 fVallejo at all times material to this Complaint for Damages and Demand for Trial by Jury. 

26 5. Plaintiff JOANNA ALTMAN (hereinafter, "Altman'') worked for defendant City 

27 f Vallejo at all times material to this Complaint for Damages and Demand for Trial by Jury. 

28 // 
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I 6. Plaintiff WILLIAM MORAT (hereinafter, "Morat") worked for defendant City 

2 fVallejo at all times material to this Complaint for Damages and Demand for Trial by Jury 

3 

4 

6 

7. 

8. 

Matzke, Altman, and Morat are, from time to time, referred to in this Complaint 

Defendant CITY OF VALLEJO (hereinafter, "Vallejo") and Does 1 through 10, 

7 ere public entities, duly organized and existing under and by virtue of the laws of the State of 

8 

9 9. Defendant GREGORY NYHOFF (hereinafter, "Nyhoff') was the City Manager 

10 or defendant Vallejo at all times material to this Complaint. He is being sued individually and 

his official capacity. 

10. Defendant RANDY RISNER (hereinafter, "Risner") was the City Attorney for 

efendant Vallejo at all times material to this Complaint. He is being sued individually and in 

·s official capacity. 

11. Defendant ANNE CARDWELL (hereinafter, "Cardwell") was the Assistant City 

anager for defendant Vallejo at all times material to this Complaint. She is being sued 

12. Defendant HEATHER RUIZ (hereinafter, "Ruiz") was the Human Resources 

irector for defendant Vallejo at all times material to this Complaint. She is being sued 

I 
" 20 'ndividually and in her official capacity. 

21 13. Plaintiffs are ignorant of the true names and capacities of the defendants sued 

22 erein as Does 11 through 50, inclusive, and therefore sue these defendants by such fictitious 

23 es and capacities. Plaintiffs are informed and believe, and on that basis allege, that each 

24 efendant sued under such fictitious names is in some manner responsible for the occurrences 

25 erein alleged, and that Plaintiffs' injuries as herein alleged were proximately caused by the 

26 onduct of such defendants. 

27 14. Nyhoff, Risner, Cardwell, Ruiz, and Does 1 through 50, inclusive, are, from time 

28 time, referred to in this Complaint collectively as "Defendants." 
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ill. JURISDICTION AND VENUE 

15. The Court has personal jurisdiction over the defendants because they were 

sidents of and/or a public entity in the State of California. 

16. At all relevant times, defendants' conduct complained of herein occurred in the 

ounty of Solano, in the State of California. Additionally, Vallejo is located in the County of 

Solano. Therefore, venue in the County of Solano is proper. 

IV. EXHAUSTION OF REMEDIES 

17. Pursuant to Government Code section 910, on October 21, 2020, Plaintiff Slater 

atzke filed a Claim for Damages with defendant the City of Vallejo in proper form and within 

e applicable statutory period, a copy of which is attached hereto as Exhibit "1", and 

· corporated herein by reference. On December 4, 2020, the City of Vallejo denied Matzke's 

laim. A copy of the "Notice of Rejection" ofMatzke's claim is attached hereto as Exhibit ''2" 

d is incorporated herein by reference. 

18. Pursuant to Government Code section 910, on October 21, 2020, Plaintiff Joanna 

tman filed a Claim for Damages with defendant the City of Vallejo in proper form and within 

e applicable statutory period, a copy of which is attached hereto as Exhibit "3", and 

·ncorporated herein by reference. On December 4, 2020, the City of Vallejo denied Altman's 

laim. A copy of the "Notice of Rejection" of Altman's claim is attached hereto as Exhibit "4" 

d is incorporated herein by reference. 

19. Pursuant to Government Code section 910, on August 19, 2020, Plaintiff Will 

orat filed a Claim for Damages with defendant the City of Vallejo in proper form and within 

e applicable statutory period, a copy of which is attached hereto as Exhibit "5", and 

·ncorporated herein by reference. The claim was amended on October 21, 2020, a copy of which 

· s attached hereto as Exhibit "6", and incorporated herein by reference. On December 4, 2020, 

e City of Vallejo denied Marat's amended claim. A copy of the ''Notice of Rejection" of 

26 orat's amended claim is attached hereto as Exhibit "7" and is incorporated herein by reference. 

27 // 

28 // 
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1 20. On February 5, 2021, Plaintiff Slater Matzke filed a complaint with the 

2 alifornia Department of Fair Employment and Housing ("DFEH"), DFEH Matter Number 

3 02102-12538305, requesting an immediate right-to-sue notice, a copy of which is attached 

4 ereto as Exhibit "8" and incorporated herein by reference. 

5 21. On February 5, 2021, Plaintiff Joanna Altman filed a complaint with the 

6 alifornia Department of Fair Employment and Housing ("DFEH"), DFEH Matter Number 

7 02102-1253 8905, requesting an immediate right-to-sue notice, a copy of which is attached 

8 ereto as Exhibit ''9" and incorporated herein by reference. 

9 22. On February 5, 2021, Plaintiff William Morat filed a complaint with the 

10 California Department of Fair Employment and Housing ("DFEH"), DFEH Matter Number 

11 

21 

22 

02102-12539105, requesting an immediate right-to-sue notice, a copy of which is attached 

ereto as Exhibit "10" and incorporated herein by reference. 

23. Therefore, Plaintiffs have exhausted all administrative remedies. 

V. FACTUALSUMMARY 

24. Gregory ("GTeg") Nyhoff, the City Manager for Vallejo, engaged in graft and 

omiption, using his position to his benefit as he curated close relationships with land 

evelopers, particularly wealthy ones. Nyhoffthen negotiated against Vallejo's interest 

garding contracts between Vallejo and those developers. 

25. Moreover, Nyhoff created a culture of discrimination, harassment, and retaliation 

Vallejo that was so deeply embedded that other employees felt free to do the same. 

xacerbating this issue, the Human Resources department and its Director, defendant Heather 

uiz, rarely investigated complaints submitted to the office. Further, when Vallejo finally 

23 · vestigated the ongoing discrimination of Morat and Matzke's employee, it centered its 

24 · vestigation on Morat - who had complained of the discrimination - rather than the bad actor. 

25 26. In or around March 2020, the City Council finally ordered an investigation of 

26 yhoff. However, this was a sham investigation that resulted in Plaintiffs' terminations, simply 

27 ecause they raised complaints as whistleblowers and for reporting of, and participating in the 

28 · vestigation of complaints of, unlawful discrimination. 
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A. Plaintiffs Bad Successful Careen With Valleio. 

27. Plaintiff Slater Matzke began working for Vallejo as a FUSE Corp Fellow in or 

und September 2016. On or around October 19, 2017, he was contracted as an Executive 

dvisor to Vallejo as a consultant. On or around February 1 2020, he was hired as a Special 

dvisor to the Office of the City Manager. As demonstrated by Vallejo' s continued contracting 

d eventual hiring of Matzke at senior-level positions, he performed his job well and was 

gularly commended for his work and dedication to Vallejo. 

28. Plaintiff Joanna Altman began working for Vallejo in or around October 2012 as 

Administrative Analyst II. In or around 2016, she was promoted to the position of Assistant 

the City Manager. Altman had a glowing personnel record and was regularly commended for 

er hard work and dedication to Vallejo. Not only was she excellent at her own job, she is 

extremely knowledgeable about all aspects of work at City Hall, mentoring many employees. 

29. Plaintiff William ("Will") Morat began working for Vallejo in or around 

ecember 2013 as an Administrative Analyst I and was promoted to Administrative Analyst II in 

r around October 2015. In April of 2017, Morat was appointed the Project Manager for the 

lue Rock Springs Golf Course and Housing Project. On or around January 2018, he was 

romoted to the Interim Manager for the Housing & Community Development Department. On 

around July 2018, he was appointed the Project Manager for the Mare Island Project and was 

esignated as lead negotiator for Vallejo's team. On or around October 8, 2018, Morat was 

oted to the position of Assistant to the City Manager. One (1) month later, in or around 

ovember 2018, Morat was promoted again, now leading and managing the Economic 

evelopment Division. 

30. Plaintiffs were all members of the Senior Leadership Team ("SLT"). 

B. Nyhoff Engaged in Graft and Corruption, Putting Himself Before and 
Above His Oath of Office and His Duty to Vallejo. 

31. In or around January 2018, the Vallejo City Council (hereinafter, "City Council") 

ppointed defendant Greg Nyhoff as City Manager for Vallejo. Thus began a parade of horribles 

ICOl'llllDl··tted and endorsed byNyhoffin and beyond City Hall. 
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32. Nyhoff's tenure with the City of Vallejo has been marred by bad acts, including 

ose that affect the entire city and its residents. Egregiously, Nyhoff violated his oath of office 

d duties as City Manager, blatantly engaging in graft and corruption, putting his own desires 

ar above those of Vallejo and its residents. Again, if any employee threatened his corrupt 

ctivities, they were terminated or eventually resigned when they were unable to continue to 

dure their working conditions. 

33. A significant cause for Plaintiffs' concern was Nyhoff's actions regarding the 

orth Mare Island project, which concerns the development of approximately 157-acres of 

acant, City-owned land. This real estate opportunity will undoubtedly impart substantial 

enefits to Vallejo and its residents. Plaintiffs Matzke and Morat were a core part of the 

egotiating team for this project. 

34. The original term sheet for development rights in the North Mare Island project 

vided significant benefits to Vallejo, including specific performance benchmarks and clearly 

efined objectives and required the developer to assume Vallejo's holding costs for the land -

35. In or around Fall 2019, Nyhoff met with potential developer investors in 

ennessee. He also met with them over the holiday break in or around December 2019 -

anuary 2020. After these meetings, Nyhoff essentially shredded the original term sheet, 

ering it renegotiated. Where he had previously been largely uninvolved, Nyhoff actively 

articipated in these renegotiations, but weakened Vallejo's position such that the final tenn 

sheet had removed all ofVallejo's power and control in the development process of its own land 

removing all benchmarks or performance milestones, omitting public infrastructure 

uirements, and eliminating all conditions of sale that would have ensured actual development. 

36. Further, in or around January 2020, Nyhoffstepped in and severed 

25 

26 

mmunications between the developers and Vallejo's negotiation team, of which Plaintiffs 

atzke and Morat were a core part. This made it essentially impossible for Plaintiffs or other 

27 eam members to advocate for Vallejo. 

28 '// 
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37. In or around October 2019, after Vallejo and the North Mare Island developer 

agreed to a term sheet, but before staff had taken the term sheet to City Council for approval, 

yhoff commanded Morat to change the wording in the term sheet that would shift a 

erformance benchmark from "construction complete" to "construction substantially complete." 

orat told Nyhoffthe subjective insertion of"substantial" would water down the term sheet, 

dering it unenforceable, and that Vallejo "will end up in court arguing over what is 

'substantially complete' five years from now," or words to that effect. Nyhoffreplied, "I don't 

, I won't be here five years from now," or words to that effect. Morat replied that other 

epartments on the negotiating team would never agree to such a unilateral change, and that it 

ould effectively negate the entire purpose of the term sheet. When Morat stated, essentially, "I 

ve never made a recommendation to City Council that I didn't believe wasn't absolutely the 

est thing for the City of Vallejo-I can't put that word in," Nyhoffreplied, "then I'll find 

38. Morat confided in Altman that Nyhoff had threatened his employment ifhe 

ould not negotiate away Vallejo's position to benefit the developer. A similar, but separate 

· teraction had occurred with another Vallejo employee who had also been on the receiving end 

fa threat to her employment by Nyhoff. While visibly upset, she told Altman that she had 

amed Nyhoff that "substantially complete" would need to be defined, otherwise Vallejo would 

ve no standard to measure development. Nyhoff attempted to bully her by threatening to find 

omeone else to do her job - strikingly similar to how Nyhoff reacted to Morat. 

39. Plaintiffs Matzke and Morat refused to follow Nyhoff's marching orders during 

e renegotiation and water down the agreement, continuing to advocate for the original terms, 

· .e., the terms that most benefited Vallejo - not the developers. Nyhoff simply told them that he 

ould find someone else to do what he wanted. 

40. There were numerous other red flags that caused Plaintiffs grave concern. 

26 II 

27 // 
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41. Multiple staff recommendations were made regarding a proposed development 

n City-owned land adjacent to the Napa River/San Francisco Bay, recommending that the 

eveloper address future sea level rise. Instead, Nyhofftried to ignore the many 

mmendations, wanting to just let the developer build "as is." Without requiring any 

itigation for future sea level rise would have created tremendous future liability for Vallejo. 

yhoff eventually relented. 

42. Nyhoffrepeatedly asked staff to reconsider accepting land from the United 

States Navy which held a former landfill. The City Council had engaged in numerous 

· scussions about the tremendous liability that would result from taking the toxic and polluted 

and and consistently decided not to accept the land. Nyhoff believed that he could convince 

'ty Council to change their mind and act against the best interest of Vallejo. 

43. In or around Fall 2018, Vallejo's building inspectors red-tagged a condemned 

· ty-owned building on City-owned Mare Island Preserve for numerous violations, including 

ving no running water, a dangerous roof and structure, no electrical service, and asbestos 

ntaminants. Nyhoff wanted to rescind the red-tag and allow a group to continue to use the 

uilding to host public events. He refused to listen to multiple staff members from multiple 

epartments who advised him that, once Vallejo inspected the building and was aware of the 

ger, rescinding a red-tag would effectively assume tremendous liability for Vallejo in the 

ent something happened. Nyhoffwould also verbally abuse staff who tried to advise him of 

ese concerns, including Morat. 

44. In October 2019, due to a "Red Flag" warning and wind event, Pacific Gas & 

lectric had launched their Public Safety Power Shutoff. In response, Vallejo activated the 

mergency Operations Center ("BOC"). The activation was chaotic. Nyhoffwas late every 

orning, forcing staff to wait for daily BOC briefs. According to Nyhoff, he would arrive forty­

ve ( 45) minutes late because his power came back on and he wanted to take a shower. Nyhoff, 

e Incident Commander, and Vallejo Fire Department Chief Daryl Arbuthnott would argue in 

nt of staff about who was in charge of what. Nyhoff had ignored recommendations to train as 

team in order to prepare for an BOC activation, which would have prevented such arguments. 
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tman, who was a member of the EOC team, was approached by another employee. The 

ployee was upset and concerned that Nyhoff did not take the activation seriously and was 

· different about the natural and man-made danger facing Vallejo. 

45. Additionally, confidential infonnation regarding the Blue Rock Springs Golf and 

ousing Project had been leaked to a project opponent, who was threatening litigation, several 

· es. When confronted with this alarming information, including evidence that the leak was 

ming from Vallejo's Director of Planning and Building, Nyhoffwillfully ignored and 

46. Plaintiffs were also concerned when Nyhoff retracted a public, docwnented 

mise to contribute $50,000 in City funding to a non-profit capital project, in which the 

evelopers were heavily involved, on City-owned land. Nyhoff did so because Vallejo staff was 

vising on the inclusion of a prevailing wage, as required by law. 

C. Nyhoff Fostered a Culture of Discrimination, Harassment, and 
Retaliation . 

4 7. Within the walls of City Hall, Nyhoff fostered a culture of discrimination, 

assment, and retaliation. He expected all employees to fall in line, obeying his every 

mmand, regardless of the command's correctness, ethics, or impact. If an employee failed to 

ere to Nyhoff's demands and follow him without question, Nyhoff either terminated them or 

e their working conditions so untenable that they resigned. 

48. A Council Member confided in Plaintiff Altman that Vallejo employees had 

· fonned them ofNyhoff's discrimination, harassment, retaliation, and bullying. Further, the 

ouncil Member disclosed that Nyhoff had bullied them, including pressuring them into signing 

letter requesting that the Department of Justice investigate the Vallejo Police Deparbnent. 

49. Herb Lester, who worked for Vallejo in or around 2018 as a Risk Manager, 

sed female staff. Although Nyhoff eventually fired Lester, he did not do so until multiple 

plaints were made by senior staff. 

27 II 
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1 so. Rob White, who worked for Vallejo as Director of Development Services, 

2 arassed female staff. In or around January 2019, he joined the team working on the North Mare 

3 sland project, of which Plaintiffs Matzke and Morat were also members. In one instance, the 

4 eam and Nyhoff were on a ferry to San Francisco to meet with developers. White told a female 

5 eam member, "shouldn't you be back at your desk working since you can't keep up with 

6 eryone else," or words to that effect, while putting his hands on her shoulder. It was clear that 

7 e team member was uncomfortable with both White's words and his physical contact. White 

8 so constantly attacked the reputation, character, and abilities of his colleagues - including 

9 lain.tiffs - behind their backs. Although Nyhoff eventually fired White, again, he did not do so 

10 til multiple complaints were made by senior staff. 

51. One substantial motivating factor for Plaintiffs' termination was their reporting 

f, and attempts to resolve the serious and ongoing discrimination against, and harassment and 

ullying of, an employee, a Black woman who worked for Morat and Matzke, by Judy Shepard­

all, Vallejo's Housing and Community Development Manager. 

52. The employee had reached out to Plaintiff Morat numerous times, dating back to 

16 anuary 2019, seeking guidance on how to handle Shepard-Hall's abuse. She had also filed 

ultiple complaints with Human Resources (hereinafter, "HR"), but nothing was done. 

53. On or around February 18, 2020, Morat and the employee attempted to attend a 

roject meeting, run by Shepard-Hall. The moment they arrived, Shepard-Hall pulled Morat 

ide and told him, "This meeting isn't for staff. You're going to have to have [the employee] 

21 eave." Incensed, Morat and the employee left. 

22 54. Immediately after, Morat spoke to Plaintiffs Altman and Matzke about the 

23 · ncident. Altman and Matzke encouraged the employee to report this incident to HR as race 

24 · scrimination and to go directly to Nyhoff. In a show of support, Morat went to HR with the 

25 ployee to report the incident, where they spoke to Doris Papillon-Allen, Personnel Analyst II. 

26 t evening, Morat sent two (2) emails. The first was an email to all those in attendance at the 

27 eeting, briefly explaining why he had left so abruptly. The second was sent to Defendants 

28 yhoff, Heather Ruiz, Director of Human Resources, and Anne Cardwell, Assistant City 
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anager, as well as Papillon-Allen, regarding the incident and Shepard-Hall's ongoing treatment 

f the employee, officially lodging a complaint regarding the same. 

55. The next day, Morat met with Nyhoff and Ruiz, who told him that he was being 

laced on administrative leave. Nyhoff refused to offer any explanation. When Morat asked 

uiz for an explanation, she simply said, ''You shouldn't have sent the email,,, or words to that 

effect. This was clearly retaliation for standing up for and protecting the employee, who was a 

· ctim of race discrimination. 

56. Shortly after Morat was placed on leave, Matzke assumed the role of interim 

pervisor for the Economic Development Division. He reviewed all of the allegations regarding 

e discrimination, harassment, and treatment of the employee. He emailed Defendants Nyhoff, 

uiz, Cardwell, and Risner, expressing his concerns. Again, Matzk:e's concerns were 

swered. Matzke also spoke to the employee, who told him that HR had not responded to 

y of their complaints. Matzke then spoke to Nyhoff and sent him an email expressing his 

er concerns and requesting guidance on how to handle the situation. Nyhoff was 

esponsive and dismissive of the issue, and failed to address these serious HR violations and 

57. The employee then reached out to Altman, asking for advice. The employee 

·scussed how Shepard-Hall had been discriminating against, and harassing and bullying, her. 

tman advised her to fully document everything that had happened thus far and going forward, 

end it to Nyhoff, and to reach out to her union representative. 

58. Notably, Shepard-Hall is close friends with Defendants Ruiz and Cardwell-

Shepard-Hall's supervisor. In fact, shortly before the February 18 meeting, Shepard-Hall asked 

uiz if she would "get in trouble" if she kicked Morat and the employee out, or words to that 

ect. Ruiz told her that she would not. Further, whenever a complaint was made to Ruiz about 

Shepard-Hall, Ruiz would tell her who had complained and would refuse to investigate. 

59. Further, Shepard-Hall conspired with one ofMorat's direct reports to terminate 
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1 60. In or around early March 2020, an investigation of Shepard-Hall's actions was 

2 nducted. All Plaintiffs were interviewed. During the interviews with Matzke and Altman, the 

3 ajority of the questions related to Morat and his behavior, management style, and conduct -

4 othing to do with Shepard-Hall's conduct. 

5 61. In fact, Shepard-Hall and defendants Ruiz and Cardwell all conspired to 

6 ltel'ltmrtate Plaintiffs. It is clear that, although the investigation should have been confidential, 

7 laintiffs' statements were disclosed to Shepard-Hall. 

8 62. Additionally, Nyhofftold Shepard-Hall that, if she signed a letter in support of 

9 ·m ("March 13 letter") which stated that he was not a racist and/or made public statements to 

10 t effect, he would protect her in the investigation of her actions. Shepard-Hall signed the 

11 etter. 

D. 

63. 

Nyhoff Openly Confirmed That He Ill Racist. 

Vallejo stresses the importance of promoting diversity among its staff members. 

owever, Vallejo's message was not furthered by Nyhoff during SLT meetings. In the fall of 

019, during a SLT Meeting, Nyhoffstarted talking about Vallejo's diversity training. He told 

e SL T, "I was a big racist well into my thirties. I did not trust Mexicans or African Americans. 

did not go into their neighborhoods because I thought they would rob me. I didn't talk to them; 

didn't associate with them. I was scared of them." Nyhoff did not offer any details about any 

19 ubsequent transformation, other than to say the SLT was diverse. 

64. During a SLT meeting in January 2020, defendant Ruiz discussed Vallejo 

21 articipating in a diversity conference and training, which would result in plans to update City 

22 ersonnel rules and ordinances. Nyhoff reminded the team- a very diverse group-that he had 

23 hared that he was a racist growing up and that he ''was afraid of any one of color and that it was 

24 

25 

bably because he grew up in Kansas." 

65. Nyhoff's confessions of being a racist visibly made staff members very 

26 comfortable and clearly demonstrate his animus against Plaintiffs for reporting discrimination 

27 d harassment. 

28 

OMPLAINTFORDAMAGESAND 
EMAND FOR TRIAL BY JURY 

13 CASENO. 



I 
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E. Nyhoff Blamed and Bullied Staff for His Failures and Poor Performance. 

66. On May 28, 2019, the City Council conducted Nyhoff's perfonnance evaluation 

3 a closed session. The following day, Nyhoff called a SLT meeting to tell everyone that he was 

4 tremely disappointed that bis evaluation did not go well and implied that this was his staff's 

5 ult. Nyhoff subsequently had at least nine (9) closed session performance evaluations and/or 

6 ntract negotiations with the Council between May 2019-April 2020, as the Council never 

7 ized his first-annual evaluation that had commenced in January 2019. Following each 

8 losed session, Nyhoffwould routinely attack various senior staff, either verbally or in writing, 

9 or what he perceived as their failures that reflected poorly on him. 

10 

11 

67. Nyhoff's aforementioned behavior constitutes violations ofVallejo's policies, 

actices, and procedures regarding, inter alia, bullying and harassment. 

F, Valleio Conducted a Sham Invesdgation ofNyhoff. 

68. By March 2020, the City Council had not finalized Nyhoff's perfonnance 

14 valuation from twelve (12) months prior. The City Council ordered an investigation ofNyhoff. 

efendant Risner told Plaintiff Matzke that the investigation was being conducted so that the 

ity Council could proceed with terminating Nyhoff. Risner also confirmed that ten (10) 

17 · dividuals had been selected by City Council for interviews, including Plaintiffs. A Council 

ember confirmed to Matzke and Altman that the City Council had directed Risner to hire an 

19 ttomey to conduct the investigation to ensure that the termination of Nyhoff complied with all 
§! 
...t 20 egal requirements. Risner hired Christopher Boucher to oversee the investigation. 

21 69. Shortly before his investigation began, on or around March 13, 2020, Nyhoff 

22 irculated a letter (the "March 13 letter") throughout City Hall, supporting him. Nyhoff had his 

23 nies circulate the letter on his behalf, although he also met with people to ask them to sign it. 

24 though employees were not required to sign the March 13 letter, it was generally understood 

25 at not signing it - whether outright refusal or not being presented with it - placed one directly 

26 n Nyhoff's "hitlist." Notably, Plaintiffs were never told about such a letter and were never 

27 ffered the opportunity to view and/or sign it, but instead were purposefully excluded from 

28 articipating. Nyhoffthen sent the letter, with signatures from members of the Senior 
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2 

ership Team other than Plaintiffs, to City Council. 

70. Prior to the interviews, Risner informed Matzke that he could be terminated for 

3 fusing to participate in the interview and that he must be honest, open, and include all details in 

4 · s answer to the questions. Matzke expressed his concerns that one of the key issues with 

5 yhoff was an HR matter and that HR's involvement in the investigation was inappropriate and 

6 ented a clear conflict of interest. 

7 71. On March 31, 2020, Plaintiffs were individually interviewed by Linda Daube 

8 creinafter, "Daube''), the attorney hired to conduct the interview. Daube audio-recorded their 

9 · terview, which Vallejo has refused to provide to Plaintiffs. 

10 72. Throughout the interviews, Plaintiffs were repeatedly advised that they "had to 

11 ell the truth," ''would be terminated if found to be untruthful or unforthcoming," and ''would be 
3: 
w ~ 12 ac:: 1,1) 

ltel"ltniI" tated if they did not fully participate in the investigation" of Nyhoff. Of course, Plaintiffs' 

nly intention throughout the interview was to be honest and candid, and to provide 1ruthful 
ca a; 
clJ 5 13 
::::::; ' 
..I C "D 
~ .g .§ 14 · fonnation for the good of Vallejo. 

5 ~ i ~ 15 o~a§ 73. During the interview, Daube asked Plaintiffs if they knew of various alleged 

16 'mproper, unethical, and inappropriate actions regarding Nyhoff. Plaintiffs reported that Nyhoff: 
~~ii ..-t 
Q II.I C: CII -1.2 ~ 
'J: 0 !!I~ 
u I=~ ..1 17 
► <"'111 

'led to put the best interests of Vallejo above his own; used his position to benefit developers, 

as favoritism to the provision of favors to Mare Island developers with whom Nyhoff had 

eveloped deep personal relationships; and threatened and bullied his subordinates when they 

al:: 0. C 

~ < -~ 18 - .. 
~ ~ 19 
< 
~ 
..I 

3: 
I 
..-1 20 uestioned his decisions and conduct. In fact, Nyhoff would demote and terminate employees 

~ 21 ho questioned him or stood in the way of these close relationships. Plaintiffs also raised 

22 nccrns with Daube about the validity of the March 13 letter. Additionally, Plaintiffs cited 

23 'mproper and inappropriate behavior in the handling of the aforementioned Emergency 

24 ations Center activation in which Nyhoff, the Incident Commander, verbally jousted with 

25 e Vallejo Fire Department Chief Daryl Arbuthnott in front of twenty (20) employees during a 

26 'tical incident-where time was of the essence- and then personally halted forward progress, 

27 he was forty-five (45) minutes late to an Operations debriet he had called for, because he 

28 
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74. During Daube's investigation, Plaintiffs also discussed the uneasy and hostile 

ork environment created by Nyhoff and bis retaliatory, discriminatory, and bullying behavior. 

ey discussed Nyhoff's failure to pay attention to, or read, reports, his failure to stay updated 

n key issues even when given talking points from his staff, and the blame that Nyhoff placed on 

· s staff when these failures caused him problems. In response to questions about Nyhoff and 

· scrimination, Plaintiffs detailed the harassment, discriminatory and bullying culture cultivated 

y him, as well as his willful failure to investigate HR complaints. In short, each Plaintiff raised 

· ssues about possible violations of State and local law, regulations, charters, and rules. 

75. Daube asked them if Nyhoff ever brought up issues of race or gender in Senior 

eadership Team meetings. Plaintiffs confirmed that Nyhoffrepeatedly admitted to being a 

· st during bis thirties. 

76. Daube informed Plaintiffs that a report and some transcripts would be prepared 

d then shared with Risner, who was responsible for maintaining the confidentiality of the 

· vestigation and preventing Nyhoff from obtaining information shared by all those interviewed, 

· eluding. Morat repeatedly told Daube during bis interviews that, ''Nyhoff is going to get ahold 

fthis report, and he's going to use it as a hitlist to go after anyone who said anything critical of 

· " or words to that effect. Plaintiffs were assured that the investigation was otherwise 

nfidential. Contrary to her assurances, defendant Risner and Boucher shared confidential 

· formation from the interviews with Nyhoff. In fact, Boucher encouraged Nyhoffto fire 

laintiffs based on their interviews. 

G. Defendants Retaliated Aealnst and Terminated Plaintiffs for 
Whistleblowlng. 

77. The City Council concluded the investigation ofNyhoffin a closed-door session 

n April 22, 2020. The following morning, on April 23, 2020, Plaintiffs were summarily 

erminated. As noted above, only four ( 4) hours later, the employee that Plaintiffs had advocated 

or was notified that the investigation of Shepard-Hall's harassment was closed and that her 

28 II 
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1 78. Instead of conducting a legitimate investigation, Vallejo wrongfully terminated 

2 laintiffs. These wrongful terminations are clearly demonstrative of and executed on the basis of 

3 laintiffs' whistleblowing. Further, instead of conducting a legitimate investigation of race 

4 'scrimination, Vallejo wrongfully harassed, retaliated against, and terminated Plaintiffs for 

5 articipating in the investigation of complaints of unlawful discrimination based on race and for 

6 orting unlawful discrimination based on race. 

7 79. Again, Plaintiffs had excellent records of service. Their only "offense" was 

8 speaking up against a City Manager who had allowed, encouraged, and directly participated in 

9 ting and sustaining a workplace environment rife with illegal discrimination. Plaintiffs' 

10 ·sclosures to the investigator and to Vallejo officials constituted legally protected 

11 'whistleblowing." 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

80. Immediately following Plaintiffs' termination, Plaintiff Matzke began, and 

ntinues to receive, threatening emails and messages from an employee of Vallejo. The 

tening messages are being sent directly to an email used by Matzke to make Public Records 

equests. A limited number of City staff have access to this information. Further, a Vallejo 

olice car was parked outside ofMatzke's home on at least four (4) occasions for no apparent 

on other than to intimidate him. 

H. 

81. 

Defendants Continue to Defame Plaintiffs. 

Adding insult to injury, Defendant Vallejo, by and through its staff, Council 

embers, and Nyhoff, have smeared the personal and professional reputation of Plaintiffs. 

ese statements have been made to the media, Vallejo employees, and community members. 

ese statements include, but are not limited to the following: 

(a) Vallejo, its staff and its representatives, including Defendants, have spread 

false rumors about Plaintiffs• professional performance. Vallejo has 

repeatedly publicly confirmed that Plaintiffs' termination was not related to 

COVID-19, but rather were due to a ''personnel matter," thereby corroborating 

the aforementioned false rumors. 

28 II 

OMPLAINT FOR DAMAGES AND 
EMAND FOR TRIAL BY JURY 

17 CASBNO. 



2 

3 

4 

s 
6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

a::: 11 LI.I 

3: 
N LI.I 12 a: .-t 

ICD I 
olJ t5 13 
::J ' ..J C "Cl 

14 <( .!:? Ii; > ~ ...,_ 
~ :s (8 15 
~~a§' 
V,eiii.-t 16 Ozc~ 
- a:: .2 ·-
:C C ~ ~ 17 u ~ J!! ~ 
~<e~ 

0. C 
18 <( < 0 

> -~ - ... 
::E IQ 

19 ::c 

~ 
..J 

I .-t 20 
3: 
l.!, 21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

(b) The Hum.an Resources Department, of which defendant Ruiz is the Director, 

has told many individuals that Plaintiffs were fired for "doing something 

illegal," or words to that effect. Specifically, ·Plaintiffs have been accused of 

embezzling money. 

(c) Vallejo disclosed, in a Public Records Act Request, that Morat had been 

placed on paid administrative leave from Feburary 2019 to April 23, 2020. In 

another Request, Vallejo refused to disclose the same infonnation on another 

PRA about police officers, correctly citing the exclusion. 

( d) In or around May 2020, an anonymous phone call was made to an individual 

in another agency of Vallejo, wherein the caller threatened to "be careful of 

recommending Will." 

82. However, Defendants' actions - i.e., spreading false information and accusations 

are not unique to Plaintiffs. Vallejo has a pattern and practice of making and disseminating 

similar wild accusations against fonner employees, particularly those fired by Nyhoff and 

histleblowers. For example, former Vallejo Police Captain John Whitney, a decorated officer 

d whistleblower, who exposed several issues in the Vallejo Police Department ("hereinafter 

'VPD''), including the practice of Vallejo police officers bending back star points on their 

adges after they kill someone in the line of duty, and the failure of the VPD to conduct an 

· ternal investigation of the officer-involved shooting of Willie McCoy, who was gunned down 

y six (6) VPD officers and hit with fifty-five (55) bullets. Vallejo terminated Whitney for 

egedly removing personal data from his work-issued cellphone while he was under 

· nvestigation for improperly handling information. Tellingly, Whitney was cleared of those 

83. Obviously, this defamation has impacted Plaintiffs emotionally and 

conomically and continues to do so, as Defendants continue to concoct and spread vicious 

hlsehoods about Plaintiffs. In fact, Defendants' actions have prevented each Plaintiff from 

ding future employment consistent with their earning potential and qualifications in their 

osen profession. 
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3 84. 

FIRST CAUSE OF ACTION 
Violation of Labor Code section 1102.S 

[Plaintiffs Against Vallejo] 

Plaintiffs incorporate by reference and reallege each and every allegation set 

4 orth above, as though fully set forth herein. 

5 85. Defendants' actions, as described above, violate California Labor Code 

6 ection 1102.5(b), which provides that, "[a]n employer, or any person acting on behalf of the 

7 

8 

ployer, shall not retaliate against an employee for disclosing information, or because the 

ployer believes that the employee disclosed or may disclose information, to a government or 

9 aw enforcement agency, to a person with authority over the employee or another employee who 

10 as the authority to investigate, discover, or correct the violation or noncompliance, ... if the 

11 ployee has reasonable cause to believe that the information discloses a violation of state or 

eral statute, or a violation of or noncompliance with a local, state, or federal rule or 

gulation, regardless of whether disclosing the information is part of the employee's job duties." 

86. Defendants' actions, as described above, violate California Labor Code section 

15 1102.5(c), which provides that "[a]n employer, or any person acting on behalf of the employer, 

all not retaliate against an employee for refusing to participate in an activity that would result 

17 · n a violation of state or federal statute, or a violation of or noncompliance with a local, state, or 

21 

22 

87. Plaintiffs reasonably believed that Defendants' conduct violated, inter alia, the 

alifomia Fair Employment and Housing Act (hereinafter, ''PEHA"), California Government 

de section 12900, et seq., and California Government Code sections 1090, 87100, et seq. 

88. Defendant Vallejo would abide by its own internal handbooks, procedures, 

23 ·tten agreements, rules and regulations, amendments and modifications to agreements in, inter 

24 Jia, not retaliating against whistleblowers; government ethics; selecting employees for 

25 ennination; bullying, harassment, discrimination, retaliation, and conducting investigations of 

26 e same; conducting investigations of graft and corruption; and procedures for handling 

27 

28 II 
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89. Plaintiffs performed all the conditions of their employment agreements that were 

90. Defendant Vallejo failed to carry out its responsibilities under the tenns of the 

ployment agreement by wrongfully, and without cause, discharging Plaintiffs. Vallejo further 

1oreacned its employment agreement with Plaintiffs by unlawfully retaliating against them. 

91. Plaintiffs' discharge from their employment was not for good cause and violated 

7 e due process provisions of the written and implied policies and procedures which governed 

8 e employee-employer relationship between Plaintiffs and Vallejo. 

9 

10 

11 

92. As a direct, legal, and proximate cause of Defendant Vallejo's breach of 

ployment agreement, Plaintiffs suffered, and continue to suffer, substantial losses in earnings 

d benefits, which they would have received had Vallejo not breached the employment 

93. 

SECOND CAUSE OF ACTION 
Harassment (Gov. Code§ 12900, et seq.) 

[Plaintiffs Against Defendants] 

Plaintiffs incorporate by reference and realleges each and every allegation set 

16 orth above, as though fully set forth herein. 

94. Under the FERA, it is an unlawful employment practice "[f]or an employer ... 

r any other person, because of race ... to harass an employee . . . . Harassment of an employee 

19 ... shall be unlawful if the entity, or its agents or supervisors, knows or should have known of 

21 

· s conduct and fails to take immediate and appropriate corrective action. . . . An entity shall 

e all reasonable steps to prevent harassment from occurring/' (Gov. Code,§ 12940(j)(l).) 

22 "Race . . . ' includes a perception ... that the person is associated with a person who has, or is 

23 erceived to have, any of those characteristics." (Gov. Code, § 12926(0).) At all times herein 

24 entioned, Government Code section 12940, subsection (j)(l) was in full force and effect and 

25 as binding on Defendants. 

26 II 

27 II 

28 II 
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12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 
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23 

24 

25 

26 

95. The employee that Plaintiffs are associated with is a member of a protected class 

'thin the meaning of the FEHA based on the employee's race, African American. At all times 

aterial to this complaint, Plaintiffs satisfactorily performed their duties and responsibilities, as 

ected by the Defendants. 

96. Plaintiffs and informed, believe, and thereon allege that their complaints of race 

iscrimination were a substantial motivating reason in the Defendants' continuing course of 

awful conduct, including discrimination and harassment, as set forth hereinabove. 

97. In particular, Defendants Nyhoff, Risner, Cardwell, and Ruiz's mistreatment of 

laintiffs included, but was not limited to: 

(a) Defendants Nyhoff and Ruiz willfully ignored and refused to investigate 

numerous complaints of race discrimination made by Plaintiffs and others. 

When Plaintiffs directly confronted Nyhoffwith complaints of race 

discrimination, Nyhoffwas unresponsive and dismissive. 

(b) Shepard-Hall conspired with Defendants Cardwell and Ruiz to terminate 

Plaintiffs for reporting her unlawful discriminatory and harassing conduct. 

(c) Defendant Ruiz told Plaintiff Morat that he was being placed on 

administrative leave for making a complaint of race discrimination. 

(d) The majority of the questions asked during the investigation of Shepard-Hall's 

conduct did not focus on her conduct, but on PlaintiffMorat and his behavior, 

management style, and conduct. 

(e) Defendant Nyhofftold Shepard-Hall that, if she signed a letter in support of 

him, he would protect her in the investigation of her actions. 

(f) Plaintiffs' statements regarding, inter alia, Defendant Nyhoff's refusal to 

investigate complaints of race discrimination, made during their interviews 

pursuant to the investigation of Nyhoff, should have remained confidential. 

However, Defendant Risner disclosed those statements to Nyhoff. 

27 // 
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98. The aforementioned conduct of Defendants Nyhoff, Risner, Cardwell, and Ruiz, 

hich was known or should have been known to Defendant Vallejo, was far outside the scope of 

ecessary job performance and was instead engaged in for personal gratification, because of 

eanness or bigotry, or for other personal motives. (See Reno v. Baird (1998) 18 Cal.4th 640, 

5-46.) Such harassment is in violation of the FEHA and has resulted in damage and injwy to 

99. Within the time provided by law, Plaintiffs filed complaints of harassment and 

iation with the DFEH. Right-to-sue notices for Plaintiffs were issued on Febrwuy 5, 2021. 

100. As a proximate result of the Defendants' willful, knowing, and intentional 

iscrimination and harassment against Plaintiffs, they have sustained and continue to sustain 

ubstantial losses in earnings and other employment benefits. 

101. As a direct and proximate result of the Defendants' unlawful conduct, Plaintiffs 

ve sustained and continue to sustain physical injuries, pain and suffering, extreme and severe 

ental anguish, and emotional distress. Plaintiffs have also incurred and will continue to incur 

edical expenses for treatment and for incidental medical expenses. Plaintiffs are thereby 

titled to general and compensatory damages in amounts to be proven at trial. 

102. The Defendants' conduct as described above was willful, despicable, knowing, 

d intentional; accordingly, Plaintiffs seek an award of punitive and exemplary damages in an 

THIRD CAUSE OF ACTION 
Retaliation (Gov. Code § 12900, et seq.) 

[Plaintiffs Against Vallejo] 

103. Plaintiffs incorporate by reference and realleges each and every allegation set 

23 orth above, as though fully set forth herein. 

24 104. At all times herein mentioned, Government Code section 12940, subsection (h) 

25 as in full force and effect and was binding on Defendants. This section prohibits retaliation 

26 ecause of opposition to, or making a complaint regarding, unlawful discrimination, retaliation, 

27 d/or harassment. 

28 // 
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105. After Plaintiffs reported the above-described unlawful discrimination, 

sment, and/or retaliation to DefendantVallejo, Defendants retaliated against Plaintiffs as 

escribed above by taking unlawful actions, including but not limited to: denying Plaintiffs 

romotional opportunities; subjecting Plaintiffs to retaliatory discipline; terminating Plaintiffs; 

d/or failing to conduct a good-faith investigation into Plaintiffs' complaints of discrimination, 

assment, and/or retaliation. 

106. Defendants' acts, when taken as a whole, materially and adversely affected the 

enns and conditions of Plaintiffs' employment and/or were adverse employment actions and 

nstitute retaliation in violation of Government Code section 12940, subsection (h). 

107. Plaintiffs lawful complaints of discrimination, harassment, and/or retaliation, 

ere substantial motivating reasons for Defendants' retaliatory acts, described in detail above. 

108. Within the time provided by law, Plaintiffs filed complaints of harassment and 

iation with the DFEH. Right-to-sue notice for Plaintiffs were issued on February 5, 2021. 

109. As a direct and proximate result of the unlawful conduct of Defendants, 

laintiffs were banned and have suffered, and continue to suffer, special damages including, but 

ot limited to: losses in earnings, bonuses, deferred compensation, employment benefits, earning 

pacity; opportunities for employment advancement and work experience; and other damages to 

e proven at the time of trial. 

110. As a direct and proximate result of the unlawful conduct of Defendants, 

laintiffs were harmed and have suffered, and continue to suffer, general damages including but 

ot limited to shock, embarrassment, humiliation, emotional distress, and other damages to be 

oven at the time of trial. 

111. Defendants' conduct was a substantial factor in causing Plaintiffs' harm. 

112. The individual Defendants committed the acts herein alleged maliciously, 

:udulently, and oppressively with the wrongful intention of injuring Plaintiffs, from an 

proper and evil motive amounting to malice, and in conscious disregard of the rights of 

laintiffs. In light of the individual Defendants' willful, knowing, and intentional retaliation 

gainst Plaintiffs, Plaintiffs seek an award of punitive and exemplary damages in an amount 

OMPLAINT FOR DAMAGES AND 
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113. As a direct cause of the acts alleged above, Plaintiffs had to hire the services of 

attorney. Plaintiffs has incurred and continues to incur legal expenses and attorneys' fees, and 

entitled to an award of attorneys' fees and costs pursuant to Government Code section 12965, 

5 ubsection (b). Plaintiffs are presently unaware of the precise amount of these expenses and fees 

6 

7 

8 

9 

pray leave of court to amend this complaint when the amounts are more fully known. 

FOURTH CAUSE OF ACTION 
Defamadon 

[Plaintiffs Against Defendants] 

114. Plaintiffs incorporate by reference and reallege each and every allegation set 

10 orth above, as though fully set forth herein. 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

115. As described herein, Defendants Vallejo, Nyhoff, Risner, Cardwell, Ruiz, and 

oes 1-50 have intentionally and knowingly made false and defamatory statements regarding 

laintiffs, falsely accusing Plaintiffs of, inter alia, insubordination, embezzlement, and 

fessional misconduct. Some of the statements were made to Plaintiffs• former colleagues. 

Some of the statements were made directly to community members. Many of the statements 

ere made to the general public, including through the media. 

116. The statements were made with knowledge of falsity or with a reckless disregard 

117. The statements were made with the intent to damage and harm Plaintiffs' 

eputation and thereby impact their ability to earn a living as public and/or private employees. 

118. Defendants' false publications are per se defamatory. 

119. Pursuant to Government Code section 815.2, Defendant Vallejo ''is liable for 

· ~ury proximately caused by an act or omission of an employee ... within the scope of his 

ployment if the act or omission would, apart from this section, have given rise to a cause of 

ction against that employee or his personal representative." 

120. As a direct and proximate result of the Defendants' wrongful conduct, Plaintiffs 

ve suffered damages, including but not limited to legal expenses, economic losses, loss of 

28 eputation, emotional distress, and other damages. 
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1 121. In doing the things alleged herein, the individual Defendants' conduct was 

2 picable. The individual Defendants acted towards Plaintiffs with malice, oppression, fraud, 

3 d with willful and conscious disregard to Plaintiffs' rights, entitling Plaintiffs to an award of 

4 unitive damages in an amount according to proof. 

5 

6 

7 

PRAYER FOR RELIEF 

WHEREFORE, Plaintiffs pray for judgment against the defendants as follows: 

A. For injunctive relief and all orders necessary to ensure that the defendants 

8 stablish and enforce policies and procedures protecting their employees from unlawful 

10 B. For compensatory damages, including loss of wages, promotional opportunities, 

11 employment benefits, vacation benefits, medical bills, and other special and general damages 

12 ccording to proof but in excess of the jurisdictional threshold of this court; 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

For consequential damages; 

For mental and emotional distress damages; 

C. 

D. 

E. For punitive and exemplary damages in an amount sufficient to punish and deter 

e individual defendants' outrageous conduct; 

F. 

G. 

For an award of interest, including prejudgment interest, at the legal rate; 

For reasonable attorneys' fees pursuant to Code of Civil Procedure section 

1021.5 and all other applicable statutes; 

H. For costs of suit incurred herein; and, 

II 

II 

II 

II 

II 

II 

II 

II 
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I. For such other and further relief as the court deems just and proper. 

4 DATE: February 8, 2021 GWILLIAM IV ARY CHIOSSO CAVALLI & BREWER 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

13 

14 

15 

16 
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21 

22 
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24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

J. Gary Gwilli 
Randall E. S auss 
Attorneys for Plaintiffs 
SLATER MATZKE, ET AL. 

DEMAND FOR TRIAL BY JURY 

Plaintiffs hereby demand a trial by jury 

--

DA TE: February 8, 2021 Gw!LLJAM ~cmosso CAVALLI & BREWER 

~· 
J.Gary ~ 
Randall E. Strauss 
Attorneys for Plaintiffs 
SLATER MATZKE, ET AL. 

OMPLAINT FOR DAMAGES AND 26 CASENO. 
BMAND FOR TRIAL BY 1URY 
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CUIIIFOR IWWIEIA&WNIT 
THI Cffl'GFM.Lli.lD. QUQIN~ 
(IOVI'. COD! 1110. 1111.2 HIM 

TO= CITY CLERK 
CfTY OF YALLl!JO. CITY HALL 
111 IMITA CLAIA ITRIIT, MD FL0011 
V.AU.EJ01 CA 1411D 

RECEIVED 
OCT 'I. f 2020 

Vallejo City Clerk 
Dllla I rm. Pned wllh City Cllfk ICllr UN Onr,J 

CLAIMANT' HEREBY PRmll!NTI 1HE FOLLOWING CLAIM FOR DAM.ACID: 

1. Cmlmanr& Nom[!! Sl11tCI M;\ttF.e ..,_;::.;~.a..;.;_=::..:..:....-----------------------

Clalmant'I Talephor. No. ( 916 ) ... 48~8--5=3=88----____ Date of Birth Tanpgy 28. 1,ZB 
4. Do' ct lni:Jdont / Ar::;idcrif Arrnst_A.,_p.ril_?._.3 ... 

1 
_,.0_2;_0 _________________ _ 

5. De~ or U14Uries, dnrrwg:n;, or loffl!S we:e uhu:0verot1:_A...:::p'-rll_2_:._1_.0l_0 ____________ _ 

6. L:ot:stlon of Jricfacn1 Ac:Jchlr.U J\!rn?rt: Vallejo CHyn&JI, 555 S:mtil CtarnSt~tjo CA-=--=-94-=5=9=0 __ _ 

7. Wtmt did City oremp1oY81(1) do i> caUII Iii lo-. damage, or Injury? 

~ at.adlmmt A. 

8. What819 lhe rwna(1) af tht ~ 1mplo)w(1) wha muled thla lnJury, dli,18Q&, or Ian (If lenCMn)? 

G::t::g N)·hoff. R■ndy Rl"ncr, :md Anne Ca.rdwcll 

a. What1P9Gfflo lrpt19, damagea, or IIDINI cld Claimant Mlltaln? 

kc A!Usbrnmt As 

10. Wtlat IIIIDUnt af 11_1GMY 18 C■lmant INklng, ar the ■ppn>pdafll aourt at' Jurladlallon , .. nMHIIB)? 

.1!l c!«llJ of$J,667,SOQ,QQ hcforc ullrrncy';:> fec1 a.nd ,ontp, 

11. Hcmw.:11 tnlo "'lll'Mlt cnlo::lnt!ld? { r op;>8C$1ic P.lClllle lteml~,) _______ ~------

5;! .1\ttncl1m£J1lA. 

','!,)Llf rJn m O'!' tl1g run~unt c.e!m,:d:_ Sec Allacbmc:nt B""=-------------

P..\GE i Of. l 
(CONT"f-llJEO c•~ Ri:VtJUiE) 



I 

13, Any addllanll lnformatron that )'OU blleve mfght be helpful In conaldlrlng 1h11 clalm: 

See demand letter aent to .n City Council Memhen w May 1s, 2020. pd audlo-recordcd mtemewa 
flfClatmanl 

14. All nollca and mmmunlcllllan■ with reg■nt tD thl■ aim Iha.at bl dnalad to (only lo be aampleled If clfl'lrent than 
Clllmlftt'I addrul and phone number at Quelllon■ 2 and 3 ■bow~ 

GdllllD hlZJ C2liaAo C&ftlb lrlfflllll' 
Name: L GarJr A•HHm •BmdeQ & SklJPI Rellllonlhlp •ttome.n for Q•1mmt 

AddlllBS 1ggg HmJ@Jn, Street,. SnJte !CiQO Clly 9ti'■n4 Zip Coda,..-:946-.1._2 __ _ 

15 . 

eo,llmo Tollphono No: ( 510 I fR:5411 ~ : 

DATE: __ \0 __ {°£_a_/~ ___ SIGNAT\JRE._: ---,;~7'l"i~~l!:-c:=;;;;==:::::=r-------

.. addlllDnal lpaclt la l'INdtld la pravlde IWqUNtad lnl'ormatlan, plllN ■tt■ch lhlltl ldenll'ylng paragraph(•) being 
anwenKI. 

lffffMr 111 ltlml My a,d ID ltl8 belt rll )'DUl'lcnoWlldga Ind lnt'ormllllan. Falure ID do IC ffl■y191Ult In yourclllm bllng found 
lnlllfflcllnt. If yau hive 1nyquelllon1 canDll'lllng camplltlan Dfthll farm, pl-■ aonlllcl the Risk Mlffllllment Dlvlllon at 
707-848-8808. Lagal ldvloli ooncemlng your al■lm lhould be obtained fram ~ own llwy8r. 

---- --- - -·------

To 811111: )4DU In .,..r1ng QuNtlan 10 lbcMl, ttl8 lllw requllel ht clllm to ■how the amaunt alllmed If It tD1IIII IIN 1t1en ten 
thOUllffld dolllnl (110,000) • of the dal9 of pra■nlltlon d lhl cl■lm. lnolullng the a■lknallld amo1111 of ■ny praapaatva 
Injury, dlmlge. or loH, lnaotllr •• It may be known ■t th1 time of the ~ d the clllm, lagelher wllh the bale of 
computation af the amount alalmed. If the amal.lrt alalmad exaaed1 a, thaunnd dolarl (110,000), no dollar amount lhall 
ba lncdudld In a. clalm. HD\¥8\W, ll 1hall lndlcala whatta Jur1■dlollon OVIII' th■ alalm wauld !Wit In municipal cxut ($25,000 
or '-l ar ■uperlar court (mare llwn $2&,000). Govt. COde §910(f). 

WARNING; PRl!RNTATlON FOR AU.OWANCE OR PAYMENT OF A PALIE OR FRAUDULENT CLAIM, WITH 
INTINTTO DEFRAUD■ A CRIMl!PUtllHAIILI Al A Pl!LONY UNDER CA1JFORN1A PINAL CODE, 8EC110N 72, 
AND INIURANCII CODI, IICTION 1171.1. 

Updltld fll21HS 
J:\CLAIBICIIIN T1mpl■-~l1lm Fonn tl.10,11,11001 



Attachment A 
Slater Matzke 

On.April 23, 2020, Slater Matzke was wrongfully terminated from the City of Vallejo 
(''City"') for: complaining about discrimination, harassment and bullying; complaining about the 
City Manager's, Greg Nyhoff, improper, unethical, corrupt and illegal conduct; and for 
partic;;ipating in investigations regarding the same. These actions are in direct violation of 
applicable provisions of the California Labor Code and the California Government Code give 
rise to potential claims for retaliation against whistleblowen, retaliation against employees 
reporting harassment and discrimination issues, and defamation. 

NYBOFF CREATES A CULTURE OF HARASSMENT. RETALIATION. AND 
DISCRIMINATION 

The Harassment and Discrimination of a Subordinate Employee by other City Employees 

One substantial motivating factor for the termination of Mr. Matzke was related to his 
reporting of, and attempts to resolve the harassment, discrimination, and bullying of an 
employee, a Black woman who worked for him. On Fcbrumy 22, 2020, upon assuming the role 
of interim supervisor for the Economic Development Division ("ED"), Mr. Matzke became 
aware of the serioUI ongoing harassment and discrimination towards his employee. In his 
supervisory role, Mr. Matzke reviewed the allegations and directly expressed his concerns to Mr. 
Nyhoff, Heather R~ the City•s HR Director, Anne Cardwell, the Assistant City Manager, and 
Randy Risner, the Interim City Attorney. However, Mr. Matzke's concerns went unanswered 
and he was dismissed. After the employee informed Mr. Matzke that HR had failed to respond 
to any of her oomplaints, Mr. Matzke spoke directly to, and emailed, Mr. Nyhoff expressing his 
concerns, and requested guidance on how to handle the situation. Mr. Nyhoff was unresponsive 
and failed to address these serious HR violations and allegations. Mr. Matzke participated in an 
investigation of the harassment allegations, but the majority of the questions related to Mr. Morat 
and his behavior, management style, and conduct. 

Mr. Nyhoff Confirms He is a Racist 

The City stresses the importance of promoting diversity among its staff members. 
However, the City's message was not furthered by Mr. Nyhoff during SLT meetings. In the fall 
of 2019, during a SLT Meeting, Mr. Nyho:ff started talking about the City's diversity training. 
He told the SLT, '"I was a big racist well into my thirties. I did not trust Mexicans or African 
Americans. I did not go into their neighborhoods becaUle I thought they would rob me. I didn't 
talk to them; I didn't associate with them. I was scared of them." Mr. Nyhoff didnot offer any 
details about how he changed, other than to say the SLT was divene. 

A few weeks after this meeting, Mr. Nyhoff mentioned these statements again in an SLT 
meeting, onc;;e more emphasizing that he was a mcist into his thirtiCS» but again never couching 
that with information on a subsequent transformation. During a SLT meeting in Sammy 2020, 
Ms. Ruiz talked about the City participating in a diversity conference and training, which would 
result in plans to update City personnel rules and ordinances. Mr. Nyhoff reminded the team- a 
very diverse group- that he had shared that he was a racist growing up, and that he •~ afraid 
of any one of color and that it was probably because he grew up in Kansas.•• 



Attachment A 
Slater Matzke 

Mr. Nyhoff's confessions of being a racist visibly made every staff member very 
uncomfortable, and demonstrate his animus against Mr. Matzke for reporting discrimination. 

Mr. NyhoffBlames and Bullies Staff for His Poor Performance Evaluation. 

On May 28, 2019, the City Council oonducted Mr. Nyhoff's performance evaluation in a 
closed session. The following day, Mr. Nyhoff called a SLT meeting to tell everyone he was 
exttem~ly disappointed that his evaluation did not go well and implied that this was his staff's 
fault. Mr. Nyhoff subsequently had nine (9) closed session performance evaluations and/or 
contract negotiations with City Council between May 2019 -April 2020, as the City Council 
never finalized his evaluation that had commenced in Ianuary 2019. Following each closed 
session, Mr. Nyhoff would routinely attack various senior staff, either verbally or in writin.& for 
what he perceived as their failures that reflected poorly on him. 

On another occasion. a Councilmember confided in Joanna Altman that they bad been 
told by City employees that Mr. Nyhoffhad been bullying other staff members. Further~ Mr. 
Nyhoffhad bullied the Councilmember; the Councilmember said that Mr. Nyhoff tried bullying 
and pressuring 1hem into signing a letter requesting the Department of Justice investigate the 
Vallejo Police Department 

Mr. Nyhoff's behavior descn'bed above constitutes violations of the City's policies, 
practices, and procedures regarding, inter alia, bullying and harassment. 

Mr. Matzke disclosed all of this in.fonnation in a recorded interview with Linda Daube, 
the investigator hired by the City Council to conduct an evaluation of Mr. Nyhoff. (See below.) 

COMPLAINTSOFGRAFI'ANDCORRtJPTION 

At the direction of City Council, and confumed to Mr. Matzke by Mr. Risner, an 
investigation of Mr. Nyho:ff was conducted so that the City Council could proceed with 
terminating Mr. Nyhoff. A Councilmembcr confirmed that the City Council had directed Mr. 
Risner to hire an attorney to conduct the investigation to ensure that the termination of Mr. 
Nyhoff complied with all legal requirements. Mr. Risner further confirmed that it was an 
investigation of Mr. Nyhoff and that ten (10) individuals had been selected by City Council for 
interviews. Prior to the interviews, Mr. Risner infonned Mr. Matzke that he could be terminated 
for refusing to participate in the interview and that he must be honest, open, and include all 
details in his answer to the questions. Mr. Matzke expressed his concems that one of the key 
issues with Mr. Nyhoff was an HR matter and that HR's involvement in the investigation was 
inappropriate and presented a conflict of interest. 

On March 31, 2020, Mr. Matzke participated in a workplace investigation regarding Mr. 
Nyhof£ Ms. Daube audio-recorded Mr. Matzke"s interview and the City bas refused to provide 
him with a copy of the audio. During the interview, Ms. Daube asked if Mr. Matzke knew of 
various alleged improper, unethical, and inappropriate actions regarding Mr. Nyhoff. Mr. 
Matzke reported that Mr. Nyhoff: failed to put the best interests of the City above his own; used 
his position to benefit developers. such as favoritism to the provision of favors to Mare Island 
developers with whom Mr. Nyhoff had developed deep personal relationships; and threatened his 
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subordinates when they questioned his decisions and conduct. Mr. Matzke was repeatedly 
advised that he .. had to tell the truth," ''would be t:P-rminated if found t.o be untruthful or 
unforthcoming," BDd ''would be terminated if they did not fully participat.e in the investigation" 
of Mr. Nyhoff. Mr. Mat.zke's only intention throughout the interview was to be honest and 
candid, and to provide tnrthfu1 information for the good of the City. 

Mr. Matzke raised concems with Ms. Daube about the validity of the March 13, 2020 
letter signed by the City's Senior Executive Directors in support of Mr. Nyhoff. It was generally 
believed that the letter had been circulated by Mr. Nyhoff, himsel~ or at his direction, and it was 
common knowledge that Mr. Nyhoff would retaliate against anyone who did not sign it. Mr. 
Matzke was never presented the letter. 

During Ms. Daube's investigation, Mr. Matzke also discussed the uneasy and hostile 
work environment created by Mr. Nyho~ and his retaliatory behavior. He also discussed Mr. 
Nyho:tl's failure to pay attention to, or read, reports, bis failure to stay updated on key issues 
even when given talking points ftom his staft and the blame that Mr. Nyhoff placed on his staff 
when these failures caused him problems. Ms. Dmlhe asked Mr. Matzke if Mr. Nyhoff ever 
brought up issues of race or gender in SLT meetings. Mr. Matzke confirmed that Mr. Nyhoff 
repeatedly admitted to being a racist during his thirties. In response to questions about Mr. 
Nyhoff and discrimination, Mr. Matzke detailed the harassment, discriminatory and bullying 
culture cultivated by Mr. Nyhoff, as well as Mr. Nyho.ff's failure to investigate HR complaints. 

Ms. Daube informed Mr. Matzke that she would be preparing a report and some 
transcripts that would be shared with Mr. Risner. 

MR. MATZKE'S TERMINATION 

The City Council concluded the investigation of Mr. Nyhoff in a closed-door session on 
April 22, 2020. The following morning, on April 23, 2020, Mr. Matzke was summarily 
terminated. Only four (4) hours later, the complainant-employee was notified that the 
investigation of Ms. Shepard-Hall's harassment was closed and that her claims were "not 
sustainable." 

~ Mr. Matzke had an excellent record of service. His only "offense" was speaking 
up against a City Manager who had allowed, encouraged, and directly participated in creating 
and sustaining a workplace environment rife with illegal discrimination.. Mr. Matzke's 
disclosures to the investigator and to the City constituted legally protected ''whistleblowing." It 
is clear that this "offense" is the direct ca.use of Mr. Matzke's wrongful termination. 

Immediately following Mr. Matzke' s termination, he began and continues to receive 
threatening emails and messages from an employee of the City. The threatening messages are 
being sent directly to an email used by Mr. Matzke to make Public Records Requests. A limited 
number of City staff have access to this infonnation. Further, a Vallejo police car was parked 
outside of Mr. Matzke's home on at least four (4) occasion& for no apparent reason other than to 
intimidate him. 

Ill 
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DEFAMATORY STATEMENTS HAVE DAMAGED MR. MATZKE 

Addmg insult to injury, the City, by its staff, Councihnembers, and Mr. Nyhoff, have 
smeared the personal and professional reputation of Mr. Matzke. The City has repeatedly 
publicly confirm.eel that Mr. Matzke's termination was not COVID-19 related and were due to a 
"personnel matter," confirming the false rumors about Mr. M.atzkc's professional. performance 
spread by Mr. Nyhoft' and his direct reports. This defamation has prevented Mr. Matzke from 
finding future employment consistent with his earning potential. 

MR. MATZKE'S DAMAGES 

The conduct by the City has remlted in significant damages to Mr. Matzke in the lost past 
and future wages, lost benefits, reputational damage, severe emotional distress, medical fees and 
costs, and attorneys' fees and costs. In fiict, Mr. Matzke was in the middle of securing a 
lucrative private contract but was eventually denied because the company stated that he was "too 
hot'' because of all of the news articles referencing his termination from the City. Mr. Matzke 
continues to suffer emotional. distress as a result of the City's ongoing defamatory statements 
about him and the damage their actions continue to inflict on his career. Precise damages will be 
proven at trial. Estimated damages as of today's date ue as follows: 

Economic loss to date: $667,500.00 

Future economic loss: $285,000 per year until Mr. Matzke is able t.o mitigate his damages 

Emotional distress in excess of $1,000,000.00 

Mr. Matzlce's wrongful termination is in direct violation of applicable provisions of the 
California Labor Code and the California Government Code, and gives rise to potential claims 
for retaliation against whistleblowers1 retaliation against employees .reporting harassment and 
discrimination issues, and defamation. 
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Linda Daube, Heather Ruiz, Christopher Bouchert Will Morat, Joanna Al~ LaTanya 
TelTOnes, Council Member Katy Meismer, Council Member Pippen Dew, Council Member 
Hakeem Brown, Nate Bergeron, Stacy Madigan, Shannon Eckmeyer, Gerald Ramiza, Erin 
Hanford, Michelle Straub, and Doris Papillon-Allen. Christopher Boucher has all relevant 
telephone numbers and contact information of the witnesses. 
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\l./.\lLEJO 
C.,limk' 

December 4, 2020 

TO: J. Gary GwUllam & Randal E. Strauu 
1898 Harrllon Street, Suite 1800 
Oakland, CA 94812 

CLAIMANT: Slater Matzke 

SUBJECT: NOTICE OF REJECTION 

NOTICE 18 HEREBY GIVEN that the clalm which you presented by tlllng it In the office 
of the City Clark en Octpbar 21, 2020 la rejected by operation of law, and the 
underalgned hereby glvel you notice to this ell'ect. 

WARNING 
Subject to certain exception•, you have only abc (8) monthl from the data thia natica 
wu depoelted In the mall to tlle a lawlult on this clalm. SN C.lifomia Government 
Code Section 945.e. 
Thia time !Imitation appliea only to cauaaa of actton arlalng under Callfomla law for 
which a clalm 18 mandatad by the Callfomla Govamm■nt Tort Claims Act. Government 
Code Netfona 800 el eeq. Other cauaee or action, lncludlng thaaa arlllng under 
federal law, may hava ahortar time llmitatlona for flllng. 

If you chooae to bring your caN to court and the court ahould detennlne that tha 
proceeding waa not brought In good faith and with reaaonable cauN, the Cly wlU aeek 
defenee caelll raaaonabty and neoe11artly Incurred by the City of Vallejo. See Code of 
Clvfl Procedure Section 1038. 

You may seek the advice of an attorney of your choice In connection with this matter. If 
you deaire to conault an attorney, you ahould do ao lmmedlately. 

Slnceraly, 
Sedgwick 

c~ 
Roae Mary Jimenez 
Adjulter Complex Commercial Claims 
(806) 288-4308 
E .. mall: roaemaryJlrner-zelaectawlck,com 

cc: City cf Vallejo 



, 
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PROOF OF SER.VICE BY MAIL 

I, the undenigned say: 

I am cow aad at all times hmein mentioned have been c,vc,r the age of 18 years,, not a party to the 
within muse or claim, and am employed by Sedjwiok. State of Califumia. ),fy Wliness addrau i1 P.O. 
Box 619079, Roaevi1le, califbmia 95661. I am mad.Uy fim,Ufar with thil apucy'a busi:aeu pramce for 
collection and yoceeamg of cmrespondenco for J1V1iJiJ11 with the United States Postal Serviae. On the 
da1I: set for1h below, I sem,c1 a copy of the attubed l8ttm' to claimant by pJaciDB the orlafnal in an 
envelope admeued to: 

J. Omy Owilliam a: Randall B. Strauss 
1999 Hmilon Strm_ Suite 1600 
Clek:Jaad. CA 94612 

h:Slata'Matzb 

which envelope WU then sealed and, with poatage :ftdly prepaid thereon and placed for collection ml 
mlfllna at my remote tv.•stneM Jomdon and following ordinary business practices. Said 
om:nspcmdmme will be depoaited with the United Statm Postal Service at Martinez. Califomia an the 
date 1et ibrth below In the ardinary coumo of b11siness; there ii a delivery imvice by mail at the 
Martinez location. 

I declare under the penalty of pa:jury UDdar 1he lawB of th.a Stam of Cali1bmia 1hat the fingoins ii tme 
and.comet. 

Executed OD this 4111 day of '.December 20201 at Martinez, CaJ.immiL 

Linda Del Vigna, 
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Cl.Ml Rll NA•NMIIIIT 
THE CITY OF YAU.&JO, IWJl'CIIM 
(GOVT. CODl!ll10. ltU 111M 

TO: CITY CLERK 

RECEIVED 
OCT 21 2020 

Vallejo City Clerk 
C1TY OF VAL!..EJO, CITY HALL 
5!!5 SANTI~ CLARA STREET, 3RD FLOOR 
VALLEJO, C Gt.590 

Daill a TIIM Fllld wtlll City Cllrfc [Cly Uu On"1 

Ct.AIMANT HEREBY PR.z:liEHTS THE FOLLOWING Cl.Al FOR DAMADEI: 

2, 

3 

Qarntant'iiAddran:~See......,,...ll.,.4._.{below........,....,.)_, _____ C.ltr, ______ _.Zl .... p Code ____ _ 

ct .. ,m .. nt'r; Te,11phooo NQ. ( __ J Sot ~ 14 (bclow), Omo of Slrth Sctitcmbcr 7, 1982 

4 D tn af lne!dMI I Ao:!dont/ ,\!Tul:_A_.p._ril_' _23__., ... 2_02_0 ________________ _ 

5. Oatn cf 11'1,'urtas. cbnm(JL!ll, et~~ dlscoV2red:_A__,p_r_U _23""'"._l0_20 ___________ _ 

e l.ocn:ian of lr.Q(!(!m I Aoo~nl I An-om: .:aikip City_ Hall 555 Santa dnrn Str~i:1. Va.llefo. CA 94390 

7, Whit did City or employaa(■) da to C8Ul8 thll lou, d111111ga, ar Injury? 

s~ Allllclmu:ruA, 

8. Whit n thl nlffll(I) tithe City's employee(•) who aaUllld tt1II Injury, damage, or IDII (If lcnawn)? 

Greg Nyhoff, .Rmdv Rllner. 411d Anne Cardwell 

a. What 1peclftc l~urtu, dmnag-. ar laalH did Cllllm1nt IUltlln? 

See Attachment A. 

10. Whit amount or money la c.imant Nelclna, ar bl 9Pp1Qprfabl caurt ar J&ndallon (IN rewrn)? 

11. Haw\~ th!! nmnUl"lt C(ljQJl!it'll11 fU ttpo!lceb1!l, ;110:'l.~'I lt!m'lt 

s~ Actoclunont A. 

?.Ii.GE 1 OF 2 
(CCNTINUF.O ON REVERSE) 



13. Any addllonll lnl'onndon 1hal you balew might be heli:,U In ocnldering thla Glllm: 

See demand letter amt to al City Council Memben dated May 15, 2020, md audio-recorded .tnfmyiffl__ 
ofClaimant 

14. All natfaal and crmmunlcalknl with regard to au clalrn llhauld be dnctad to (only to be camplltld If dlffern than 
Clalmanl'a add111111 end ohor18 number et Quealona 2 and 3 1bcM): 

OwfUimi IYll'fdtmo CmDllrlmm 
Name: ,. Gm: QmJH•m Ir B•ndel) L Stnpp Rlllltlon1hlp IUAaa. Au: CJ•Jmaot 

AddNle 1999 HIU'rllon. Street, Suite 1600 City Oalc1md Zip Code,_,946=1...,2 ____ _ 

15. 

Daytm■ Telepl\•LJ:,: ~10 )_,U2-• .... 54;-1_1 ___ ~...,..-/ /2p,---, ....... ----------

DATE: ----"----- SIGNATIJRE:,_~~1-';'-i~~---------------

If actdlllon■I IPB9 • nHded m provide n,qUNt8d Information. pleaN llttaah ehNtl ~a pngraph(a) being 
8118Mred, 

ANNtlr ■II lblm1 fully Ind to Iha bait fl yaurknawladge and lnfmmatlcn. FIIILI'■ 1D do ID may NIUft In )4(M8' clllm behgfaund 
lnll.dllalant. If you have any ~en cancemlng campl'don Df 1h11 farm, pl1111 oonllat lhe lll■k Manqament DMllon llf 
707 8488e08. Legal advlae mmmlng ynur alalm ehauld be ablelned fmm your own lawyer. 

To Mlllt you In answering Q.-tlan 1D abcMt, Iha law rwqiJraa the clllm to llhow ht amount Dll!lllmlld If It totaf1 INI thin tin 
lhou■■nd dollara (11 O,OOD) • or ht date al pnlMllfdon al the clalm, lnaludlna 1he utlrrlnd ■mount or any praapac:IIW 
Injury, damage, or me. lrwoflr a It may be knawn at lie time of the PJ'IW.lltl"'1 af Iha olll'm. toglk wHh Iha bllllll af 
uomputlltlon of the amount alalmed. If the amount cflllllmld 8XONCl1 llln thounnd ddlrs ($10,000). no dollar amaunt lhlll 
be Included In the dllm. Hawawr, It lhaR lndlaata whella Jurlldlctlan CMII" the cl■lrn would 1'811 In munlc:lpal court ($26,000 
or 18111) or IUparlar court (mare than $26,000). Govt. Code f910(f). 

WARNING; PREIENTA110N FOR AU.OWANCI! OR PAYMINT OP A PALII Oil FRAUDULENT CLAIM, Wffll 
INTl!NT TO DEFRAUD ■ A CRIMIPUNIIHAILE Al A FILONY' UNDER CALll'OIUIIA PENAL CODB. IECTTON Tl, 
AND INIURANCECODI!, l!CTION 1871.1. 

Updlllall 11111111 
J:U:LAl■IICllllnl T111111IIIN\Cl1I■ Fann 10JD,ILIIIIDX 



Attachment A 
Joanna Altman 

On April 23, 2020, Joanna Altman was wrongfully terminated from the City of Vallejo 
("Cityj for: complaining about discrimination, harassment and bullying; complaining about the 
City Manager's, Greg Nyhoff, improper, unethical, corrupt and illegal conduct; and for 
participating in investigations regarding the same. These actions are in direct violation of 
applicable provisions of the California Labor Code and the California Government Code, and 
give rise to potential claims for retaliation against whistleblowers, retaliation against employees 
reporting harassment and discrimination issues, and defamation. 

NYHOFF CREATES A CULTURE OF HARASSMENT, RETALIATION, AND 
DISCRIMINATION 

The Harassment and Discrimination of a Subordinate Employee by other City Employees 

One substantial motivating factor for the termination of Ms. Altman was related to her 
reporting of, and attempts to resolve the harassment, discrimination, and bullying of an employee 
by staff, particularly by Judy Shepard-Hall, the City's Housing Director. 

In early Fall 2019, Ms. Altman sat on an interview panel convened. to select two (2) 
positions within the Economic Development Division C'IID"), which was managed by Will 
Morat. After the interview panel, Mr. Morat and Ms. Altman selected candidates to offer 
employment. Following appointment, Mr. Morat informed Ms. Altman that one of his 
subordinates was being discriminated against, harassed, and bullied. 

On or around Februmy 18, 2020, Mr. Morat spoke to Ms. Altman about a concerning 
incident that had just taken place involving the employee and Ms. Shepard-Hall. During the 
course of their discussion, Slater Matzke arrived and became apprised of the situation. Ms. 
Altman and Mr. Matzke advised and encouraged Mr. Morat to ac:company the employee to HR 
to file a complaint about the incident. Instead of immediately investigating the situation, Mr. 
Morat was retaliated against and placed on administrative leave on or about the day following 
the incident 

On or around March 4, 2020, Ms. Altman participated in a wmkplace investigation 
regarding Ms. Shepard-Hall, conducted by Doris Papilion-Allen. However, several of the 
questions from the investigator related to Mr. Morat and his behavior, management style, and 
conduct. Further, she was advised that, if she was not honest, she could be terminated and was 

required to attest to this requirement by signing a form provided to her by the investigator. 

Mr. Nyhoff Confirms He is a Racist 

The City stresses the importance of promoting diversity among its staff members. 
However, the City's message was not furthered by Mr. Nyhoff during Senior Leadership Team 
C-'SLT") meetings. In the late fall or early winter of 2019, during a SLT Meeting, Mr. Nyhoff 
started tallcing about the City's diversity training. He told the SLT, "I was a big racist well into 
my thirties. I did not trust Mexicans or African Americans. I did not go into their neighborhoods 
because I thought they would rob me. I didn't talk to them; I didn't associate with them. I was 
scared of them." Mr. Nyhoff did not offer any details about how he changed, other than to say 
the SLT was diverse. 
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A short time later, in January 2020, Mr. Nyhoff mentioned these statements again in an 
SLT meeting when Heather Ruiz ta1ked about the City participating in a diversity conference and 
training, which would result in plans to update City personnel rules and ordinances. Mr. Nyhoff 
reminded the team - a very diverse group - that he had shared that he was a racist growing up, 
and ~ he ''was afraid of any one of color and that it was probably because he grew up in 
Kansas." 

Mr. Nyho:ff's confessions of being a racist visibly made every staff member very 
uncomfortable and demonstrated his animus against Ms. Altman for reporting discrimination. 

Mr. Nyhoff Blames and Bullies Staff for His Poor Performance Evaluation. 

On May 28, 2019, the City Council conducted Mr. Nyho:ff's performance evaluation in a 
closed session. The following day, Mr. Nyhoff called an emergency SLT meeting to tell 
everyone he was extremely disappointed that his evaluation did not go well and implied that this 
was his staff's fault Mr. Nyhoff subsequently had nine (9) closed session performance 
evaluations and/or contract negotiations with City Council between May 2019- April 2020, as 
City Council never finalized his annual evaluation following his firat year in the position in 
Ianuary 2019. Following each closed session, Mr. Nyhoffwould routinely attack various senior 
staff, either verbally or in writing, for what he perceived as their failures that reflected poorly on 
him. 

On another occasion, a Council.member confided in Ms. Altman that they had been told 
by City employees that Mr. Nyhoffhad been bullying staff members. Further, the 
Councilmember disclosed to Ms. Al1man that they too had been bullied by Mr. Nyhoff on 
multiple occassions. The Councilmember furthered this stat.ement by exp]ai:njng to Ms. Altman 
that the bullying and pressuring occurred in front of Mayor Bob Sampayan regarding the support 
and signing of a letter requesting the Department of Justice investigate the Vallejo Police 
Department. 

Mr. Nyhoff's behavior descn'bed above constitutes violations of the City's policies, 
practices, and procedures regarding, inter alia, bullying and harassment. 

COMPLAINTS OF GRAFr AND CORRUPTION 

At the direction of City Council, and confirmed to Mr. Matzke by Mr. Risner, an 
investigation of Mr. Nyhoff was conducted so that the City Council could proceed with 
terminating Mr. Nyhoff. A Councilmember confirmed with Ms. Altman that the City Council 
had d:irected Mr. Risner to hire an attorney to conduct the investigation to emiure that the 
termination of Mr. Nyho:fI complied with all legal requirements. The Councilmembcr affirmed 
that six (6) of the seven (7) members of the City Council desired to terminate Mr. Nyhoff. Mr. 
Rimer further confirmed that it was an investigation of Mr. Nyhoff and that ten (10) individuals 
had been selected by City Council for interviews. Prior to the interviews, Mr. Risner had 
informed Mr. Matzke that he could be tel'minated for refusing to participate in the interview and 
that he must be honest, open, and include all details in his answer to the questions. Mr. Matzke 
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expressed bis concerns that one of the key issues with Mr. Nyhoff was an HR matter and that 
HR's involvement in the investigation was inappropriate and presented a conflict of interest 

On March 31, 2020, Ms. Altman participated in this workplace investigation regarding 
Mr. Nyhoff. Ms. Daube audio-recorded Ms. Altman 1s interview. At the start of their interview, 
Ms. Altman told Ms. Daube that she had strong concerns about retaliation, feared losing her job, 
and pleaded for anonymity. Ms. Daube asked Ms. Altman to commit to telling the truth, and 
insinuated that Ms. Altman would be tenninated if she did not tell the truth during her interview. 
Ms. Altman's only intention throughout the interview was to be honest and candid, and to 
provide truthful information for the good of the City. 

During the interview, Ms. Daube asked if Ms. Altman knew of various alleged improper, 
unethical, and inappropriate actiona regarding Mr. Nyhoff. Ms. Altman reported that Mr. 
Nyhoff: failed to put the best interests of the City above his own; used bis position to benefit 
developers, m:h as the provision of favors to Mare Island developers with whom Mr. Nyhoff 
had developed deep personal relationships; and threatened his subordinates when they 
questioned his decisions and conduct. 

Ms. Altman raised concerns with Ms. Daube about the validity of the March 13, 2020 
letter signed by the City's Senior Executive Directors in support of Mr. Nyhoff. It was generally 
believed that the letter had been circulated by Mr. Nybo~ himse~ or at his direction, and it was 
common knowledge that Mr. Nyhoff would retaliate against anyone who did not sign it Ms. 
Altman was never presented the letter. 

During Ms. Daube's investigation. Ms. Altman also discussed the uneasy and hostile 
work environment created by Mr. Nyhoff, and his retaliatory behavior. Ms. Altman also 
discussed Mr. Nyhoff's failure to pay attention to, or read, reports or e-mails, his failure to stay 
updated on key issues even when given talking points from his smff: and the blame that Mr. 
Nyhoff placed on his staff when these failures caused him problems. Ms. Daube asked Ms. 
Altman if Mr. Nyhoff ever brought up issues of race or gender in SLT meetings. Ms. Altman 
confirmed that Mr. Nyhoff repeatedly admitted to being a racist during his thirties. Ms. Daube 
asked Ms. Altman questions about Mr. Morat and about the investigation of Ms. Shepard-Hall. 
In response to questions about Mr. Nyhoff and discrimination, Ms. Altman detailed the 
harassment, discriminatory and bullying culture cultivated by Mr. Nyhoff, as well as Mr. 
Nyhoff's failure to investigate HR complaints. 

Ms. Daube informed Ms. Altman that she would be preparing a report and some 
transcripts that would be shared with Mr. Risner. 

MS. ALTMAN'S TERMINATION 

The City Council concluded the investigation of Mr. Nyhoff in a closed-door session on 
April 22, 2020. The following morning, on April 23, 2020, Ms. Altman was summarily 
terminated. Only four ( 4) hours later, the complainant-employee was notified that the 
investigation of Ms. Shepard-Hall's harassment was closed and that her claims were "not 
sustainable." 
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Again, Ms. Al1man had an excellent record of service. Her only "offense" was speaking 
up against a City Manager who had allowed, encouraged, and directly participated in creating 
and sustaining a worlq,lace environment rife with illegal discrimination. Ms. Altman's 
disclosures to the investigators and to the City constituted legally protected "whistleblowing. 11 It 
is clear that this "offense" is the direct cause of Ms. Altma:n's wrongful termination. 

DEFAMATORY STATEMENTS BA VE DAMAGED MS. ALTMAN 

Adding inmlt to injury, the City, by its sta~ Councilmem.bers, and Mr. Nyhoff or his 
designee, have smeared the peraonal and professional reputation of Ms. Altman. The City bu 
repeatedly publicly confirmed that Ms. Altman• s termination was not COVID-19 related and was 
due to a ''personnel matter," conforming the false rumors about Ms. Altman's professional 
performance spread by Mr. Nyhoff and his direct reports. This defamation prevented Ms. 
Altman from finding future employment consistent with her earning potential. 

MS. ALTMAN'S DAMAGES 

The conduct by the City has resulted in significant damages to Ms. Altman in the lost 
past and future wages, lost benefits, reputational damage, severe emotional distress, medical fees 
and costs, and attorneys' fees and costs. Ms. Altman continues to suffer emotional distress as 11 

result of the City's ongoing defamatory statements about her. 

Precise damages will be proven at trial. Estimated damages as of today's date, before 
attorney's fees and costs, are as follows; 

Economic loss to date: $73,340.22 

Future economic loss: $69,551.56 per year ( ongoing plus compounded CaJPER.S 
benefits) 

Emotional distress in excess of$1,000,000.00 

Ms. Altman's wrongful termination is in direct violation of applicable provisions of the 
California Labor Code and the California Government Code, and gives rise to potential claims 
for retaliation against wbistl.eblowers, retaliation against employees reporting harassment and 
discrimination issues, and defamation. 
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Linda Dau.be, Heather R~ Christopher Boucher. wm Morat, Slater Matzke, LaTanya 
Terrones, Mayor Bob Sampayan, Council Member Pippen Dew, Council Member Hakeem 
Brown, Council Member Katy Meissner, Nate Bergeron, Stacy Madigan, Shannon Eckmeyer, 
Gerald Rarniz.a, Erin Hanford, Michelle Straub, and Doris Papi]lon~Allen. Christopher Boucher 
has all relevant telephone numbers and contact mfonnation of the witnesses. 
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VALLEJO 
Qlromn 

December 4, 2020 

TO: J. Gary Gwilliam & Randall E. Strauaa 
1889 Hanllon StrNt, Sulla 1800 
Oakland, CA 84812 

CLAIMANT: Joanna Altman 

SUBJECT: NQTICI!! Qf ftl,JEC]JON 

NOTICE IS HEREBY GIVEN that the clalm whloh you preeenl8d by filing ii In the ofllce 
of the City Clerk on Octpbar zi, 2020 la rejected by operation of law, and the 
underalgned hel'llby gives you notice to thil efl'act. 

WARNING 
Subject to certain excapttona, you have only six (8) months fram the date thil notice 
wat depoellad In the mail to file • lllwluit on 1h11 clalm. Saa Callfomla Govemment 
Code Section 846.8. 

n,19 time tlmltatlon appll• only to cau- of action arising under Callfomi■ law far 
which a clan ii mandated by the C&llfomla Govemment Tort Claime Act. Government 
Code eectlona 900 et. aeq. Other cau ... of action, Including thoae arlelng under 
federal law, may have ahortar time llrnltationa for flllng. 

If you chooee to bring your caN to court and the court ■hould dalllrmlne that the 
proceeding w not braught in good faith and with raaaonable cauae, the City will -k 
defen■e coata rea■onably and neaea■arlly Incurred by the City of Vallejo. See Code of 
Clvll Procedure Section 1038. 

You may 188k the advice of an atlDmey of your choice In oonneotlon with thla matter. If 
you dNlre to consult an atlDmey, you should do 10 lmmadlataly. 

Slncaraly, 
Sedgwick 

Roee Mary Jimenez 
Adjuafllr Complex Commerclal Claim■ 
(806) 288-4306 
E-mall: rmamary.JlmenezClledgwlck.com 

cc: City of Vallejo 



PROOF OF SERVICE BY MAIL 

I, tho undmBiped say: 

r 

I am now md at all times herein mentioned have been over tm age of 18 :,em. mt a party to the 
witbfn Clllle or claim, 111d am employed by Sedpick, State of Caljfbmia My businms addms la P.O. 
Box 619079, Roseville, Calffimria 95661, I am ieadily fimriHar with thia IPDC)''s bwrineu practice for 
collecdon ml p!'OCftlsmg of correapondence 1br mailing with the United 81Btes Postal Service. On 1he 
date set fo:rth below, I served a copy of tho attached letter to cl,rimant by placing the original in an 
envelope addralled to: 

J. Gary Owilliam. &: ~.,, 'B. Smmu 
1999 Hmi1on Stieet, Sui• 1600 
Oakland, CA 94612 

Re: Joanna Altman 

which envelope WIS then. aealed. and, with postap fw1y prepaid tbmeon and placed for collection and 
mailing at my remote bu&im,a locadcm and following cxdinmy buainea practiges. Said 
com,spondo.nce will be dcpoaited with the Uniuld States Postal Service at Martha. California an the 
dido Bet :tbrth below in the ordinary course of lmsineu; 1bcre is a delivery aerv:lce by mail at the 
Martinm: location. 

I declare undar the pmllty of pajmy under the lawa of the State of Califamia that the foregoing is true 
mlccmect. 

Executm on tbi1 ,ffl day afDeeeaber J020, at Martina. Cali1bmia. 

Linda Del Vigna, 



EXHIBIT 5 



CU/JI~ twl.AfZI MM(JT 
ffll QTY 011 ll'AUIJO, l:,IU"QIIMA 
f'!l'JVT, CIXI! IJ1'-1W 4 tit A 

CiJi) ,.~~ 
v~ (.tScr,lp 

10: CITY CLIIIIC 
CITYOl'~N I IN\ -=n'Y HM.&. 
•UNTA Cl.MA ITMD, IRD Fl.DOR 
VAIL&N\CA .... 

RECEIVED 
AUG 19 211211 

Ylllejo City Cerk 
0m. Timi Flltd~ St; d\.iiii [Cly U..01'1?, 

CI..AatAHr HERBY ,Rl3l!IEJffll TH& FOUDWINO Cl.AIM f0FI ~ 
1. Cllmlrll'l ____ .. _._._t __________________ _ 
2. Clllmlnl'I Addi.- :aeoo Amean RIM' DIM, au .. a, aa..a.llHID, CA Zip Cada ...,. 

~,.. •• No.<....!!..> 4IHI■ c..r1111t11._aem __ m ____ _ 
4. a.ottnalllanl/ Aaaldlll'I / Anut: Ft1111111111, ZD20 

, ___ .;..,_ ______________ _ 
I. Dlad"1111N,~otlollll_.dllmllllld:_,;.,;Nlrullf=..;a..,1,_,1..,.,2GIO=---------

t. LOCllllonrllncldall/Aldfwll/Anas '!!!!!Cl!rHil.&&iBlnlltc:r..lflllt.Vahjlt,CA1411D 

7. v.ac111ca,or11;:ifll0rtl(I) dDID GIIINllllfall, dlmlgt, or 1nJwr? 
SMAll~A. 

I. Wlllt n h rllilll9(a) d .. a.,'s .. _,,_, wha a&IIDlllhll I., ........ ar • (f known)? 

ClrlgN'tfd,...,., ............ ArNcardllll. 

•• Wl.e....,,..._, ~ ari...dld ClllrnaJt1111!al? 
S. ,l\ftaCl\rnllnl II. 

10. Whit lfflCIUdt fl nnnr II a-.it ..-ii,g, •1111 IJlllfllPl'WI court of Jurflclalon CW ... ,., 

In t=en a1 $.400,000 ~ irt11,,,.,r1 A!!!I, 

11. Haw-lll'llfflDLlnl.,..illlld?(I.,..,_, ........ ) IIMU1'111Fiilil11111•111Md4J:i9i...-------

12. NIIMI, ..._NI, INlllllliplloMNllllbnrtWltl IH ......... •• WiftWPlf'IGnwlloallllubltlrillifa 

,oll'cluft or._ umauntdlfn■d: IJndJ P.M tMmB&AMl&W«IPNIN[, Yft Mn, MlliMDlre 
aw Mllllli, La'hnya~ COUnal ...... rPlppan Daw, Coundl IIIIIINHllcaiimliawn, Na ........ 

IIW,cy Mldlgln, .. IIIGII l!llllrn.,.., a..1111 Rama, Edn Hul:lnl, lilllll Darll ~ C:L/11 pl'llflauala' ha 
d ~tlllpllal• ....._ Pia 1011 

ICQNIIUDGN~ 



11. Arly al!W..lanll lnfc:ffmll.lcn tl)ftl )OJ bt!IOIM m19t:1 Mr,~ In CDCilld4!flng ll'lf11 dt11lrn: PIia.i .. daiml'id ~ 
~~ I:, oll Ci!)' Ccund Mtrre!J~ d1!:ed Mey l5, 2!JZO. ct/ Cciund! 1ho\lc! abo ...,,_ lapt w1.idb l'IICXlrdtld 

llllflllnallllcih•ID!iiwt.....Cll llllah 11, 21111G, 
14. ,.,___,._,.,....._.., NllldlCIMClliA'l'ltll&Udllt&tlll:MdtD(ad1•t.amiipl I J lclllnnl1-

CWl,¥1r■ ---and--lUl'lblrlltGulllonl2lftCl~abcwe): 

Nims Btlllll Ll:1m CMlall ll•lllhalllhrp Clltnlnr'IM:lmay 

Mfr-= _,Merlar!RMrDIM,IUli20l,liie1■11it11D,CA Q,CDCl9 INN 

~'flllll'u,w ND: ( 111), __ 4_11_1311 _____________ _ 

11. Dif.11: Al.-11, 2020 

rr addllaull .,_. It n8ldld ID pnMdt rlqWilld h1fomaA.1, plnll llllall lhalll 11111.,._ ......, 11eq .,....,, 

Toa111t~1n-11rtngo..t1ant0lllcrtl8,1Mllw.__a.•m•...,_ .. ,,...,. • .,_,111111111M1111&n11n 
thaulall dDDlrl (110.000) a rltt.- Df =•Wai af III c111m. Incl: llllhtnd m1111.11tf/l ■n, P"DIPlct. 
lrfury. --..,arra.,li'llal'■r•IIIIWlbl •1t111t111rl .. 1NW111 da.al■ffl,..- .......... d 
CDIIIPIMCII rllhl amclllltallhlll. If lb ll'l'IIUlt claimld lllDlldll 1111 ..._.. dol■rl (11UOO,. na di:11111' amaunt _. 
119 lnaludld In lie ..... tlllwlr.w, I 1bll lndlailllt .... jUIIIMlallan DWI' lllalllm WIIUtd Nil In ffl~ aaurt (lal,aao 
orlta) or...iorcourt (IIIOM lh■n 121.'IIDO). GaivL Ccldl 11100,. 

Plge2af2 
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Malll9UtOlfa 
A.art « t 
Alllllltlt.2020 

( 

Mr. Nyhoff'1 adialt.s 111llm It Senior Lllllenlilp 111111 ("SLT") ....._ 
Mr. N)'hoff'1 t.llwe m promptly adcbea muldpi. HR. mnplalntl of -.rand 
phyllCII halWlllltotaol ..... by ■ fimlllremployao In W...2019; ad 
Mr. N)'boft"1 bllmJna ad ballyfna of bll dkNt llparll fbr 1111 an pDC11' 
pedbmw ....tuldon by Cit, eo..11 hapmfq in May 201, a COllfnwna: 
thraaala April 2020-llullyfnalblt Mr. NyhmfperJilllli-.d lplnat ■t leutom at,, 
Coanclbnlmber. 

• '1118 repordq ot baiJIOJM ud amhbl ■adonl by Mr. Nybo~ lnollldt• ad and 
camaplioa. lg the lrmlldpa,r, lncwdfna: 

Mr. Nyholra uadlacload fflNdql wilhpotmd■I dneloper lnYll&OII fa r ... HII I 
in Fall 201 P and °"' Chrlllmll Blllk In DM-n..,. 201"11nuary 2020; 
Allllllpll bJ Mr. Nyhoft'tD add ...... l'oln DOlllnlDt litptl■dCIIII IMt wau(d 
ffllD lhe aDld.MI IIIOIII fmnble ID clnelapeni 
Mr. Nyltoff'1 ~ bi Jlllulay 2020 1D __. CCllllilllUIUCI bchnm a 
""'1oper ad the ••llliatlna team In order ID IIIIUl9 dlv9lopa.eat ..,__. 
'Mll'I man ftworabJe &Ir die deYeloplr; 
Mr. Nyhotl'1 wlllfbl ..,._. of aonfldllltlal lnftima■don llllklna to a praJcct 
oppo...- thl& WU ........ lltfaldan, ml aupadud ■aliiGpll ID llnlllli■ll dtt 
Cil)''1 connctualap..ww11t Mita adwelapcrto mGW dlepndlot l'orwanf;allll 
Mr. Nyboft"1 Nlnadon ara pabllc and clDc:unlMat.ed pamlH tlD oonallMI l50.000 
In Cky ftlndq m •111111-prUfit aapil■l pzoJectonQty-owned 111111 ... c11;, 11d 
wr.. idlli1ipdna to Include pmvallfna wap II llplly niqulml by Callfttmla law. 

• Thi llrlninldan. wl1llaat cm-. ofM1. Allman, Mr. Mmb, llld Mr. Marat GIi April 23, 
2020,lhDmorninldlr1hlhMldpllanlaloMr.Nyhoff'M1CCIIICladldln■DJaal-lo11 
orClc, Couno11, rn dbal Nlall■don &,r rapartlq dlell l¥llltl; 

.. Dt6ml111N1 lfllllmllltl .... by Mr. N~ VIIIIJa a&y Couaofl, ad City llllf'fdll:klna 
the c:IIIW. ,ro&uloaal npulltlon. 111d ap:a:lea• ot'MI, Alanm, Mr. Mmlm. and Mr, 
Mena dllt IJIIII• In publlllled modll. public C1a, CcmDIJ ...... 111d Indirect 
CXlllllfflllicl with lbe publla. 

TIie wall&plaoe fllrflu .. ...w ....... by Mr, Nyholl' clurlna bla 27-molllb &IIU9 It the Ck)' 
allowl 111d....... bldlim&nt. dlllllffllnadall. 111d nnllatfon at Iliff. Dudas my clilab' 
tauro at the Cily, II-, aoaclliGlld lhlmlllwa In a manm _..._ wllb 1111111111 Fedanl laws 
lild 1111 City'■ AdmiYdll:udive blel by NpOldna laruanlllt and. m:111 dllCllmlaatloa to HR. and 
Mr. Nybaff. '11111 City l'IMlnllld dlelrprotladoa ot'a h■nlad~ by tint placlna Ml-. Mani 
cm ldmtnllndve i.w ror.cpmd• llllllwftll ...... or1111111banlln■lie by a,-. Llllr, lftlr­
Mr. M■tzlm compJalllld dlnictly ID Mr.~ Mr. Rilacr. nl the DlnclDrotHumaa llllouna 
lboul die --■e ~ 1111d dll' ML Allman, Mr. M--. 1111 Mr. Marat were dlrallldl 'ID 
pmtllllpas fn two lnvudpdom with dnlt oftlfflllllldo.a tbr nan-putlq,ltkm-one ilmldpltG11 
ilno the larallmeatalleaMJonl lpialt a City mamtp:111nt cmployle. 111d IIIDtla invadpllai 

.... 2atll 
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( 

d~ tbll 1111 l\'llumfon did not 1C1 well and lmpHed It w his lllff'1 faulL Mr. NybDff' 
lllbleqaemlyhld nlna(9) ckllldlallanpatbrmacl 1¥1fuadcllll orrmtnct ...,...tkffilby a,, 
CCIIIIIOII betWlall May 2019 md April 2020. 11 Ck)' CGuncfl never flftllllld hi■ 1¥11aadon that 
lnldally sllmd In ...,.1019. Fallowing IMh olDlfld lllllan ewallllilon, Mr. Nyhofrwauld 
iaudlllly 1111111k Yllliaas mdar-111ft llllbwvnlly or la wrhlDa. forwllll be-penefwd a du 
fallura lhd Rflocud poorty an Mm. rn one lmtanae. Mr. Nybotrblllllld Mr. Mala& &,r 16ilme 
otdJI ffll Plwtntlon Dlvlllan (aoc even maotlly Mr, Mmlt'1 nllpOllllblllty) wtth ....,.S to 
cnao•na lnapa:tkN■. 

OIi IIIOlber'OCOlllon, a Councllmember canftcled la Ms. Ahmln tlm City mq,lay'NI hid nipmlld 
to 11111 Coandlmmnber lbl Mr. Nyhoff' hid blm bullyq Glbll-arafl' n.nbln. a that till 
Councllmanhlr lllo .... lllbjedllCI dlrlcllly IO llullylq bnmdlnlcdy ft'Oln Mr. N,taolt na 
Colallimnber Mid lhat Mr. Nyhofl' 1l'lcd buJlylrw 11111 JIIIIIUrfna hbalhlt ID lfp a leas 
-a-dqtllDDlplrtmmtofJultlce lmeltlplll1heVlllljDPolloeDlplrtlnmlt. 

Tbllle .... WIii all llhlnd by my clllrds. In IIOOldld in11rY1n1. whb ML D11111e. the 
IIMltfplor 1111a W11 ~ M IVlhllldan of'Mr. NyhDff' It tb. dlnic:dun afat, Coalllll, 11111 
Mle -.liatlll aplnlt by Mr. Nyhoft' ..._ dmy wm, lllllllmrily tmnlnlllld on April 23, 2G20 
lbl momq .,_. lhl ln'V111t51Uian wa firallllllll la llolad-lon wllb City COIIIIOll. 

COMPLAJNTI Of GIWJ MP WIUUJPftOII 
On Maroh :u, 2020 Mr. MDllt participlllld In a ~ lnvlltfptklll 9'pnllna Mt. Nybnfr. 
Dmlqlhll lnYlldpllon. hew 1Dlll Ille lnvlldpdoa WIii about Mr. NyJmff'ad hid t.nmdlred 
bJ Cll)' eo.cil. Linda Daube, lht ......_.., audio IIIOldlld Mr. Mont'1 lnteniew 111d 1hl 
Cky his flftlNd ID flM'ldl him~ a copy oftbe lldo, 1hil audio recmdf111 II I doclmat dllt 
wtll Ila hclpftll ra Mr. Morat 111d dm wHI be aJilllnld by IUbpollla onae lillaldOn eGIDIIICIIIIICI, 
Ml, Dlulle -, dim:dy __, If Mr. Mam knew af Yarku llllpd lmpaper, llllllblOIL 111d 
bwpproprlate ICtlam n,pnlq Mr, Nyhofl Mr, Mini .....-1 howly, ■nd-■ OCllalllld, 
llddlnld. lllllctur, bound to nipart ..,_ IIIIIWII otlr.■pp: ........ bellavlartluebellft wllb 
lllnlple f'mwililm and aucenda lntD pnwldlna men fffllnltle Mlfll' fir.ad dlnlapn with 
wham Mr. N,hoff' bid develop■d .., perlDIIII re.lltlcnhlpl. Dmlaa 11m inwatipdon 
lntervfGM, wblch W11 naordld by ML Dauba, Mr. Morat WIii ...,...t IMMICd dllllt be ''llt,d to 
,.U "- lnlll" Mtr10llltJ h ,_,,,,,.,,_, 1//ollnd to N ~ or -,Is__,,,,.,. ''wrRlld lM 
.,,,,,,,,,,,_ fl 11,q tlJtl nt1' fa/ly,,,,,,,..,. llt ,,_ ,,,,_,,.,,_... Df Mr. N,tmft Mr. Maril'■ 
mallvdton fbr hl1 --• WII ftlr Ille (IGGd Df lb ~. ud ID lie haw! mtd candid a i9 
COlldlllat wllh bl■ ubm. Mr. Mmlt mpollld dlll:Mr. Nyhatf Uecl ID put dw belc lallnllll or 
lheCIIJlbove hilown. Mr. Mantr9pOrllldthltMr. Nyhotl'UNdbllpOlltlontobenlfltdevllapn, 
Mr. NJhot!'dnacned hu 1111'Dnlalllelwhea thly qlllltloned hllclooiliant lftd canduat. 

1'111 tbllowlqan .... munplllarMr. Nyhnff'1 lmpmper. Ullllddcal., ad corrupt Mid-. wldcb 
Mr. Mam mtne1111d ar WQ ftllde awan= of and whleh hi w daly bound 1D IIDIMf to ML Dluba. 

Pllt4 afll 
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City 111Fdatfal 1nm, Mr. Nyboft'balled die CZO IDII COO of Soudan Lad Cmnpay • hll 
bouN. but 111¥8' lnf.omled hil 11d rJt rho vi& At. dlll dmt, Sauthcm Llllcl Campany wa1 ltilJ 
U11DKM11 In Vallejo. t11PCClllly ID lht public ad lbl CQ' wu (and tdll 11) In ■cdve nqad■tlom 
wkh 111tN1m11zGmupb-dnelopmenrdllD ro Mare lll■ad. 

In J--,.2020, Mr, Nyboft"Jnllnned Mr. Mom llllt lhl two by pn\ja:t1111111&er1 forthe Nlmbz 
0roaap wm: lllanlallld, an6 Sc,atJaem Lind Compmy WII anlq In. Mr, Nyllotr &lied ID 
llflblllb lollhn l.llld Cumpuy•1 rule. but ft w clslhlt lbay ~ rannlna die Mn llllnd 
pmjC1Ct aoi111 forward. Mr. 'Nybolf'rmde clear 11, Mr. Mand: tb■t Ill did nat-. about the Chy11 
llllpDlla ID Soudlml Lind Camp■n),'1 pn11ne. the Cl&)-11 oftlciat !MIi ... reprdJna the new 
..,_,aorthlpubllc'1plnlflptlon.aad ... lbat "&ndlwir.t.adC.,.,Wllltl,_,,..,_ .. 
Followfaa thfl mardaa, Mr. N)'hD&' dellberllllly GIit out die Mini llllnd INIIIOtlldoa lllm lmn 
-, ODnYCdmaa wlh Soutllnn Llllcl C'ANnplnf and flRlblr llldermlnld thl ..,...._ pa■ldoa 
aFtbe Clly ■nd Ille amnmunlty. Mr, Nyhoff cqulDd clmld door, non-publfoly nae.I mlllliu11 
wtdl Soudllln Lad Campaay 11111 Cit;, ComlcJla•Dbers. 

lbrlri!'mlc 
In Fnru■17 201P, • a nepdadon lllfttln1 whb dal Cky, • projeGI Gpp0nllll 1har w tmllltamll 
lldpdon. Sy■r lndwllrift, c.fllclolld la die~ 11111 lbty tmw cozdldmtbr.l lmbnllltiou .-.. the 
BlaltockProjealrelllldlOtl.ONd lllllian ffllldnpwllhCllyCauno0.plaallllm • ..... 
la 1lle lllpialionL Mr. Mont lmmaU■taly 1nuaht Ilda ID dll endaa of Mr. N,boft l:lul-he 
lpaNd lt. In I IDCIOlld Jnlltlna with. S,., Mr. Mant nodml tbltapin Syar IIPIMlifl.dYII Ml'I 
In .,.,_,DI or coidldend■I lnf'ormallan. Mr. Mora nad8ed Mr. 'Nyhoff lh■t Mlidw, 
canfldlad1I lafbna■dD.n w leulna, but. Mr. Nyhofl' !pond Mr. Morlt'a CG11MmL a..n 
Jllaully 2019 and --,. 2020, Mr. Nyhoff .....-n, llenlpkld ID flllniDae die Cit, 11 
lnYOIVlllllllt whit the pn,jlet ~ a pmi1m IOUpl by 11111 prqJect opponlllt, Syll' • 111d Mr. Nyhoff' 
eolllnued to &ti la eduma hlmalf cm 1111 neCllllty ofdll p,vJIGt 111d Ill fllllnoll1 lmplicllimm 
lbr lie Cliy dllpile aepeallld 1.11mnp111 by Mr. Mand to pmvldll _...,.. m11m■rfet ■nd ln-penoa 
bull.It pomll 1Nd 11ap11111led till pmjeal:11 chllllap■ and 01C11•"t). 

~~a 

In dlr. Slanuntr" rJf 2019. Mr. Nyboff' all01D'ICal It ■ ldu:.aff neat that Ila City wau1d clan■II 
S50.000 to the "&IN Ow bU" pojeat, a jaint pmilat wJlh lhl noa-pn,lt ..._ llllnd HIIIDrla 
Pllt Poundlltion Munum. Mr, Mam Jn!baned Mr. Nyhotl'lhll die Mare llland M11111U11 mowd 
qulclcly on lht MS&w Our Sall" ~ 111d bepn woddni wkbaut 1111111 pmalllaa -.. 
NffllP'Jc,t.,. lhe Clty'1 eftbftl to~ dis 150.000 dwlilxl, Mr. MOIIII llalld thlt ba W11 
woddll an ■11111rlllpOltlDd l900anftlllddia fbr lhl CIIJ Council ta lepUy appnne die ftmda. 
Mr. Maatwadcldwbh rha Cky Alcomlyl' OfflNmddlrma.dll ltpl palhto)lftWidcthelllldl 
l,y lhe Cky. Mr. Nybofradtthe fDlkrwfna -•Ill ID Mr. MOIIII: •n.,~ hlllM .. /'v, pr, 
--,, 1111 ""'ca,w, lfw, oan'r,}ul gw. dNJN IS0,000 ,_ l'IJ/lllt,I a,.,.,_,, WM wl0." .. No 
- ,. .,..,_,,,,,,,,,. .- ,- • iso.ooo-w.,. "°' •""'""' ,_., "at1 ·n. CltJI _.nor.,,. 
OJ/Im la}ut t.t., rltllculou." 

Plphf'II 
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......_dy, I Ccluaollrnmar mcprlllld lullnldon tbat Mr. N7hoft' jmt Gffiad 150,000 
publicly wlllllut Clt)'Caunctl ~ • IJ'Pl'CMI. 

8- -.lf'llld the Clf¥ A&IDrney'1 Office oould nac Jepll)' oanaedl ID Mr. NyhDfr1 nquat, in 
~ 201t. Mr. Nyholl'pullld die did •trniport Irr dNI S50,000 tiara 1111 pn,pDlld Chy 
Cami .... The lr.m .,..IIIIMldtbrwadllldlbeSSOJJOOwulllftl'...._talhtM ..... 

Mr. MClmt npilNlil&u Ma. Dmlbll Im fim• canam of'•Jadon by Mr, N,botfbeaalll ot 
Im pudaipldan bl die lnffltlaalian. Mr. Moalt IIIJ)hlllzed !JIit Mr, Nyholl'wlll nllllllt eplnll 
anyaat dat Ml. Ddl ialm¥fflv1 who IIJ'I anythlq artdcal tlJaut Mr. NJholr., Mr. Mont W11 
eownedlhlthc waa1c1 be '1lnlllnD:l blawahldllmy belll l'llalllllCI apt111tlbrl'lp0fllna 
die HI.,_ ml NX llaramcnt ofoneothllcllteDt mpcm. Mr. Mcnlclcllllld 10 ML Dlublthe 
Im relldna ldl llllplo,N IIIJaa a wrktln unanlWINld compJalal wfda Iha DlnaCor ot H1n1r1 
Rllomcllofdll Chy of'V1Hejo 111d the &ct bil pad &lch raportina oflbb empk,ya clllml hid 
.ullld In 1111 belq put aa llawl. 

Mr. Monl milld CDMIIIII wilh Ml. Dul,e the validil)I of'lhl March 13, 2020 ltttlr ltped by 11111 
Cit, of Vallejo Slldat Bucuttve DirmfDq in lllppart of Mr. Nyhoff: It Ml belleYed dial Mr, 
Nylloff cin:u'-1 lhe 111m' an hll own blhllf, or Id Mr, Nyllotl'■ dlreadon, lad 11- Ga111111011 
knowlcdae dllt Mr. Nyhoff Mnlld Nllliat lplma -,oat who did mt lip ft Mr. Marat Ml 
nl'IG',..... th■ laalr. 

Durtna Ml. Daubl'1 inftltlptlon. Mr. Mcatcl11:1Ullld dte L11N11y ad bollill W'Glklllvimmntnt 
Cl'IIIIIII by Mr. NyboW, b1t nltll.._, mllmar, hi■ r.llum of P1YU111111ntloa ar teadiq: npodl,, 
1111 &Uinto Dl' updatal oa Im)' lullll 1¥111 whlll 8'¥811 !llldna pc,11111 Dam hll .a; bll paor 
lndlnhlp and dlmlfan llllklq. 11d. fAilure to put 1be Clly 11 bat .... b6n hb awn. Ml. 
0.. lllbd multlp)D•n■Hm quutlonatlmllll wMmdqualilla vup--■p•llklna if 
Mr. MamtWll facampetaL Ma. Daul,e ubd Mr. Marat ltMr. Nyhoff'evcrblaupt up r..or 
ram or pndar In SLT llllltlnp. Mr. MOIIJ: ooatluwd Illa Mr. Nyhoft' rwpllltdly tdmlutd to 
bliq • r1C111 clurila bis thirtica. In 111PQ11N., 1111 ca.tnwladon quadoa. Mr. Mani delalW 
the ....._ dllahnlllltmy ad bullylns cullun cultivllld by Mr. N~ u •I • Mr. 
Nylmff'1 lllbn to fnwildalta HR. compl■iat:I, 11111 mnplllnt ot ld1 IUbordlnal. Tbay iMUwldld 
camplnof'Mr. NyhofP'1 lmpmpllle&y·wldl dnmapm and howho doct natmala cfeollloal In thl 
beltlnlll'IIII oflhe Cll;yarlhe ......m.wd\y. Tia lmmlewl ""8IICCll'ded llf lb6 lal&iiewer ML 
Dlllbe 11111 It .. muldplo ham■• llplotflollty, 1bl fbllowlaa lm:lcllnll ... -=dNd: 

• ...... llllllftDl1 ofllarmmmt of'ftafl.ad Illa ID pmperly laWlliple n•mml11ct 
by Mr. Nyholr, and Allillul City Mlnqlr, ADI ClalwBU. 

• n. blale Dffl'the 111111 "lublrlntlal." ar1na tba Mara llland INII"-..,.,_ • Nimitz. 
• Mr. Nyboff'1 lmpiapes Jflltl 10 Tw wilh • denlaper, Sauthlm. Lmd Campmy. 

ldcl hmlmt the - deYeloplr • hl1 hala In ■-11t cwerChrlamu bralc. 
• Mr. Nyhoft' cl.lUbnilly &:Ultina die Mara bland -,atlllina 111111D. out of conmlllialll 

when Sautbom Land Company 1Wt1 In JIIIIU:y 2020. 

,..,.,11 
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• Mr. N,hoff'1 lllllllflll ID llalt die Blat Roa: pDjcct 1¥m lbollp the City bid I City 
Coud lppl'O¥Cd BNA wtlh die dnlloper. 

• Mr. Nyhoff'1 Nllal 1D Han to 1he Bulldina Department. Clay AltOrllY Ofria. ad ltd 
1h11 n:slndfna the Nd tap on 11111.ikfiDII It 11111 Ma. lllaad Pllllrve wa 11D1 • option. In 
splm oftbl1, Mr. NyhDfrkepl dll bullftlp opm and oaauplcd 1H' 11111111 tban lwalft (12) 
rllOall& 

• Mr. Nybclff'1 npelttd qlllldom ID llldf• to why Ille CICy would IICII 1C01pt ownmhlp 
of'IIII old Navy lnlflU an Ma llllad. Mr. Nyhoff' .... lhc City ID u:oepc a llrp and 
poll■lld JlabUftr, dnpilll the City CouncU'■ apllclt dnedan In City-Comal......._ 

• Durlna die PGill! lhllldown In Fall 2019, Mr. Nyhaft" .a.er flD -, 1111 EnlWIWJ 
0pmtkn Curllr("EOC") apm M IIICOlmllllldlld by lhe Pn a.llf and.U BOC..,,.. 
WIil • hi■ npllled • 111ml (4' l'llbmln 1111) tDthe EOC beclme "lllaptJtNr .,_Olt 
flllll,,. wtllltsll lo,. Cl Ito,_,.,., " 

• The dado with Mr. N)'bolr1 pmnlNd clo111don of S,0.000 to die 'Tm. Ow So/In 
prqlaat. 

• Mr, N)'llol'Haaptl to ..-1111 ... 1mi1 rill impli:adonl lira pmjllDton thl Nmthn 
Wlltli'6uN. llld hla llllllnpll ID IW¥II-, mquhmllnt btbe--.- to midalm for 
ftllme• lawl rlle. dalplle lhl •lhat lllff'told Mr. Nylloff'we llld &1111Dlved tbl INuel 
wllb lhl dnelaps that would pralKt the CIJr lDd could 111CM: tlJtMnt whh Ille pn,Jeat. 

IRMJAJPBYR♦J'IMINTIMADPAMAGIPNl-¥91♦! 

Thi Chy, by Ira ~ Caundlmmn ...... and Mr. Nyhoff, have llllmld the perlOIIIJ lftd 
pn,fnlloal ,.ltllkm of'Mr, Molat. "n. Cl&y It■■ l'lpllNl.lly 11nJ'.n.wd W IIIWl llltlolll dlat my 
Mr. Monl11 tmnl1lldoa ... ncd COVID-19 Nlatld. ad WWI • ID I "'pelmmel 111111111',• 
Jnllllllltlq the fllla llllDOII of11Q' alladl' pmflalaaal pedbrnwlee aprad by Mr. N)'hdadbll 
dlra npam. 'I'hll cllflmmlaapr • • pntvmted Mr. Mora& hm fladq Ima llllp1oymlllt 
mimnt with hi■ Nm1na potmtial 111d hal deprived him o'llpiflcut lldnmtnc llnllnp. Thi 
detllmldon or.,.. llaft'lllClllbaa t, • p■n1111 of'plUlial of Mr. Npotf. Mr. Mai hu lllm 
pmloullylOlcl .._rmw 0111 nmir~wlllb.hepmtemded to tpllkdilp■nalnab'lblNt 
analhm,a..pk,yw. 

'l'blN dlfamatory ---• cUndly COllllldlcrlcl Mr. Mcnt'1 pertbnrm1a1 IVllUldonl 
denmmlradfta • ...,,..,, l'ICDl'II ofpro&lalonal pdmnimc:e clurlna: lbllr llllml ... City. 

The followlftlD eumpl•oftha ddnllor), -•DIIIII; 

• On Man:h 13. 2020, • dlmloper...,.., lnbm■ Mr. Mom 111M • Cll1 Couacnmember 
mid lh• dwelapertli■t Will WU on ldmlnl■lndve lllve --- "Wm l\loDd up". "WW 
11 on 111¥1 ---•wn aoialdtr..adae. depmmiiDl:'-l." 111d 11H1t•wu1 w hkHnl 
pmjlcll"- ■II IDUIIIICCUlldonl 

• On April 23. 2020. a aol .... l'INIYed • CIII hm a bloaktd manbar llllml, .... --t,J/ 
a6o11 .......,,,,,.,, WNIJt,r •Job " . 

.... ,ant 



i .. 
D ... --

'I' • • • • • 111 
J f I' i I.' i Ii t If ii I" JI I I;: il ,i' i Si ! 

iltilll!g h 1! hh! h !_r!;[riF!i_U l"i 

,11111;11 ~; i11:; I 11iU i= ,=--1• 1i1HU1· 1 ~ ~ ,. 
if fl fl I _g 11 I a f 11 f I =' J~ { I 5. •J l I ff iln[ 

a-f J I 111 ff I f "' '" 1:1 ~ii' .. \; -!I' z.d 'l}Ji JiJlJlJ!U1:_ 
rt11f1d hn Jp! Id (if [tJ~r, 1r 
lls(j. I-~ 11,· ~ h!I r~I rJUl'rtl}~,I 

a·fr ~ 8 I 11,e I 9rff- !Ji!' n I 
11,s.rill 11-r, 1'• 11~ f fiils:f f 

( a(lf f ,I l 1t !i:lia: I z 

-c4" I 2.t~ I .ii II tl.1 .sf 

-



MonltJDa.1111 
A...._..A 
A ... ft.2020 

( 

llfl'PPID y:q,v.IB191JP 91 gmygy 
Mr. Mont'• paflmtill Dia Include Rmlllllon la Vlollllca of Pulk: Polley, Taminlliaa la 
Vloldlon of CJcwcnamelll Code liMO{b)a, detuudon., ............. wi.tll JIIOIPIDIM IOClllalnlo 
adYarlp. llldlalladcnl lnllialionofemadoa.tdlllnlm. T .... tblllcllbnladdeMr. Mani: 
ID I IIICDft111 of .... dnlael. ,peolll dimaall. pmldte danaaa and llDOWI)' af aaamcy1• ..... 
11- .,,.utrw MIIIINIWII hate en!oad die notlan dllt If Mr. Mom NIDllnld 1illm 111d. 
abldlllll 1D Mr. Nybofl'llld impllctt with bll laqnper, unethleal, lnll pollmlially ~ aodrm, 

Finf. Ill employer II pmblblled 8ana lermiadhaa my cmplO)'OD, bdudma-.will GploylR. lbr 
llllfflJldaa tooomplywidt~. Govt. Code 112940 tbrblcldlna nn:lal.1111111. oroths lbnnlofjob ..___.L To lllllabltlh I prbm kit Ra, It mlllt • llhon lhlt dll plalnlUI' .....- In a 
~tA1ivltyllldlhlearployerlabjeclldtheplmtffl'talllhwNtmployraeataalon, lllddme 
l11~lir\tbetwnalheprotmal IIIIMl:yllldlbt~111ldaa, "Batblhellllllland ~ 
lltltldll 119 delfanm to tblllr Gpm IIOIIIIIUlldaad bliwe. ID.....,.. and ltl emplo),Jes 
..-ma. pan:elwd mlacandul:&, WClarlfinl" amplo).1 ro call dlllr •ptoya' dalim1 ID 
unlawf'al prudces of wldab the 1111ploylr mlpt be llllftm: llld which miafd lallJt In lldpdon If 
nutwlunarllyclllnlad,•(Fld',,, Norr/tMWrar, rorc,,a,,p (1"2)3 CII.App.4111467, 477.) 
Cal. Govt. Code fl2940(h) nNIUIIII 11111 lllplfflloll '"llkl lmmcdil&o md lijljiiqwlll1ili cumcdWI 
action" --. huuamat II broup ,o 1beir llllntiDa.. Sapeni1e1n who pn,puly tlb lmmedlue 
CIOll'IO!lve laiDn-. pn,f&lfld ftam ntalllllon, (~ ..,.., 3 CII.AppAdl at 477,) 

Mr. Marat 1DOk 1U lllpl dllt Ill eo11ld ID initiate immakte CXll'ftlCltlN IClion IO pm111Ct die W 
llllployllwho WIii bllna llll'IINlll llld l'IOilllydilllllmlmlal aplnlt. He ... lnmnplllllaewllll 
Cal.Ont.Code I 12940 and lht Cky'1Admlnilrnai• Rulfll. Imtml ofCIOllllmlldilra Ms. Allmln,, 
Mr. Mmb, 111d Mr. MDnlt tbrdm 11Cdan1, the Cit)' llfflWllled lbmn a.-u. llwy wa1111111 U 

p!Obllmldo lbrdlllr ~ 

Semnd. under Cal. LIIN,r Code §1102.5 and CaL Gavt. Cade 1532N. an anplayer, ray noc 
retlUIM 1pf11t III lllqdayll 1br ICltkn twn by 1bo lfflPloyle WDll u mpanlna a 1'1o1111on of 
law ID hfl aaplaylr. Th1I law pn,ridill lhlt cmpla,-. 1MJ IIUl IICIUata apbm (lnDllldlq by­
wmnsfially &in&) any emplo)w who 11pC11111 IUIJIICfld '¥kllldcm of law by the empk,)w ID I 
acmmmaorlawcntbrollneat:11111CY,OrlDl111P.,,_otcrlhermploJwwholm tlulailllaity 
11D laYelll,ple or DOl'l9llt the Ylollllao. 1'laouabou& tlttlr •an at die C-11;y, ML A1llal, Mr. 
M11m. 111d Mr. Mcnl r.ilw11d a myriad of quadDlllble acl Ulllddall ccmdlllt by Mr. N:,lu,lf. 
11-, jMtdcfpired In a lmrwdpdoa of'~. Nyhofl'meh__, by Ckf CGuncll ad Mr. Rilnlr 
..,_ they hanllllly n,pcnd 111bl1lntlll vlolldonl of Mr. Nyboff, lncludl• lrdwf'lim wilh 
dlMlopw ~ cpldanlbJe IIIOldDp w1da clMloplll. nt the Mun to JIIOplrly 
IIMlllpm HRmnplalnll. Durm,tllllr lntervllwl. lhly Nhallld an multiple GCClllanldud lilly 
._.. lhly would t,e nna1r-,. 1111ml by Mr. N111d' balld on dalr pmdal,-dan In 1111 
lnYlltlatlloaand thn'criticlll 11m1ab. Ahaut tllrel W9lb lbllowfna tbllr laWlllpdYe lnla'Ylcw, 
duly wme llnnlnatmd by Mr. Nyhoft'. It ean be_.,, 1unnlled dtal Mr. Nybo«- lllllllmlally 

,...10.rn 
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IIIOIMlldby1dellnto911rldDlthl indMma.11 whollldhcnetlJnpamd lu unlawftal Ylolatio111 
and queatlamd hil ability to propmly av. 1111 City. 

1blrd. lhe,.... ad prohlanll llplll&don of'Mr. MGl'II ha been IUbllllldllly llamed cu 1D 
,._ nmm lpmad llnuaboul dlt ooaununlty, u, couaallman .... lO die publlo. ta dffelnpen. 
111d tD polllldal li!IIOplu)dl by tfm City'■ lfaft llllffllllll. apeolllolll)' Mt. Nyhof£ Mr, Mant hu 
111111 ddaned by 6lle lbftinnldon 111111d tD dlllr llrmlnadona Ill Ylalallan. ot OIL Clv. Codi 
1145,., -,. 111d Cal. Lab. Coda f 1050. The City wlll be held liable lbr Ille cl6a11ary lllllffllllll 
mlile by Ill IIIJllni•on. mwpn whtoh • 1111&11 In Ille C01l'II mil-,,. of'dlllr-,laymaat. 
Mr. Molllt hll 111m blmd tam l'IIDIIYlna empioymcnt apportualda due ro dw CIGIHUIC of Mr. 
Nyhoft' ud Illa City. 

Pip II atll 
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11teconduct by dll ctay hu 11111111d In 1ip.fftcml--.. 10Mr. Mam 111 Ille loll ,-and ll&tare 
-... Jaet beaeflu. mpulllliona1 dlmlp, ll9Yll9 eodonll dfllllU, medical fill and COIi. 
IDDIUyl• &a and COIII, ThoN damlpi 11'1 preaendy llllimatld tu •-dim S400,000. 

""9latl 
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~ dallllpl wall bcrpnMIIIII: lrfll. Eldmlted dlapl u oftaday'1 dalleue in aceuof S400,000 lnoludlnl ........... ftaure ..._ emodanal dlmlf-....... .- ...... 
dlallpl lad a11amey tte llldoam. 

... loll 
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Cl.AIM FORDAUGEIMMIIT 
TIii crrY OF VAU.EJO. CMJFCIIIA 
{GOVI', caae 1110.ttu a 11u 

TO: CITY CLERK 

RECEIVED 
OCT 21 2020 

Vallejo City Clerk 
crrY OF VALLEJO, CITY HALL 
• 1ANTA CLARA ITREET, 3RD l'LOOR 
YALJ.EJO. CA 1411G 

0.. & Time F111d with City Clerk [City UH Only] 

AMBNDBD 
CLAIMANT Hl!RIBY Plll!IENTS THE FOLLOWING CLAIM POllt DAMACIII: 

1. 

2.. 

3 

C r:iin,a~•s Nn111e·_\...,\'_m._.M,.._0m ...... t ______________________ _ 

Clc'monl o Addr&:1 _S_ee_=_l_~ __ (b_d_o_t--..._·i_. _____ Clly _______ .Zlp Code ____ _ 

5 Onie of inh.1r1DtJ. dam~ o~fn,~ 1,11,,H-e rl,!ICOW"~~--A_.P,_ril_2_3,_2_0_20 ___________ _ 

e Loi::znlc r,' lr-.clden' I ~r.c:,v nt I Amwt Vrulclo C{.y_H~113 Stu:c::s.Yo.1).t:tp, CA 94590 

7. What did Ctly or 1mployee(1) do ta CMIN thll IDH, dlffl9, or Injury? 

~ :W.lllli.Il.mt.b --------------------------

8. Wlwt .. the nama(I) cf the Clly's employaa(1) who caUNd lhll lr,Jury, damage. ar Ion (If known)? 

Gm.,NYhojf. &ntlv ~~1rJm'~..._ _______________ _ 

9. What apacfflc b1urtet. dlfflll8N, or lolul did Claimant 1ultllln? 

See Autcllmcm A. 

1 D. Whllt emount of money II Clllm1nt eeeklng, ar the appn,prtat. court af Jurfadlcllan (He raverw)? 

In e;q::~uif ~L281.iQi,® h$:(~ gtto;:nQ!'-t k:A nnd (~I}; 

11. Yaw \Wl!! nn.,. 1t'Tlouci cnleu1Ji1!!1i'> (Ir 11:,cl,~o. l)ltmse l~!ze.) _____________ _ 

Sec Auai:hm!lut R. 

12. NlfflN, addrNNI, and telephone number'I of wine, ... , dactD111, hoapllall, and any peraon who can 1ubat.■nt1• 

PAGE1 OF2 
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13. Alf'/ llddllanlll lnformdon that yau belleve mlQht be helpful In conalderi~ thll clllim: 

See demand letter aent to all Qty Ccnmd1 Members dated May 15, 2020, aw:Uo-recorded tntcmews of 
Oatmmt. and d■tment'• prmomly-flled. Clum tor Damap. m:eiwd by the Otyon Auguat 19, 2020, 

14. Al naODII and cammunicaltcn with l'IIIJlrd ta this calm lhould be dlrectacl to (ontv to be camplltad I dll'lrn than 
Cllfmllfi addreu and Dhone Nimber It Queltlona 2 and a above): 

GwUIJamhay~Cmllt ..... 
Name: 7: Gm; ArPHem • BendeP 5-Stgg RtlaUanlhlp attorncp fir: a.1m,nt 

AddNII 1999 Ham,opStreet, Sqb 1600 City Pek'en4 21p Code .... w,....1~2 __ _ 

16. 

Daytlm•T•lephoneNo: C 510 ) 832-5411 ~ 

DATE: _.1..lO.,..{-t,...,/l."ll,/.,,nJ.-I ____ SIGNATURE:._ --.~.,-i.,......_ __ ...... ------------

If ■cldllfonal ■pace 11 needed to pravfde rwqunted Information. .... .-h •hwts ldenttt,lng pmagraph(■) balng 
anlWlll'8d. 

MaWfl 111 leml tufty and to the but dyaur knawledg1 and lnlbrrnalbn. Flllklre to da IO m-, rMUI In your alaJm being found 
lneut'llellnl If vnu·tlaW any qllll&lana canaemtna camplatlon ofthl1 form, plelN cantlCI 1h11 Rlllc Mana;■mant DMIIDn at 
707-841 8808. l.agll advlca canc■mlng your clllm lho"'1 bll Dbtalnad from YQUr cwm lawyar. 

To aallll ~ In ....-.rtna Quldon 10 lbavll, tl'I• la>N raqLnl the alllm it ■how the 1maunt clllmed If It-.• lhln 11n 
thcKmnd dall■rw (110,000) •• af Iha data af praunllllon ofthl cllin, lncludfng the lltlmated amount afany praapeatfva 
lnJury, damage, or lou, lntafar • I may be known If the time of th■ ~Dn af the clllm, 1Dgelh• with the bllll of 
camp&1tallon of the amount clllrned. If lhe amount alaimed mmeed1 ten thouund dolllra ($10,000), no dallllr amount lhal 
be Included In the clalm, Howevw, I ■Mil tndlca whalhar JurllldlcUan CMr U. claim would f'llt In municipal court ($21,000 
or 1111) or 111par1Dr court (ma111 than '25,000). Govt. Cade 1910(1). 

WjllNNQI; PRESENTATION FOR ALLOWANCE OR PAYMENT OF A PAL8E OR FRAUDULENT CLAIM. WITH 
INTENT TO DEFRAUD II A CRIME PUNIHAILI MI. PILONY UNDIR CALll'ORNIA PINAL CODE. IEC110N 72. 
AND INIURANCE CODI, IICTl0N 1ffl.1. 

Updllld 1Dllfl11 
J1\CI.AIMI\CIII•• T••1tlatu\Cf1l11 FDl'II tt.11.11.dNI 

PA8E20F2 
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Mt. N,hofr1 admla:,d m,in • Senior 1..-dmbip TCIIII ("SL T") 'fWltnal, 
Mr, N,hofft, talkn m pn,mpfJy ._ znuldpft HR oompJalnll of' -.I and 
pfiylfcal----ofcoli..., bya fanW'employal In Wildw2019; ad 
Mt. Nyhoff'1 M1mirJ1 anil bullJfnl of 1111 dlniol npoltl for bis own poor 
~ fflluatloa by City Cmmofl bowdnalna· ira Ms, 2019 Md eomfnalna: 
ditauahApril 2020 -bull)'fnJlbat Mr. Nyhaff'Pftplllralld ...-11 llut om C1ly­
Councllmm1Nr, 

• The .nipanlna of lnlplOplt IINI Ullllhfaal aatbll b)r Mr. N:,hoff', lnoludlna pd and 
COtiUplioa. to the fnveltiplor, llll:ludkw: 

Mr. Nyhafr1 undllol'Glllld meedlp wldl potclllllal dlrveloper kMlloil in Tenru1■11r: 
In fill 201hnd IMl'a.rllanll hd: In J>toarblr 2019/llnury 2020; 
At1lmpll b)' Mr. Nyhoff'to add ...... tom rmrr.t aeptiadCIIII dllt wauld 
ma tho COlllracll mom IMmlblt ID dmlopon. 
Mr. N:,hoff'1 IIIIIMndon In JI-, 2020 to __. aomllWIISlliaaa ....,. a 
de¥elopw 111d die lllpdadna 1nm In ordlr tD 1111111111 dllnlopnnlnt lplCmCIIII wer,...,,. ftlvarllthl air •• cllv9Japer; 
Mr, Nyhoft"1 wUlftd llffOl'IBI ot confldmllll bdbm11dcm lllldn, rri a prqjmt 
oppoa• &hll WIii ........ Jit.ipdon. 111d rcpr:ll11d lllllllpll IO tennlmtai the 
at., 1

1 aonaatua1 ......- \Vllh a denloplr to move the ptqfect fonnrd; llld 
Mr. N)'llofr■ JftlGdon ol'a pabk lDd dacuman&ed pmmJao 11D 110M1tbutt SSO,OOO 
in Cit)' ftandlq ID IJlllll,oJllVfil s:apilll ~aactay«med ,_ ...._ °' lllff' 
wulllmpllnatolaaludepmlili111W11111 lcplly lapdnd by OllHbnda law. 

• TIii tmnlnldaa. whboul--. of ML~ Mr. Mlalm, Md Mr. Moratoa Aprll 23, 
2020,tt.mamJnsdll'thellMldpdonlnlDMr.N)'hoff'M1ecmohldldlnacloNd ■-icm 
ofCl&yeouutl, rn dlmot imlllllon lbrnipllltiqstt...ewnta; 

• Dcflunaloey II.UelMdlmade by Mr. Nyha~ Vllllljo City Co■ncll, md ClfJ ltaft'aaacklna 
theclinntr,~npallllon,IIMlacperfcaaeufMI.Alanln.Mr.Malm,andMr, 
Mat lhlt lppllSld In pu&tllbld fflldll, public Cit)' Couac:11 •ada. ml mdizeat 
CCIIDlfflldalda with Iha publla. 

TIie wodcplaee eavbGIHIW ..uldwtad by Mr. Nyhoff'--, Ida 27-mondl 11n1R II Iba Cky 
lllnl 111d ...... baai11J1nt. dllcrimlnadon, 111d -.llltlosl of ..tr. Durln1 m, oOlnts' 
tcnamat the City, !hey c:c,ad\ll:1ld thmmt.1¥11 In a11111111Craorwl11111t wllh Slltl aadFeda:al lawa 
andtbe Chy11AdmbmtratM Ralllby "PC)l'tlnt .....,_llld n.ofal dlll:lffllinldcm toHJtllld 
Mr. Nyhoff. ne Chy RWIIUd their ,-ecllCla or, ....... amplD)w by flntpllclns Mr. Mont 
one&lmlnlllll&Mt law lbrlllpClltlna unlawftd ......atofbtltubonlfmee by.,_.. Llllr, dlr­
Mr. MllmCIOIIIPlalud dlredJJ la Mr. Nyllofr, Mr. Illa,, Ind die Dirlocoroflluman.___ 
lbout dlt llllll haaaneat.; and ... ML ~ Mr. Mlltlb, Ind Mr, Meat were dtiwared 111 
partk:lp1111 la IWO ilMstiptkn with dnatoltlnnlnltian tbr nan-partlalpldon • one lnveldptlon 
into dla .. ..,, .. aJllptlona ..... Cit;y -··- ernplCJ)'el, and lnodm illYlldpdon 

,_Jafll 
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dfllppofnl8d tbll 1111 IYlluadDn did nal 10 MIi IIKI lmplW ft WII his aff'1 ftulL Mr. Nyhofr 
IU~hldnllll (9) clmld ..aan pwfmnw iM.llllliam orlXlllll'IGt ncptiatianlbyC• 
Couacll ..,,_. May 201 P' 111d April 2020, a a_y Cauncll ncwr ftndmd bl1 •■11.radon that 
lnldally nnd in JIIIUII)' 2019. Pnlklwf111 Ilda e!Dlld llllkla ffllllllicm. Mr. Nyhoft' WUldd 
raudnely lttUlc mfOUI ICflior llldt lllhlr nm■lly QI' In wrfdn&, for wlral lie .-celwd B tfu 
.flilurel llllt NOootal poorly on Mm. rn one 'mllnce. Mr. N,tloff Wamtd Mr. Mom lbr • failure 
of 1ht Frll PmBdon DlNlon (not C\1111 wtlly Mr. Mafll 11 ftllPOllllbllky) wllh ltpnl ID 
OIIIOilla impletlDIII. 

On WIIYr cceulon. • Councli..nber confided in Ms. Allnn tblt ai, mq,kvms hid rtpOrfld 
IO tlle eoa.u__,. Ill• Mr. :Nyhoff' hid bin bllllJIIII Cllher lfd' ........, ad that 1M 
Cmlc:1lmemlaubeaa .ulpalecldlreotlf ID IIUIJytna blhlviordlnlady ftam Mr. Nyhoa: 11te 
em.ilmembllr aid 11111. Mr. Nyhoft' lrfed bulJylna 11d Jl'INUrilll ldlllllmr ID atan I letlal­
...... tlll Depmllneat af Jultlce ffiatiptrethe Valll;JD Pollet l>lplrllwt. 

Tllcac -- WI all l1l■nd - 111)' cllenlt, in nmrded lnllrYilWI. with ML Dube, the: 
lnwltlplor lhll wcaaduadn1111 imlultlcm of'Mr. NybDft'lt 1111 dnctlGII ot'City Cwil. uc1 
wa ... lilllld ,pllllt by Mr. Nyhoff' wllen Ibey wm lllmllllrlly tarmlaltld an. April 23, 2020 
lbe mom, .. aftar lhl ~ WII fballaxl In elosed lellkHI wllb Chy o.ou.. 
mtm:tfflIPPF QM[l'MRron 11mPJ1 
On Mamli 3 I, 2020 Mr. Mmat JllldcipallCI ill a WO&tplaee lnYelllplloa rellftllnl Mt. N,Ylmft 
Darins lhlt lnvadpdon.m w■111D1d la hrnldpllun w. dlDat Mr. N)tllofrand 11111 .,._ordad 
111 CIIJ Cauncil. Linda Dame, 111a ~. Iulo l'HOtdlld Mr. Moslt't lttemaw llld 1M 
CJ11 hu m\lNCI ID pn,vldll hlln wldt a aopy orthl audio. 'Dtll audio l'IIIXffllln& II• document dall 
will.,., hclpfttl to Mr. Moratllld diatwlH be callned by IUbpoena once lldpdcm craw 
Ms, DIUbe wry dlrecdy llbd If Mr. Mont know of Vldoul 111.epd lmproJ,er, llllllhlall, tnd 
lupproprille ar.tkml -..ntlna' Mr. Nyhott Mr. Mmll...,. a...ty, _. w eoncamd, 
.adclllled. and chny lloond to rtpart \'lrtaas llllllnen of b"iiiA~ behavior tblt bepn wlda 
-• flvorltltm and CIIIClado lam pnwldlna men fivanllle Ma)w llfad denloplll with 
wm. Mr. NJhoff' hid dewlaplll nep pmcmal NlldGnlhlpt. Dm1na dda ilMlllpdon 
llllm'Viewt, wMcb w recorded by Mt. Dom. Mr. Molli..._ llpllled ..,._. that he ''ltod ,o 
MIi 11w trllllr .._.., • .,,,,,,,.,_ V fo,#rtJ • • lllflnllltW or .,,.,,.,,_.,... ''woltltl 6ir 
,.,.,,,,,,,. , .,, tlltl IIOI fd, ~ II, r,,. ~ of Mr. Nyhd. Mr. M01-at•1 
IIUldYldon tbr hfl 111111att1 w t°clf the pd Df lb CU,, 111d ID lie_. end candid • ii 
comillmt with bil Vllues. Mr. Norm n,pmtad lh■tMr. Nyhd .U. ai, pu& dw llelt lalllllllllll of 
theCb)'UCMldJown. Mr. MamtreporllddllltMr. Nyholl'UNd llilpollltlon1nbaltltdmilapan. 
Mr. Nyhoffdnared hit lllbarcllMtel ..._ 1111y q...ic.d ldsdecfll0nt IIKI eonduot. 

11le lbllowfnaa 1a1111 eamplll otMr. Nyhoff'1 lmpraper, Ulllllldal. and canupt IICdans. wbfcb 
Mr. Mamtwi1n•11darwftlldc IWII oflftd wllldl be wadut)-bound IDCOIIYl)'m MLDIIIIIII. 



In Jlllf 2011, Mr. N'yhoft' llppOiad Mr. Mam a 111111 lead a, wait with lht cfm,loper, Nlmhz 
Orous,. GIi 1hl NOIIII Mn Island Dnelapaat ("Mu: llllnd"). In Ncmmbw :2011, NIDlkz and 
Lenw nodflad lhoCfty1hll1mJwn UIDlfldnlaclNI ao MJl III llklCiaall 600 ... orland oo 
Ma llllnd I01he NlmlaOnmp. The l,nd IIIOVlfflN bytdMlopneat ....... Mlb the Ci'1 
dlltnqufrll City CCIIIIIDD IJIPl'OYal tbr llll)'lnlnlllrorlllt. Atddrthrat.. Mr.~ Mr. 
Mont ID lead Ind m1111p tht ~ Dffelopmn DIYl1lan, pmtllullrJy ID lad 1he MIN 
llland' lllptllllrm Mr. Mltr.ke, a caanltllllt at the time. wa .r.o • llllcore a.n. 
Ill o«a1N,r201,, Mr. Mmal'1 m1111 ..._. a lRllln• 1111n 111eet wldl ihl NladlZ 0roup rarihe 
ule of Nartll Mani llland ID tab ID dw City CauncU an O.O-J2111. Nlrnhz W nqlllllld lhe 
Ima·~ .,. IINd In Nferwe to I by INllltane Air~ (IA. ~ • ....,.,1y ~- ~ complae"). Id laid......,, Mt. Mlfflthlld :ffnn to 
llavtq out a lllbjeadvellml m. °nlllalmtlal". Tlte pll1llm'I afN'anib.. wa&uued lcavfDaout1hl 
tt1m "lullllandal" WII ICClptUIL Mr. 'Ni,hot'F lllbaqumtly YtBltm Nimitz'• oftlNa on MIN 
bland without lnfonninf Mr. M1,nt .-1 to mm 1M tnn ............. 11 Mr. 'Nyboff' lalmmd 
Mr. 1111 ... ., lnolucle ....,bltandal. but Mr. Marltaacl Mr. MlllrbM111111a1ilyoppwd and 
pmrlded II\ ......... It. ftlllft8 ll ii a. llllbipDm lllm lhat wauld 111d., lidptlan In 
... mlunl ~ 1M City IIDd Nimitz 11-'0ald fnevbbly ..... OD wlat la owldenNI 
'WbDdi1l1y compleW'. Tht City Atlrmey'1 Office a lllulllady oppolld lndudlaa llrll leffll, Thi..,..._. .,_ .........._,. conttnaed ad Mr. Nyholl' lnbmtd Mr. Morat dllt Mr. 
Nyhoff'had IOltall bll (N~•)mdllllllty whh'Nlmband. dllt hi put ''lubllllllllr' ln10pme 
ID Nimlll thlt day aaa IMC hlm (Nybofl). Mr, Moat illlwWI dial t.wauld IICII da tml.,... 
it ii nal in thelleltinllrrelt oftlleClty lllllNllflnned lhll die,..._. d:Nbnbw..lplldlbout 
lemna k Dllt. Mr. Mom ... explained that itlh-, put Al. lllltJlcdve WOid like........._. 
die C"ity will Cllld up fn lldplian with Nlmb five (S) ,-a tom now. Mt. Nybotl'nplled: ••1 a, 
carw, IW011 't t,, ,.,. , ,...,.,.,,, ,iow," Mr. Mom 111d '"Well, I,-. ca be.• Mr. Mont ,..,a n,« 
thll bt GOUid IIOt In .,ad IIOIINltftce .._, down" dle ....... in & ....-daatWIII not fa 1bl 
but lntalla of tbt City. Mr. Nyhoft'niplled, "77IM l'NJlwl...,.. wkcl will."' Frona dm point 
i>Mlld. Mr. Molat 1Nttd tlm Mr. N,tlotfwauld nitallaanl thll: hlljGb whh lhl City. which he 
hid !aekl tbt 6 ,-s...,.. iajqwdy. a lhDuld 1se DOlld dlll lbe 1aue of ..... Ill~ 
fl 111mn1hat111t CllJMll.111'1181lecl wllb ona,-vlou1deveklpment. and at, C,aanall had &ttnct.ct 
Olylffllllayell• IUlllllpltopr'IYlllta nnlllrlltuadoa. 

Ma. Allman Wll .lnrcmitd by a City lllmlmy wortina an die Nlmh& ..,cJatlonl lhat Mr. Nyhoff' 
Dale tlnlC9 to tile illlmlllf'I job --- the dmmly IIIIICI reflaHd to _,.. the tenn 
.......,,..,.bl the la'mlh& Mr. Nyhoff'ltl1ed 1111ta.11o'OU!d 11t111 Ollllldealtmne)'towalcon 
MIN llllad If dlo Chy Attamcy"1 Offlce dldnatdo wllat hi Wlnlld. 

In Ille Fill 2019, Mr. Nyholf In.fanned Mr. Marat lltlt 'fllllle in T-ee fi:w a aan&Nnat. M 
spent• day' wilh • developer, SaudJa-n Lad Coalpln)e. Mr. 'Nyhoftwu lmpnlld wftll loutblm 
Land Cmllpuay l,eca\ue ...,, 1ft ~ m# 111,y fXHllillCI ..,,,.,,. Ill ........ 6" 
~, fllllllholtJbrBto tMlrwortl.~ OverChrlalmu Bzatot2019, llld wlthoutlnlbmllnglbei 

,_.,o1u 
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CflJ ftlPllltlaa lnlD, Mr. Nyboffboalcl lhe CEOanil COO of Soudllln Lind eoa.,.n, 1t Ids 
--. but aver Informed hil aid' otlhe vim. Al du dmt, Suud.. Lad Callplny Ml adlJ 
umnown in VllleJo. •1•illfl)' 1U Iha pub!lr and dNt C~ W11 (and ldll II) In ICldve ni:ac,ti111ona 
wlch dao Nlmflz Omapfordnek,pmenc r1a1D ro Mm lllarad. 

Jn JIIIUG')'2020, Mr. N,tloff'lnlbnned Mr. Manic dllClhetwo lmy paojeatmaapn belle Nimitz 
Omup wa fllllnmllll4 11911 8aatJla Land ColllPUlY ,_ eomtn, In. Mr. Ny.hn!r Med 10 
lltlblllb 8oudRna lad Compln)"1n,le. llw II WIii almlhlt lbeywerel'Ulllllqtlll MD Jlllnd 
PlaJact aolal f'orMrd. Mr. N,Wmadt oltlr ro Mr. Morat lblt be did aot Cini lbouC Ille Cl~• 
IWlpm8 ID Soudllrn Land OlmJIIIII)''• pn•ioe, lhe'Ctty11 official IDllllpllJ91dla lM _., 
clowl'P'f, ncrt!II public'• pllClptlcm, 111d IIISld dlll "&ndMI l.&w~Wllld _,.,, 11." 
FollowlDa dril ffl&lldaa. Mr. N)'hoff dali11111al1 C11t out lbl Mn llllad -.,tlldan 11111 tam 
IIIJ' GOll\lllllllionwllb Suuchwn Lad CGmpany, a lldllrlnlmmhlld thlmpll.._ ,mfdan 
oftheC1ty aad aueanraun1w. Mr. Nyboff mpnlad daNd door, aon-publlGJJ nodclll IMClbrp 
widl SOUlllmn Lad Company and~ CoadllMfflblls. 

UbatWPIRflct 
la Flblul,y 2019. • a JIIIOliltion JM11Cm1 with 11a Cky, a projoaa opponml 1111r wa ._.... 
Utfpdon, Syar bu11utr111. cll111:1lollll cu tu CIIJ llwl dwy !mew aonlldeatl&I 1ntbnD11ioa U081 lhD 
Blue Raak PIQJ•ntlldld rociloud ..tan lllllllnp wflll City CGunal~ alYfDedm! ....... 
in 1hl .......... Mr. Mont lmnledlmJy brouallt 11m 111 the antiml of Mr.~ but-he 
lpcnd II. In. l9COlld meeclllg wbb s,.r. Mr. Mani DDdced lllllqaln S,ar mplelllltadVl!I was 
In ~Ian ar mlflclllmll IDfclmwlkm. Mr. Mont notified Mr. Nylloff that lllllrivt, 
confldladal lntvandaa w llllklq. IIUl Mr. Nylmtf lp:,red. Mt. MDIII'•-. Bllween 
.--,, 2019 nl --, 2020, Mr. Nyhoff' reptllllldl)- ...... d ID fllll'liDllo dte at, 11 
lnvolvemnwilh thelfflitc:t ~ apmldaa ICIIJlld by die project Oppcllllld. s,ar • 111d Mr. NyhoJf 
condmaed ID t.11 to lllucm hlmlllf oa lbe fNHlllt1 ofdle p,oJeat and hi f'illmMIIII lmpUakw 
tbr lie Cliy clllpht nplllilll&tllmpll by Mr. Meal ta prmdrl IIICIIIIOI, llllllllmleJ and ln-pcnon 
bulllt polllll lh.tt -,.alldld 1111 PIIIJ•'• ohaDenp1111d 111111■ity. 

~-;tir n:-~:m!llll 

In dm 81IIIIIJIII' of 2019, Mr. N,tmft' IUOIIIINld a • ldDk-d IYMt that lbe Clly WGUld donlll 
$50,000 to flll "S.,, Ow &Ill" ~ a joint pmjta whit lht nm,proftt Miro lllllld m-.. 
Pllk Poundl&km Munn. Mr. Mint lnftmld Mr. Nyllolrlhlt lbe Mini bind Mllaum mawed 
qiddr:ly Oil 1be 11Sawe Our SIii" llft1IM and bepla wmlna wltbout Ullq pninlllna -.. 
conq,lcatJq: the Ckt'1 lft°oltl to pamde lhe $50,000 dorwfon-Mr. Manit Med 1hat be W11 
Mrkhri GIi ■ .. npall and IIDIIIIUllmldad tbr dlt Ck)' Caanoll ta llplly aJIIIIOVt lllo fimdl. 
Mr. Meat wodclld wilhdm Cky Allomayl' Oflhie ID dlllmfllllhl lepl pilh lO povfdo die 1lnll 
by die City.Mt. Nyhuft'Jlllda lhef'ollowlna llllllDIIIIIIO Mr, Meat; "ffMf ~ lnllllllll•• 1-.,.,m,, ,,.,.o11,,.,. ..... (/WOM'tjut p ... IJ0,000- l1Jft,,tlt111 al'lalmylMO WIii." "Ntl 
- •'NJ"",,,,.,.•"-"-- ••so.ooo. wn ,.,,,1or,.,,.,.,,. "ad "7111 cu,....,,,, 
OJ/la, 18/Nf .,.rltlalota." 
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Sulaqaltly, 1 ~ cxpll!llld landon lhlt Mr. Nyhoft' jllll offlnd 150,000 
put,liatywflboutCityCaundllllthori1J llld appmal. 

lecwt aff and at. City A11m'aey'1 Ollkle aouJcl aac lepHy CIOIICldt fa Mr. Nytmll'1 reqamt. in 
Dtc:lmbar 201', Mr. ~pdr.t the did ltd'npon ftlr 1hl S50.DGO lam 1111 pmpDllld Ch;y 
CounaHapnda. Thefrem ... mcwedbwlrdllldfllt$50.000Wllltffll'Ullllldto .. Mau. 

Mr. Moreta, -d to Ms. Dlubl 1111 tw llld' mn111111 of~Jadoa by Mr. Nyhaff'beanll of 
his pudalpldan In lbe lllYtltlpllon. Mr. M.-_,.llbecl that Mr. N)flotfwlll 1111111-aplnlt 
anyaM dllt Mt. Ode lmlr,lewJ "lfflO llyl anyrhbwaddcal allallt Mr,~ Mr. Marat WU 
caacernedtblthe wvulcl be0malnlttd ..... behlld llrNdyMt l'llllllllldipl111tllrnipordna 
tho HR raoelDCla ...... Dfane oChlldblct nportl. Mr. Maraldetalltd ID Ml. Dm&ba 1hc 
tllall .... 1111 employee filinJ I wriuen WUIWlftlCI complllnt with fbe Dlnctor ot Haman 
Rlllnln1Noftl11 Cilyof'Vallt;joud tlall &d hb podfllidl rapordns ofdd1 emJUYIII ollla had 
Nallred in Jab bel111 pat on Jeaw. 

Mr, MoratraaPllll aonoeraawldl Ml. Duh die validity of'the Mm IJ. 2020 ICllllrllltlld llythl 
ciw of Valfljo Sellar Bxecalwe Directon In IIIJIIIOft of Mr. "1fd& It Ml btHfllll .... Mr. 
Nyboff dnullad die llltlr on h11 own blhllf. or at Mr. Nyboff'a clirlGdGn. and It .,. com.,.. 1cna-. diat Mr. Myho&'wuuW ..U.. lpimt ~ who did nDl nan t1 Mr. Man& .._ 
lll\'111" ~ the leaier. 

Durina Ml. .,...., ln¥at'81tlan. Mr. Mam .... dlo uwy llld holllll W\llk llMlOiiiiiOHl 
aated by Mr. Hyaoft hll aetllflCol)' bchffior, hll tldlare of peylq lltlndclll or IUdlaa NpQrfl. 
bl1 .flllJUN ta 1111.y updlad GIi key ltaa Mn wm p¥a llllrlna palllla flam hll - bit poor 
leldlrlhlp m dmlalon maklnt. and raoure ID put Iba ai,•, belt lnllllm ldn Im owa, Ma. 
Dllabe lmd naaltipls •lllllm quation1 dat ha ana...rquattna wlpr llmpip 1111111111:inl if 
Mr, Mmatwu fnrm.-nt- Ml. Dllube abclMr. Mn& lfMr. Nyboffevar braupl .... or 
mce or pndm- In SLT IIIICIIDp. Mr. Macat CDuf'a11atd lhat Mr. Nyltoft' flPlllld!r admiattd ao 
•lai a raclll durid8 bil third& [n ..- ID tflil diNrimiaMian quatioD. Mr. Malll dlfalltd 
the hllulmtnt, dircriminllary and bullyln, eultln cultlftlld bf Mr. Nyboft', u Mil • Mr. 
Nyhotf'1 &ibn tv ~ Hll eomplalld,. dll camp:lllnt of bJa lllbordlw. 1hey provided 
llllllqdelaf Mr. Nyhotl'1 lalpn,pdllywldl d&¥llopln 111d bow he doe9 nat ~ delrillom In th.a 
b8'& 11•1111 of'tllt City ortheconunanlly. Thi IDtln'ien Mnl NCGrded by the faniiewMa. 
Daabe 111d h: WIii muldpll IIOln. Spaoiftcall)', tt. tblkrwfna lacldatl WWI dllc:dNd: 

• I ... Nd lnltancel of harulmelll of llllfl' aad &llin 10 pn,per1y m,1111pa mllCGlldmt 
by Mr. N~ and Alsilttnt City Mlmalr, A.am ClnlMJL 

,. The 'bltt!e overd:ll tllm "aubltantill" durlna tbl Ma llland aepdacl.om wit:I& Nimitz. 
• Mr. Nybaff'■ llnp,iioper rilkl fD T- with • clffllcplr, Soutblm Land Complll)', 

IISd hDltins the- dmaloplrathl1 bolm In aeant overautum. bMlc. 
• Mr. Nyhol' delibmt&tly adtlna die MIN bland ~ 111111 oat at CGftftl'll.lionl 

when Saalbcm Lind Comp■ny llala In J--, 2020. 

Flp7ol11 



• Mr. NJhaff'• danptl to ll&lt the Blue RMk pqflat ewen tllouata the City bid I Cltf 
CouneJl appnwed ENA whh the dnwloplr. 

• Mr. Nyholf'1 ""'-1 to ]Ileen to the Buildina Dlplrtma, City Auomey Oftfce. and ltaff' 
did raclndina lbe Nd llp Cll'l llulldlnp at 1h11 Mlft: luul Plaerw WU nol ID aplloa, la 
1pir. oftltif. Mr. NJboff'IMpt dNI 1ndldlltp apen md ocmpled ft>r IIION 1111n lwelw (12) 
IIIDlllha. 

• Mr.~, .... _.tfOIII IO lllldf D to why 1111 City would notccaept OWIWlhlp 
ofdao!d Navy 11mtm1 GIi Ma l'l1IDCL Mr. NyhDft'wmlad tha Cfty la ..... 111ae 111d 
pallldld H1bllity, ... the Cky Cmmcl1'1 -,Uclt 4ireDlion in City c:auncu IDlledap. 

• Durmi -.C POaE llwlmwn Ill PaJI 2019, Mr. Ny.hoft'ldllad to bep the E1nqmey 
Opemloall Celllm'("BOC") OJllllllMllGlllllllllde bylheFln: Cldaf'llldall EOC~• 
well II hf, llpllfld late llllvu (4' minulN 1111) to1hci BOC becaua nllJlpotNl' .,_o,, ••Wfllllwllo,_ a_,..._," 

• The deblelo whb Mr. Nyhoff'1 J11U11U1eC1 donldon otSSO.OOO to 1111 "&n. 0... Sall" 
pmJIIIL 

• Mr. Nyhotr1•1llelnpll 110 ipcntbo1n lmtl ri. implindans tbraprajlaton flt Norllau 
W1ter&wt, 111d bt11111mp11 ra remove any,._. tbr the...,.. to mllfant t'ar 
ftnure • lnef lfle. dalpM lhe ftet lhll ltllrtald Mr. NyW'wit lllld llllOlwd tlJe ..,_ 
wkh Ibo....,. thltwaald pralldthl Ckyand coahl.llllMI bwadwtth lhe prqlect. 

PRM6JPIYII♦1'RBN1J IL\D PWAGIPB HPIAI 
1be Clly, by Ill Mlft Coln:ilmemblln, aad Mr. Nyhof(. have lmlJ9d die ,-,.1 111C1 
pn,feaioml repatllion of Mr. Mm1t. The Ci'1 ha nplllldly oonffnnld Ill nt1W1 udolel. lhlt my 
Mr. M~1 tennlllldoa 11111 1101 COVJD.lf IUlld and .....,. ... to • ..,.__. ....,,• 
lnlilnuet1n1 INt lilll llllllOl'lofmy alienla' ~ perbmanCl apread by Mr. Nyha«f ml hls 
dlract rcparll. '1111' dlllimadonpa, • llu pmllltad Mr. Mani ftom flndlnl lltme empto,ment 
aGllllltlntwlth 1111 Nlfdna po1llldal and haa clepriVlld bimof~Nllhlmlatamlnp. 'l'1ID 
detamlllon ardlpaled llafl'IMllll,ea bl I pdlm ofprulfaa of Mr. Nyhotf. Mr. Momli. i.a 
pmfoullylotd -rlllr.pbauall nmir 111ppm.r wlllll he'paaecdlld to lpllkdllplr■a~ IIN,ut 
MOIINrompk,yw. 

1'blll del'amllory IIIIIUieall ~ ~ Mr, Meat'• perf'ornnae IYIIIUldonl 
demanlfntlaa an 111111plary recoad ofpro&alioml pcrbmmacie durln& lbllrlllnn It the City. 

lllefollowhlc .. --.,Jaofthlcleftimllor,. -. .... 

• 0a Mlrcll ll. 2020. a deYelDplr uaocilllt 116nm Mr. Mera ct. a City Coundlmll:ablr 
told .... dlmloper that WIU ... on admmillnld'ltl lene beaame -wm rt.tcikld up•. -WW 
lion lHw--he wuaomsdliranud.rdlpmmmthe■d," lllllu.t•Wln whidqi 
,....--1HUldnlOUMIIIDnl 

• On April 23. 2020. • colltque ncelvecl • call lam• blocbcl DW111ber ltllhta. ''k ,,,,,,_ 
.... ,.,,,,.,,,,_,,.,. WRIJ,r •Job•~ 



l .. 
"' ... 

9}ti2(fi1Ei' 
1~ [Jl~l' 1fl(f~i)s a:l . ;r (1 

If ,1i·al1t a.la 111 
B' 

~fl!~ Ii 1
1
rf Iii I. 

f I. li-
ft I 

· i1lf "rl 
liJufb rr,a.wiJ, 

• • • • > • ff :.,I 
If ff~ ''tnf" 'ijiJlff 111~~11 ! i►f hi ! h.-1! 1, ! fUJr11=hlfi 
Ui11 i 11f J:i, f ir?•s ~1a1

1t111S~,; 
·· a: f • ea. • Jt =- it f fl 1 

f ~lZ 111
119

1 l tf 1l~'I ;:Jr!tf 1 
~ .. " ft ti I 1(1 r' 1J o utU 
,11• le.1111 ~iflf 'ti1,JniaJ1 "' .. 11 ht 1 s ; 1.wf i1riJ"~ii; 
iJd . 1!h ltiJlJh!UIP11 h•t l15ai t1•r r11 i,1;!-=-" i:I 
-: Ji I JI Ii I I a-f I 2:1 r 
f!.tj f~ 1 J}-!rdtf t!"-J'I 
t-, 1 

i
t fJ II' 111 "II.I"' I Hti ih~ . t II lhH h 



l • .. -... 

HJIIP111·u1u liiti ll~i,UH}U, ,; H 'jff i i,11 1lls5JJ -=~•lff!I' r1is-l J iq }fi.tc;1f fl st-lii 1· 

hri ·i[flh~H :nu 1·hth.hlt.1 u lin ill' ;r ,, .. rl-... -
!f 1:1 g: 11 f Ii~ fs1l I It !tli1 !I~rr ,r 4 ! i"i 

J. !t••r~'rtP1 u:u r1.s;Hitu, "" '"1· 1 hlhrl,1~4"n Hu r ~~:1fr~i, H u ., 

-.... 



.... ,11a.n 
.All ksdA 
i\lwlll lf,20:II 

modmedby1dllllr11ap1rid oftlil indM...,,who hldhanlldrnpomd 11ft 11111..tid violdlo• 
and.-cJoned bl1 abll"' lO ~Jy .._ .. Cily. 

'Jllltd. lhl JIIIIODll and pro&llional npuladoa of Mr. Meal 1111 '-1. wbtnaad.U, IJllmed due to 
11111 ramcn .- dnaah>at die comm1111it,, 111> coaofJnmbal. to dtt publlc, to clmilapea, 
111d ID ,-ml■I employll'a by dlD Cky'1 ltlJt/lllllDM, apealftclUf Mr. N),hofE Mr. Mant hu 
INlen ddlned by .i.e lnl:mnalion NW ID dlllr lll'dllnallam hi. vfeladon ~ Cal. Clv. Cade 
lf4S. -,-,, and C1L Lib, cads flOSD. Thfl City will he 1ml liable tbrllle dcllmalvly Jllltcamdl 
mad■ by Ill ..-,1a-. 1111111P11 which 1n1 made in lhe tG11111 IDI scape oftblremploymenL 
Mr, MDllt Im an bmtd hm l'Hllvlq employmcat c,pportu11tla clue ID tht OClldiaDt or Mr. 
NyhDff' and ... City. 

~rllnfll 



W'tllMorat 
Attachment B 

The conduct by the City has resulted in significant damages to Mr. Mmat in the lost past 
and future wages, lost benefits, repotational damage, severe emotional distress, medical fees and 
costs, and attorneys' fees and costs. Mr. Morat continues to suffer emotional distress u a result 
of the City's ongoing defamatory statements about him and the damage their actions continue to 
inflict on his career. Precise damages will be proven at trial. Estimated damages as of today's 
date are as follows: 

Economic loss to date: $81 .402.00 

Future economic loss: $135,225 per year (ongoing) 

Emotional distress in excess of $1,000,000.00 

Mr. Morat' s wrongful termination is in direct violation of applicable provisions of the 
California Labor Code and the Califomia Government Code, and gives rise to potential claims 
for retaliation against whistleblowers, retaliation against employees reporting harassment and 
discrimination issues, and defamation. 



Attachment C 
WillMorat 

Linda Daube, Heather Ruiz, Christopher Boucher. Joanna Altman. Slater Matzke, 
LaTanya Terrones, Council Member Pippen Dew, Council Member Hakeem Brown. Nate 
Bergeron, Council Member Katy Miessner, Michelle Stmub, Stacy Madigan, Shannon 
Eckmeyer, Gerald Rami1.a, Erin Hanford, and Doris Papillon-Allen. Christopher Boucher has all 
relevant telephone numbers and contact information of the witnesses. 
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VALLEJO 
(.al ifo:.ii.i 

December 4, 2020 

TO: J. Qary Owllflam & Randal E. Strauaa 
1988 Hanlaon Slreet. Suite 1800 
0akland, CA 94812 

CLAIMANT: VVII Marat 

SUBJECT: NQDCI PE B51WDPN 

NOTICE IS HEREBY GIVEN that the claim which you praaentad by flllng it in the office 
of the City Clerk on October 21, 2020 II rejected by operation of law, and the 
undnlgned hen1by glvea you notice to this effect. 

WABNHII 
Subject to certain exceptlone, you have only llx (8) monthe from the date thll notice 
was depOllted In the maU to file ■ IIIWllult on thla claim. Saa Callfomla Oovemrnent 
Code Section 945.8. 

Thia time nmltallon applies only to cauaea of action arising und• CaKfomla law for 
whloh a cram ia manc:tatad by the caHromla Government Tort Claima Act, Government 
Coda aecdon1 800 et. eeq. Olh8r c■UNI of action, including thOl8 arlllng under 
federal law, may have ahorter time llmllatlone for flllng. 

If you chooae to brtng your cue to court and the 00urt should detennlne that the 
proceadlna waa not brought in good faHh and with l'NI0118ble cause. the City wlll eeek 
defanae coals reasonably and nec11•rily incufflld by the City of Vallejo. See Code of 
CMI Procedure 8ectlon 1038. 

You may aeek the advm of an attomey of your choice In connection with thll matter. If 
you dealna to aonault an attorney. you should do eo lmmedlataly. 

Sincerely, 
Sedgwick 

Roae Ma,y Jimenez 
Adjuatar Complex Comrnerolal Clalm1 
(805) 288-4308 
E-malf: roaemaryJlmenezCINdgwlck.com 

cc: City of Vallejo 



PROOF OP SERVICE BY MAIL 

I, the unclenismd 1111)': 

( 

I am now and at all times herein mentiODlld have been ovm the age of 11 years, not a party to thD 
within OBUle or claim, and am employed by Sedgwiak, S1ate ofCallfbrnta. My holriDN address ii P.O. 
Box 619079, .Raamllo. California 95661. I am readily &mffiar with this agmcy•s basin,- practice for 
c:ollootio.u md prooeuina of cmxeapondence for rneiJtng with the United Stama Postal Samce. On tba 
dam aet forth bolow, I aemd a copy of the aNBdw:l letter to abdmam: by placfna: the orism,a1 in an 
euvelopo addresaed to: 

J. Gu:, GwlDIIDI A Rnd-U 1C. Stn1111 
1995' BarrllDn Street, Sllffa 1• 
Paldsnd, CA M12 

Rt:WIIMorat 

which mvelope wu than BClllled and, with postap iblly prepaid themon. and placed for colled:ion and 
rnaiJin1 at my 11IDIOtll buaimss location and followina ordinary buai.nes1 practices. Said 
cxmaapcmdam:e will bo dq,ond wi1h the United Statm Postal Semce at Max1:iDm'. California on the 
date set forth below fn the ordinary COUl'IIO of b:u1m111: time ii a delivary aervJce by mail at the 
Martinez location. 

I dmlue under the penalty of perJury mmr tml laws of tm Sta of Caltlbmia that tbe fotoegoina ii true 
and correct. 

Bxocuted OD this 4111 U, ofl>eeembv 2020, at Martinez. Califbmia. 

LJnda Del Vqpia, Declarant 
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... -.. STAIE 0E (",ALIEQBNIA I BYIIDIM Gmeoow llndcll end Hgyllng 6elDGY 

DEPARTMENT OF FAIR EMPLOYMENT & HOUSING 
2218 l<lluaan Drive, Suite 100 I Elk Grove I CA I 96758 
(800) 884-1884 (Voice) I (800) 700-2320 (TIY) I Calllbm'9'• Relay Service at 711 

-~ __ http://wwN.dfeh.ca.gov I Email: contact.oenterQdfeh.ca.gov 

February 5, 2021 

Randall Strauss 
1999 Hamson St. Ste. 1600, Suite 1600 
Oakland, California 94612 

RE: Notice to Complalnant's Attorney 
DFEH Matter Number: 202102-12538305 
Right to Sue: Matzke / City of Vallejo et al. 

Dear Randall Strauss: 

GAVIN NEWSQM GOIIERNQB 
KEVIN KISH, DIRECTOR 

Attached is a copy of your complaint of discrimination filed with the Department of Fair 
Employment and Housing (DFEH) pursuant to the California Fair Employment and 
Housing Act, Government Code section 12900 et seq. Also attached is a copy of your 
Notice of Case Closure and Right to Sue. 

Pursuant to Government Coda section 12962, DFEH wlll not serve these 
documents on the employer. You must serve the complaint separately, to all named 
respondents. Please refer to the attached Notice of Case Closure and Right to Sue for 
information regarding filing a private lawsuit in the State of Caltfomia. A courtesy "Notice 
of Filing of Discrimination Complainr is attached for your convenience. 

Be advised that the DFEH does not review or edit the complaint form to ensure that it 
meets procedural or statutory requirements. 

Sincerely, 

Department of Fair Employment and Housing 



@ 
9TATE QF CNJEQRNIA I E'YIIDW Gmw,rnar SIMGII Ind Hpuelrp AQID;y 

DEPARTMENT OF FAIR EMPLOYMENT & HOUSING 
2218 KIIUHn Drive, Suite 100 I Elk Grove I CA 1115758 
(800) 884-1884 (Voice) I (800) 700-2320 (TTY) I Callfomla'a Relay 8ervlca at 711 

• __ http://Www.dreh.ca.gov I Email: contact.cenmr@dreh.ca.gov 

February 5, 2021 

RE: Notice of Flllng of Discrimination Complalnt 
DFEH Matter Number: 202102-12538305 
Right to Sue: Matzke / City of Vallejo et al. 

To All Respondent(s): 

GAVIN NEWSOM OOVl=BNQR 
KEVIN KISH, DIRECTOR 

Enclosed is a copy of a complaint of discrimination that has been filed with the 
Department of Fair Employment and Housing (DFEH) in accordance with Government 
Code section 12960. This constitutes service of the complaint pursuant to Government 
Code section 12962. The complainant has requested an authorization to file a lawsuit. A 
copy of the Notice of Case Closure and Right to Sue is enclosed for your records. 

This matter may qualify for DFEH's Small Employer Family Leave Mediation pilot 
program. Under this program, established under Government Code section 12945.21, 
a small employer with 5 -19 employees, charged with violation of the California Family 
Rights Act, Government Code section 12945.2, has the right to participate in DFEH's 
free voluntary mediation service. Under this program both the employee requesting an 
immediate right to sue and the employer charged with the violation may request that all 
parties participate in DFEH's free voluntary mediation service. A request for mediation 
must be made within 30 days of receipt of the Notice of Case Closure and Right to Sue. 
If mediation is requested, the employee is prohibited from filing a civil action until 
mediation is complete. The employee's statute of limitations to file a civil action, 
including for all related claims not arising under section 12945.2, is tolled from DFEH's 
receipt of a mediation request under section 12945.21 until mediation is complete. To 
request DFEH Small Employer Family Leave Mediation, email 
DRDOnlinerequests@dfeh.ca.gov and include the DFEH matter number indicated on 
the Right to Sue notice. 

Please refer to the attached complaint for a list of all respondent(s) and their contact 
information. 

No response to DFEH is requested or required. 

Sincerely, 

Department of Fair Employment and Housing 



@ 
IIATE 9E CN.IEOBNIA I AYltJNr Gm:edm• 81DAI Ind Ha,.am Appp 

DEPARTMENT OF FAIR EMPLOYMENT & HOUSING 
2218 Keu1811 Drive, Suite 100 I Elk Grove I CA I 115758 
(800) 884-1884 (Voice) I (800) 700-2320 (TTY) I Callt'umla's Relay Servlc:e at 711 

-~ http:f/Www.dfeh.CII.IJOY I Email: contacl.cllnl9r@dfeh.C11.gov 

February 5, 2021 

Slater Matzke 
1999 Harrison Street, Suite 1600 
Oakland, California 94612 

RE: Notice of Case Closure and Right to Sue 
DFEH Matter Number: 202102-12538305 
Right to Sue: Matzke / City of Vallejo et al. 

Dear Slater Matzke: 

GAYIH NEWSOM GO\IEANOR 
KEVIN KISH, DIRECTOR 

This letter informs you that the above-referenced complaint filed with the Department of 
Fair Employment and Housing (DFEH) has been closed effective February 5, 2021 
because an immediate Right to Sue notice was requested. 

This letter is also your Right to Sue notice. According to Government Code section 
12965, subdivision (b), a civil action may be brought under the provisions of the Fair 
Employment and Housing Act against the person, employer, labor organization or 
employment agency named in the above-referenced complaint. The civil action must be 
filed within one year from the date of this letter. 

This matter may qualify for DFEH's Small Employer Family Leave Mediation pilot 
program. Under this program, established under Government Code section 12945.21, a 
small employer with 5 -19 employees, charged with violation of the California Family 
Rights Act, Government Code section 12945.2, has the right to participate in DFEH's 
free voluntary mediation service. Under this program both the employee requesting an 
immediate right to sue and the employer charged with the violation may request that all 
parties participate in DFEH's free voluntary mediation service. A request for mediation 
must be submitted to the DFEH within 30 days of receipt of the Notice of Case Closure 
and Right to Sue. If mediation is requested, the employee is prohibited from filing a civil 
action until mediation is complete. The employee's statute of limitations to file a civil 
action, including for all related claims not arising under section 12945.2, is tolled from 
DFEH's receipt of a mediation request under section 12945.21 until mediation is 
complete. To request DFEH Small Employer Family Leave Mediation, email 
DRDOnlinerequests@dfeh.ca.gov and include the DFEH matter number indicated on 
the Right to Sue notice. 

To obtain a federal Right to Sue notice, you must contact the U.S. Equal Employment 
Opportunity Commission (EEOC) to file a complaint within 30 days of receipt of this 
DFEH Notice of Case Closure or within 300 days of the alleged discriminatory act, 
whichever is earlier. 

Sincerely, 



IIATE OF CN--IEPBNtA I BUHJIN CAOIMmlC ...... ■nd Hq,wfnga AalJGY 

DEPARTMENT OF FAIR EMPLOYMENT & HOUSING 
2218 KaUNn Dr!Ve, Suite 100 I Elk Grove I CA 185768 
(800) 884-1884 (Voice) I (800) 700-2320 (TTY) I C■llfoml■'1 Relay Service Ill 711 
http://www.dfah.ca.gov I Em■II: conlBcl.centar@dfeh.c■.gov 

Department of Fair Employment and Housing 

BAYIN NmlAM GAYfflNQB 
KEVIN KISH, CIRECTOR 



1 

2 

3 

4 

COMPLAINT OF EMPLOYMENT DISCRIMINATION 
BEFORE THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA 

DEPARTMENT OF FAIR EMPLOYMENT AND HOUSING 
Under the Callfornia Fair Employment and Housing Act 

(Gov. Code, § 12900 at seq.) 

In the Matter of the Complalnt of 
5 Slater Matzke DFEH No. 202102-12538305 

6 Complainant, 
7 vs. 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

City of Vallejo 
555 Senta Clara Street, 3rd Floor 
Vallejo, California 94590 

Gregory Nyhoff 
555 Santa Clara Street, 3rd Floor 
Vallejo, Califomia 94590 

Randy Risner 
555 Santa Clara Street, 3rd Floor 
Vallejo, Califomia 94590 

Anne Cardwell 
555 Santa Clara Street, 3rd Floor 
Vallejo, Califomia 94590 

Heather Ruiz 
555 Santa Ciera Street, 3rd Floor 
Vallejo, Califomia 94590 

Respondents 

20 1. Respondent City of Vallejo is an employer City of Vallejo subject to suit under the 

21 
California Fair Employment and Housing Act (FEHA) (Gov. Code,§ 12900 et seq.). 

22 2. Complainant is naming Gregory Nyhoff es individual Co-Respondent{s). 

23 Complainant is naming Randy Risner as individual Co-Respondent{s). 

24 Complainant is naming Anna Cardwell as individual Co-Respondent(s). 

25 Complainant is naming Heather Ruiz as individual Co-Respondent(s). 

26 

271.,_---------=-___,,,........,,.......,,=,..,....,-1~--==-==-"""===---------~ 
Complaint- DFEH No. 202102-12538305 

28 Date Flied: February 5, 2021 



1 3. Complainant Slater Matzke, resides in the City of Oakland, State of Callfomla. 

2 4. Complainant alleges that on or about Aprll 23, 2020, respondent took the 

3 
following adverse actions: 

4 Complainant was harassed because of complainant's race. 

5 Complainant experienced retallatlon because complainant reported or resisted any form 
of discrimination or harassment, participated as a witness in a discrimination or harassment 

6 complaint and as a result was terminated, denied any employment benefit or privilege. 

7 
Additional Complalnt Details: Slater Matzke began working for Vallejo as a FUSE Corp 

8 Fellow in or around September 2016. On or around October 19, 2017, he was contracted 
as an Executive Advisor to the City as a consultant. On or around February 1 2020, he was 

9 hired as a Special Advisor to the Office of the City Manager. As demonstrated by Vallejo's 
continued contracting and eventual hiring of Matzke at senior-level positions, he performed 

10 his job well and was regularly commended for his work and dedication to Vallejo. 

11 
In or around January 2018, the Vallejo City Council appointed Greg Nyhoff as City Manager 
for Vallejo. Thus began a parade of horribles committed and endorsed by Nyhoff in and 

12 
beyond City Hall. Within the walls of City Hall, Nyhoff fostered a culture of discrimination, 
harassment, and retaliation. He expected all employees to fall in line, obeying his every 

13 command, regardless of the command's correctness, ethics, or impact. If an employee 
failed to adhere to Nyhoff's demands and follow him without question, Nyhoff either 

14 terminated them or made their working conditions so untenable that they resigned. 
A Council Member confided in Joanna Altman that Vallejo employees had informed them of 

15 Nyhoff's discrimination, harassment, retaliation, and bullying. Further, the Council Member 
disclosed that Nyhoff had bullied them, including pressuring them into signing a letter 

16 requesting that the Department of Justice investigate the Vallejo Police Department. 
Herb Lester, who worked for Vallejo during 2018 as a Risk Manager, harassed female staff. 

17 Although Nyhoff eventually fired Lester, he did not do so until multiple complaints were 
made by senior staff. 

18 Phil White, who worked for Vallejo as Director of Development Services, harassed female 
staff. In or around January 2019, he joined the team working on the North Mare Island 

19 project, of which Matzke and Will Moret were also members. In one instance, the team and 
Nyhoff were on a ferry to San Francisco to meet with developers. White told a female team 

20 member, "shouldn't you be back at your desk working since you can't keep up with everyone 

21 
else," or words to that effect, while putting his hands on her shoulder. It was clear that the 
team member was uncomfortable with both White's words and his physical contact. White 

22 also constantly attacked the reputation, character, and abilities of his colleagues - including 
Matzke - behind their backs. Although Nyhoff eventually fired White, again, he did not do 

23 so until multiple complaints were made by senior staff. 
One substantial motivating factor for Matzke's termination was his reporting of, and attempts 

24 to resolve the serious and ongoing discrimination against, and harassment and bullying of, 
an employee, a Black woman who worked for Matzke and Marat, by Judy Shepard-Hall, 

25 theVallejo's Housing and Community Development Manager. 

26 
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1 The employee had reached out to Morat numerous times, dating back to January 2019, 
seeking guidance on how to handle Shepard-Hall's abuse. She had also filed multiple 

2 complaints with Human Resources c•HR"), but nothing was done. 
On or around February 18, 2020, Morat and the employee attempted to attend a project 

3 meeting, run by Shepard-Hall. The moment they arrived, Shepard-Hall pulled Morat aside 

4 
and told him, 'This meeting isn't for staff. You're going to have to have [the employee) 
leave.• Incensed, Moret and the employee left. 
Immediately after, Morat spoke to Altman and Matzke about the incident. Altman and 

5 Matzke encouraged the employee to report this incident to HR as race discrimination and to 
go directly to Nyhoff. In a show of support, Moret went to HR with the employee to report 6 
the incident, where they spoke to Doris Papillon-Allen, Personnel Analyst II. That evening, 

7 Morat sent two (2) emails. The first was an email to all those in attendance at the meeting, 
briefly explaining why he had left so abruptly. The second was sent to Nyhoff, Heather Ruiz, 

8 Director of Human Resources, and Anne Cardwell, Assistant City Manager, and Papillon­
Allen, regarding the incident and Shepard-Hall's ongoing treatment of the employee, 

g officially lodging a complaint regarding the same. 
The next day, Marat met with Nyhoff and Ruiz, who told him that he was being placed on 

10 administrative leave. Nyhoff refused to offer any explanation. When Morat asked Ruiz for 
an explanation, she simply said, -You shouldn't have sent the email," or words to that effect. 

11 This was clearly retaliation for standing up for and protecting the employee, who was a 
victim of race discrimination. 

12 Shortly after Moret was placed on leave, Matzke assumed the role of interim supervisor for 
the Economic Development Division. He reviewed all of the allegations regarding the 

13 discrimination, harassment, and treatment of the employee. He emailed Nyhoff, Ruiz, 
Cardwell, and Risner, expressing his concerns. Again, Matzke's concerns were 

14 unanswered. Matzke also spoke to the employee, who told him that HR had not responded 

15 to any of their complaints. Matzke then spoke to Nyhoff and sent him an email expressing 
his further concerns and requesting guidance on how to handle the situation. Nyhoff was 

16 unresponsive, dismissive of the issue, and failed to address these serious HR violations and 
allegations. 

17 The employee then reached out to Altman, asking for advice. The employee discussed how 
Shepard-Hall had been discriminating against, and harassing and bullying, her. Altman 

18 advised her to fully document everything that had happened thus far and going forward, 
send it to Nyhoff, and to reach out to her union representative. 

19 Notably, Shepard-Hall is close friends with Ruiz and Cardwell-Shepard-Hall's supervisor. 
In fact, shortly before the February 18 meeting, Shepard-Hall asked Ruiz if she would "get in 

20 trouble" if she kicked Marat and the employee out, or words to that effect. Ruiz told her that 
she would not. Further, whenever a complaint was made to Ruiz about Shepard-Hall, Ruiz 

21 would tell her who had complained and would refuse to investigate. 
Further, Shepard-Hall conspired with of one Morat's direct reports to terminate Moret. 

22 In or around early March 2020, an investigation of Shepard-Hall's actions was conducted. 
Matzke, Altman, and Morat were interviewed. During the interviews with Matzke and 23 Altman, the majority of the questions related to Marat and his behavior, management style, 

24 and conduct - nothing to do with Shepard-Hall's conduct. 
In fact, Shepard-Hall, Ruiz, and Cardwell all conspired to terminate Morat, Matzke, and 

25 Altman. 

26 
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1 It is clear that, although the investigation should have been confidential, their statements 
were disclosed to Shepard-Hall. 

2 Additionally, Nyhoff told Shepard-Hall that, if she signed a letter in support of him ("March 13 
letter"), he would protect her in the investigation of her actions. Shepard-Hall signed the 

3 letter. 

4 
In or around March 2020, the City Council ordered an investigation of Nyhoff. On March 31, 
2020, Matzke, Altman, and Moret were individually interviewed by Linda Daube, the attomey 

5 
hired to conduct the interview. Daube audio-recorded their interview, which Vallejo has 
refused to provide to them. 

6 
During Daube's investigation, Matzke, Altman, and Moret discussed, inter alia, the uneasy 
and hostile work environment created by Nyhoff and his retaliatory, discriminatory, and 

7 bullying behavior. They discussed Nyhoff's failure to pay attention to, or read, reports, his 
failure to stay updated on key issues even when given talking points from his staff, and the 

8 blame that Nyhoff placed on his staff when these failures caused him problems. In 
response to questions about Nyhoff and discrimination, they detailed the harassment, 

9 discriminatory and bullying culture cultivated by him, as well as his willful failure to 
investigate HR complaints. In short, each raised issues about possible violations of State 

10 and local law, regulations, charters, and rules. Daube asked them if Nyhoff ever brought up 
issues of race or gender in Senior Leadership Team meetings. They confirmed that Nyhoff 

11 repeatedly admitted to being a racist during his thirties. 
The City Council concluded the investigation of Nyhoff in a closed-door session on April 22, 

12 2020. The following moming, on April 23, 2020, Matzke, Altman, and Moret were summarily 
terminated. Only four (4) hours later, the employee that they had advocated for was notified 

13 that the investigation of Shepard-Hall's harassment was closed and that her claims were 
·not sustainable." 

14 Instead of conducting legitimate investigations of race discrimination, Vallejo wrongfully 

15 harassed, retaliated against, and terminated Matzke, as well as Altman and Moral, for 
participating in the investigation of complaints of unlawful discrimination based on race and 

16 for reporting unlawful discrimination based on race. 

17 
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1 VERIFICATION 

2 I, Randall E. Strauss, am the Attorney in the above-entitled complaint. I have read 

3 the foregoing complaint and know the contents thereof. The matters alleged are 
based on information and belief, which I believe to be true. 

4 
On February 5, 2021, I declare under penalty of perjury under the laws of the State of 

5 California that the foregoing is true and correct. 
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DEPARTMENT OF FAIR EMPLOYMENT & HOUSING 
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February 5, 2021 

Randall Strauss 
1999 Harrison St. Ste. 1600, Suite 1600 
Oakland, California 94612 

RE: Notice to Complainant's Attorney 
DFEH Matter Number: 202102-12538905 
Right to Sue: Altman / City of Vallejo et al. 

Dear Randall Strauss: 

GA\IIN NEWSOM QAYfflNAB 
KEVIN KISH, DIRECTOR 

Attached is a copy of your complaint of discrimination filed with the Department of Fair 
Employment and Housing (DFEH) pursuant to the California Fair Employment and 
Housing Act, Government Code section 12900 et seq. Also attached is a copy of your 
Notice of Case Closure and Right to Sue. 

Pursuant to Government Code section 12962, DFEH wlll not serve these 
documents on the employer. You must serve the complaint separately, to all named 
respondents. Please refer to the attached Notice of Case Closure and Right to Sue for 
information regarding filing a private lawsuit in the State of California. A courtesy "Notice 
of Filing of Discrimination Complaint" is attached for your convenience. 

Be advised that the DFEH does not review or edit the complaint form to ensure that it 
meets procedural or statutory requirements. 

Sincerely, 

Department of Fair Employment and Housing 
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February 5, 2021 

RE: Notice of Flllng of Discrimination Complalnt 
DFEH Matter Number: 202102-12538905 
Right to Sue: Altman / City of Vallejo et al. 

To All Respondent(s): 

OAVJN NEWBPM GQYEBNQB 
KEVIN KISH, DIRECTOR 

Enclosed is a copy of a complaint of discrimination that has been filed with the 
Department of Fair Employment and Housing (DFEH) in accordance with Government 
Code section 12960. This constitutes service of the complaint pursuant to Government 
Code section 12962. The complainant has requested an authorization to file a lawsuit. A 
copy of the Notice of Case Closure and Right to Sue is enclosed for your records. 

This matter may qualny for DFEH's Small Employer Family Leave Mediation pilot 
program. Under this program, established under Government Code section 12945.21, 
a small employer with 5 -19 employees, charged with violation of the California Family 
Rights Act, Government Code section 12945.2, has the right to participate in DFEH's 
free voluntary mediation service. Under this program both the employee requesting an 
immediate right to sue and the employer charged with the violation may request that all 
parties participate in DFEH's free voluntary mediation service. A request for mediation 
must be made within 30 days of receipt of the Notice of Case Closure and Right to Sue. 
If mediation is requested, the employee is prohibited from filing a civil action until 
mediation is complete. The employee's statute of limitations to file a civil action, 
including for all related claims not arising under section 12945.2, is tolled from DFEH's 
receipt of a mediation request under section 12945.21 until mediation is complete. To 
request DFEH Small Employer Family Leave Mediation, email 
DRDOnlinerequests@dfeh.ca.gov and include the DFEH matter number indicated on 
the Right to Sue notice. 

Please refer to the attached complaint for a list of all respondent(s) and their contact 
information. 

No response to DFEH is requested or required. 

Sincerely, 

Department of Fair Employment and Housing 
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February 5, 2021 

Joanna Altman 
1999 Harrison Street, Suite 1600 
Oakland, California 94612 

RE: Notice of Case Closure and Right to Sue 
DFEH Matter Number: 202102-12538905 
Right to Sue: Altman / City of Vallejo et al. 

Dear Joanna Altman: 

QAIQN Nl;WSOM GQYERNQR 

KEVIN KISH. DIRECTOR 

This letter informs you that the above-referenced complaint filed with the Department of 
Fair Employment and Housing (DFEH) has been closed effective February 5, 2021 
because an immediate Right to Sue notice was requested. 

This letter is also your Right to Sue notice. According to Government Code section 
12965, subdivision (b), a civil action may be brought under the provisions of the Fair 
Employment and Housing Act against the person, employer, labor organization or 
employment agency named in the above-referenced complaint. The civil action must be 
filed within one year from the date of this letter. 

This matter may qualify for DFEH's Small Employer Family Leave Mediation pilot 
program. Under this program, established under Government Code section 12945.21, a 
small employer with 5 -19 employees, charged with violation of the California Family 
Rights Act, Government Code section 12945.2, has the right to participate in DFEH's 
free voluntary mediation service. Under this program both the employee requesting an 
immediate right to sue and the employer charged with the violation may request that all 
parties participate in DFEH's free voluntary mediation service. A request for mediation 
must be submitted to the DFEH within 30 days of receipt of the Notice of Case Closure 
and Right to Sue. If mediation is requested, the employee is prohibited from filing a civil 
action until mediation is complete. The employee's statute of limitations to file a civil 
action, including for all related claims not arising under section 12945.2, is tolled from 
DFEH's receipt of a mediation request under section 12945.21 until mediation is 
complete. To request DFEH Small Employer Family Leave Mediation, email 
DRD0n1inerequests@dfeh.ca.gov and include the DFEH matter number indicated on 
the Right to Sue notice. 

To obtain a federal Right to Sue notice, you must contact the U.S. Equal Employment 
Opportunity Commission (EEOC) to file a complaint within 30 days of receipt of this 
DFEH Notice of Case Closure or within 300 days of the alleged discriminatory act, 
whichever is earlier. 

Sincerely, 
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Department of Fair Employment and Housing 

GAytN NEWBQM IJQYEBNQB 
KEVIN KISH, DIRECTOR 
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COMPLAINT OF EMPLOYMENT DISCRIMINATION 
BEFORE THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA 

DEPARTMENT OF FAIR EMPLOYMENT AND HOUSING 
Under the Callfornla Fair Employment and Housing Act 

(Gov. Code,§ 12900 et seq.) 

In the Matter of the Complalnt of 
5 Joanna Altman DFEH No. 202102-12538905 

6 Complainant, 

7 
vs. 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

City of Vallejo 
555 Santa Clara Street, 3rd Floor 
Vallejo, California 94590 

Gregory Nyhoff 
555 Santa Clara Street, 3rd Floor 
Vallejo, California 94590 

Heather Ruiz 
555 Santa Clara Street, 3rd Floor 
Vallejo, California 94590 

Randy Risner 
555 Santa Clara Street, 3rd Floor 
Vallejo, California 94590 

Anne Cardwell 
555 Santa Clara Street, 3rd Floor 
Vallejo, California 94590 

Respondents 

20 1. Respondent City of Vallejo is an employer City of Vallejo subject to suit under the 

21 
California Fair Employment and Housing Act (FEHA) (Gov. Code,§ 12900 et seq.). 

22 2. Complainant is naming Gregory Nyhoff as individual Co-Respondent(s). 

23 Complainant is naming Heather Ruiz as individual Co-Respondent(s). 

24 Complainant is naming Randy Risner as individual Co-Respondent(s). 

25 Complainant is naming Anna Cardwell as individual Co-Respondent(s). 

26 
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28 Date Filed: February 5, 2021 



1 3. Complainant Joanna Altman, resides in the City of Oakland, State of California. 

2 4. Complainant alleges that on or about April 23, 2020, respondent took the 

3 
following adverse actions: 

4 Complainant was harassed because of complainant's race. 

5 Complainant experienced retaliation because complainant reported or resisted any form 
of discrimination or harassment, participated as a witness in a discrimination or harassment 

6 complaint and as a result was terminated, denied any employment benefit or privilege. 

7 
Additional Complaint Details: Joanna Altman began working for Vallejo in or around 

8 October 2012 as an Administrative Analyst II. In or around 2016, she was promoted to the 
position of Assistant to the City Manager. Altman had a glowing personnel record and was 

9 regular1y commended for her hard work and dedication to Vallejo. Not only was she 
excellent at her own job, she extremely knowledgeable about all aspects of work at City 

10 Hall, mentoring many employees. 

11 
In or around January 2018, the Vallejo City Council appointed Greg Nyhoff as City Manager 
for Vallejo. Thus began a parade of horribles committed and endorsed by Nyhoff in and 

12 
beyond City Hall. Within the walls of City Hall, Nyhoff fostered a culture of discrimination, 
harassment, and retaliation. He expected all employees to fall in line, obeying his every 

13 command, regardless of the command's correctness, ethics, or impact. If an employee 
failed to adhere to Nyhoff's demands and follow him without question, Nyhoff either 

14 terminated them or made their working conditions so untenable that they resigned. 
A Council Member confided in Altman that Vallejo employees had informed them of Nyhoff's 

15 discrimination, harassment, retaliation, and bullying. Further, the Council Member disclosed 
that Nyhoff had bullied them, including pressuring them into signing a letter requesting that 

16 the Department of Justice investigate the Vallejo Police Department. 
Herb Lester, who worked for Vallejo during 2018 as a Risk Manager, harassed female staff. 

17 Although Nyhoff eventually fired Lester, he did not do so until multiple complaints were 
made by senior staff. 

18 Phil White, who worked for Vallejo as Director of Development Services, harassed female 
staff. In or around January 2019, he joined the team working on the North Mare Island 

19 project, of which Matzke and Will Moret were also members. In one instance, the team and 
Nyhoff were on a ferry to San Francisco to meet with developers. White told a female team 

20 member, ·shouldn't you be back at your desk working since you can't keep up with everyone 

21 
else; or words to that effect, while putting his hands on her shoulder. It was clear that the 
team member was uncomfortable with both White's words and his physical contact. White 

22 also constantly attacked the reputation, character, and abilities of his colleagues - including 
Matzke - behind their backs. Although Nyhoff eventually fired White, again, he did not do 

23 so until multiple complaints were made by senior staff. 
One substantial motivating factor for Altman's termination was her reporting of, and attempts 

24 to resolve the serious and ongoing discrimination against, and harassment and bullying of, 
an employee, a Black woman who worked for Matzke and Moret, by Judy Shepard-Hall, 

25 Vallejo's Housing and Community Development Manager. 

26 
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1 The employee had reached out to Marat numerous times, dating back to January 2019, 
seeking guidance on how to handle Shepard-Hall's abuse. She had also filed multiple 

2 complaints with Human Resources ("HR"), but nothing was done. 
On or around February 18, 2020, Moret and the employee attempted to attend a project 

3 meeting, run by Shepard-Hall. The moment they arrived, Shepard-Hall pulled Moret aside 

4 
and told him, "This meeting isn't for staff. You're going to have to have [the employee] 
leave.• Incensed, Marat end the employee left. 
Immediately after, Morat spoke to Altman and Matzke about the incident. Altman and 

5 Matzke encouraged the employee to report this incident to HR as race discrimination and to 

6 
go directly to Nyhoff. In a show of support, Marat went to HR with the employee to report 
the incident, where they spoke to Doris Papillon-Allen, Personnel Analyst II. That evening, 

7 Moret sent two (2) emails. The first was an email to all those in attendance at the meeting, 
briefly explaining why he had left so abruptly. The second was sent to Nyhoff, Heather Ruiz, 

a Director of Human Resources, and Anne Cardwell, Assistant City Manager, and Papillon­
Allen, regarding the incident and Shepard-Hall's ongoing treatment of the employee, 

9 officially lodging a complaint regarding the same. 
The next day, Moret met with Nyhoff and Ruiz, who told him that he was being placed on 

10 administrative leave. Nyhoff refused to offer any explanation. When Moret asked Ruiz for 
an explanation, she simply said, "You shouldn't have sent the email," or words to that effect. 

11 This was clearly retaliation for standing up for and protecting the employee, who was a 
victim of race discrimination. 

12 Shortly after Moret was placed on leave, Matzke assumed the role of interim supervisor for 

13 
the Economic Development Division. He reviewed all of the allegations regarding the 
discrimination, harassment, and treatment of the employee. He emailed Nyhoff, Ruiz, 
Cardwell, and Risner, expressing his concerns. Again, Matzke's concerns were 

14 unanswered. Matzke also spoke to the employee, who told him that HR had not responded 

15 to any of their complaints. Matzke then spoke to Nyhoff and sent him an email expressing 
his further concerns and requesting guidance on how to handle the situation. Nyhoff was 

16 unresponsive, dismissive of the issue, and failed to address these serious HR violations end 
allegations. 

17 The employee then reached out to Altman, asking for advice. The employee discussed how 
Shepard-Hall had been discriminating against, and harassing and bullying, her. Altman 

18 advised her to fully document everything that had happened thus far and going forward, 
send it to Nyhoff, and to reach out to her union representative. 

19 Notably, Shepard-Hall is close friends with Ruiz and Cardwell - Shepard-Hall's supervisor. 
In fact, shortly before the February 18 meeting, Shepard-Hall asked Ruiz if she would •get in 

20 trouble" if she kicked Moret and the employee out, or words to that effect. Ruiz told her that 
she would not. Further, whenever a complaint was made to Ruiz about Shepard-Hall, Ruiz 

21 would tell her who had complained end would refuse to investigate. 
Further, Shepard-Hall conspired with of one Marat's direct reports to terminate Moret. 

22 In or around earty March 2020, an investigation of Shepard-Hall's actions was conducted. 
Altman, Matzke, and Moret were interviewed. During the interviews with Altman and 

23 Matzke, the majority of the questions related to Moret and his behavior, management style, 

24 and conduct - nothing to do with Shepard-Hall's conduct. 
In fact, Shepard-Hall, Ruiz, and Cardwell all conspired to terminate Altman, Moret, and 

25 Matzke. 

26 
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1 It is clear that, although the investigation should have been confidential, their statements 
were disclosed to Shepard-Hall. 

2 Additionally, Nyhoff told Shepard-Hall that, if she signed a letter in support of him c•March 13 
letter■), he would protect her in the investigation of her actions. Shepard-Hall signed the 

3 letter. 
In or around March 2020, the City Council ordered an investigation of Nyhoff. On March 31, 

4 2020, Altman, Matzke, and Marat were individually interviewed by Linda Daube, the attorney 

5 
hired to conduct the interview. Daube audio-recorded their interview, which Vallejo has 
refused to provide to them. 

6 
During Daube's investigation, Altman, Matzke, and Moret discussed, inter alia, the uneasy 
and hostile work environment created by Nyhoff and his retaliatory, discriminatory, and 

7 bullying behavior. They discussed Nyhoff's failure to pay attention to, or reed, reports, his 
failure to stay updated on key issues even when given talking points from his staff, and the 

a blame that Nyhoff placed on his staff when these failures caused him problems. In 
response to questions about Nyhoff and discrimination, they detailed the harassment, 

g discriminatory and bullying culture cultivated by him, as well as his willful failure to 
investigate HR complaints. In short, each raised issues about possible violations of State 

10 and local law, regulations, charters, and rules. Daube asked them if Nyhoff ever brought up 
issues of race or gender in Senior Leadership Team meetings. They confirmed that Nyhoff 

11 repeatedly admitted to being a racist during his thirties. 
The City Council concluded the investigation of Nyhoff in a closed-door session on April 22, 

12 2020. The following morning, on April 23, 2020, Altman, Matzke, and Moret were summarily 
terminated. Only four (4) hours later, the employee that they had advocated for was notified 

13 that the investigation of Shepard-Hell's harassment was closed and that her claims were 
"not sustainable." 

14 Instead of conducting legitimate investigations of race discrimination, Vallejo wrongfully 
harassed, retaliated against, and terminated Altman, as well as Matzke and Moret, for 15 
participating in the investigation of complaints of unlawful discrimination based on race and 

16 for reporting unlawful discrimination based on race. 

17 
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1 VERIFICATION 

2 I, Randall E. Strauss, am the Attorney in the above-entitled complaint. I have read 

3 the foregoing complaint and know the contents thereof. The matters alleged are 
based on information and belief, which I believe to be true. 

4 
On February 5, 2021, I declare under penalty of perjury under the laws of the State of 

5 Califomia that the foregoing is true and correct. 
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W DEPARTMENT OF FAIR EMPLOYMENT & HOUSING 
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February 5, 2021 

Randall Strauss 
1999 Harrison St. Ste. 1600, Suite 1600 
Oakland, Califomia 94612 

RE: Notice to Complainant's Attorney 
DFEH Matter Number: 202102-12539105 
Right to Sue: Morat I City of Vallejo et al. 

Dear Randall Strauss: 

QAYJN NEWAQM !3oVEBNQB 
KEVIN KISH, DIRECTOR 

Attached is a copy of your complaint of discrimination filed with the Department of Fair 
Employment and Housing (DFEH) pursuant to the California Fair Employment and 
Housing Act, Government Code section 12900 et seq. Also attached is a copy of your 
Notice of Case Closure and Right to Sue. 

Pursuant to Government Code section 12962, DFEH wlll not serve these 
documents on the employer. You must serve the complaint separately, to all named 
respondents. Please refer to the attached Notice of Case Closure and Right to Sue for 
information regarding filing a private lawsuit in the State of Califomia. A courtesy "Notice 
of Filing of Discrimination Complainr Is attached for your convenience. 

Be advised that the DFEH does not review or edit the complaint form to ensure that it 
meets procedural or statutory requirements. 

Sincerely, 

Department of Fair Employment and Housing 
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DEPARTMENT OF f AIR EMPLOYMENT & HOUSING 
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February 5, 2021 

RE: Notice of Flllng of Discrimination Complaint 
DFEH Matter Number: 202102-12539105 
Right to Sue: Moret / City of Vallejo et al. 

To All Respondent(s): 

GA)l[N NEWSOM GQYEBNQR 
KEVIN IQSH, DIRECTOR 

Enclosed is a copy of a complaint of discrimination that has been filed with the 
Department of Fair Employment and Housing (DFEH) in accordance with Government 
Code section 12960. This constitutes service of the complaint pursuant to Government 
Code section 12962. The complainant has requested an authorization to file a lawsuit. A 
copy of the Notice of Case Closure and Right to Sue is enclosed for your records. 

This matter may qualify for DFEH's Small Employer Family Leave Mediation pilot 
program. Under this program, established under Government Code section 12945.21, 
a small employer with 5 -19 employees, charged with violation of the California Family 
Rights Act, Government Code section 12945.2, has the right to participate in DFEH's 
free voluntary mediation service. Under this program both the employee requesting an 
immediate right to sue and the employer charged with the violation may request that all 
parties participate in DFEH's free voluntary mediation service. A request for mediation 
must be made within 30 days of receipt of the Notice of Case Closure and Right to Sue. 
If mediation is requested, the employee is prohibited from filing a civil action until 
mediation is complete. The employee's statute of limitations to file a civil action, 
including for all related claims not arising under section 12945.2, is tolled from DFEH's 
receipt of a mediation request under section 12945.21 until mediation is complete. To 
request DFEH Small Employer Family Leave Mediation, email 
DRD0nlinerequests@dfeh.ca.gov and include the DFEH matter number indicated on 
the Right to Sue notice. 

Please refer to the attached complaint for a list of all respondent(s) and their contact 
information. 

No response to DFEH is requested or required. 

Sincerely, 

Department of Fair Employment and Housing 



IIATE Qf r.&YEQRNIA I Bu .... CcnMult fttwlat and HR'.111lr11 aeensx 
DEPARTMENT OF FAIR EMPLOYMENT & HOUSING 
2218 Kauean Drtva, Sub 100 I Elk Grove I CA I 96768 
(800) 884-11184 (Voice) I (800) 700-2320 (TTY) I C1ltromla'1 Relay Service et 711 
http://www.dfeh.ca.gov I Emall: contacl.center@dfeh.ca.gov 

February 5, 2021 

Will Morat 
1999 Harrison Street, Suite 1600 
Oakland, California 94612 

RE: Notice of Case Closure and Right to Sue 
DFEH Matter Number: 202102-12539105 
Right to Sue: Morat I City of Vallejo et al. 

Dear Will Moret: 

G&YlH N§WBQM QO)(EBNQB 
ICEVIN KISH, DIRECTOR 

This letter informs you that the above-referenced complaint filed with the Department of 
Fair Employment and Housing (DFEH) has been closed effective February 5, 2021 
because an immediate Right to Sue notice was requested. 

This letter is also your Right to Sue notice. According to Government Code section 
12965, subdivision (b ), a civil action may be brought under the provisions of the Fair 
Employment and Housing Act against the person, employer, labor organization or 
employment agency named in the above-referenced complaint. The civil action must be 
filed within one year from the date of this letter. 

This matter may qualify for DFEH's Small Employer Family Leave Mediation pilot 
program. Under this program, established under Government Code section 12945.21, a 
small employer with 5 -19 employees, charged with violation of the California Family 
Rights Act, Government Code section 12945.2, has the right to participate in DFEH's 
free voluntary mediation service. Under this program both the employee requesting an 
immediate right to sue and the employer charged with the violation may request that all 
parties participate in DFEH's free voluntary mediation service. A request for mediation 
must be submitted to the DFEH within 30 days of receipt of the Notice of Case Closure 
and Right to Sue. If mediation is requested, the employee is prohibited from filing a civil 
action until mediation is complete. The employee's statute of limitations to file a civil 
action, including for all related claims not arising under section 12945.2, is tolled from 
DFEH's receipt of a mediation request under section 12945.21 until mediation is 
complete. To request DFEH Small Employer Family Leave Mediation, email 
DRDOnlinerequests@dfeh.ca.gov and include the DFEH matter number indicated on 
the Right to Sue notice. 

To obtain a federal Right to Sue notice, you must contact the U.S. Equal Employment 
Opportunity Commission (EEOC) to file a complaint within 30 days of receipt of this 
DFEH Notice of Case Closure or within 300 days of the alleged discriminatory act, 
whichever is earlier. 

Sincerely, 



§TATE OE QAUEOANlA I IYIDIII omeunec BIDdsll ,m HwlllnP A,genmc 

DEPARTMENT OF f AIR EMPLOYMENT & HOUSING 
2218 Kau1111 Drive, Sulla 100 I Elk Grove I CA 195758 
(800) 884-1684 (Voice) I {800) 700-2320 (TTY) I Callfomla'e Relay service at 711 
http:/.www.dfeh.ca.gov I Emal!: contact.cenlllr@dfah.ca.gov 

Department of Fair Employment and Housing 

WMN NEWSAM OPYEBNPB 
KEVIN KISH, DIRECTOR 
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COMPLAINT OF EMPLOYMENT DISCRIMINATION 
BEFORE THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA 

DEPARTMENT OF FAIR EMPLOYMENT AND HOUSING 
Under the Callfornla Fair Employment and Housing Act 

(Gov. Code,§ 12900 et seq.) 

In the Matter of the Complalnt of 
5 Will Morat DFEH No. 202102-12539105 

6 Complainant, 

7 
vs. 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

City of Vallejo 
555 Santa Clara Street, 3rd Floor 
Vallejo, Califomia 94590 

Gregory Nyhoff 
555 Santa Clara Street, 3rd Floor 
Vallejo, Califomia 94590 

Randy Risner 
555 Santa Clara Street, 3rd Floor 
Vallejo, California 94590 

Heather Ruiz 
555 Santa Clara Street, 3rd Floor 
Vallejo, California 94590 

Anne Cardwell 
555 Santa Clara Street, 3rd Floor 
Vallejo, California 94590 

Respondents 

20 1. Respondent City of Vallejo is an employer City of Vallejo subject to suit under the 

21 
California Fair Employment and Housing Act (FEHA) (Gov. Code,§ 12900 et seq.). 

22 2. Complainant is naming Gregory Nyhoff as indivldual Co-Respondent(s). 

23 Complainant is naming Randy Risner as individual Co-Respondent(s). 

24 Complainant is naming Heather Ruiz as individual Co-Respondent(s). 

25 Complainant is naming Anna Cardwell as individual Co-Respondent(s). 

26 
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1 3. Complainant WIii Morat, resides in the City of Oakland, State of Callfornla. 

2 4. Complainant alleges that on or about Aprll 23, 2020, respondent took the 

3 
following adverse actions: 

4 Complainant was harassed because of complainant's race. 

5 Complainant experienced ratallatlon because complainant reported or resisted any form 
of discrimination or harassment, participated as a witness in a discrimination or harassment 

6 complaint and as a result was terminated, suspended, denied any employment benefit or 
privilege. 

7 

8 Additional Complaint Datalls: Will Moret began working for Vallejo in or around December 
2013 as an Administrative Analyst I and was promoted to Administrative Analyst II in or 

9 around October 2015. In April of 2017, Marat was appointed the Project Manager for the 
Blue Rock Springs Golf Course project. On or around January 2018, he was promoted to 

10 the Interim Manager for the Housing & Community Development Department. On or around 
July 2018, he was appointed the Project Manager for the Mere Island Project and was 

11 designated as lead negotiator for Vallejo's team. On or around October 8, 2018, Morat was 

12 
promoted to the position of Assistant to the City Manager. One (1) month later, in or around 
November 2018, Marat was promoted again, now leading and managing the Economic 

13 Development Division. 
In or around January 2018, the Vallejo City Council appointed Greg Nyhoff as City Manager 

14 for Vallejo. Thus began a parade of horribles committed and endorsed by Nyhoff in and 
beyond City Hall. Within the walls of City Hall, Nyhoff fostered a culture of discrimination, 

15 harassment, and retaliation. He expected all employees to fall in line, obeying his every 
command, regardless of the command's correctness, ethics, or impact. If an employee 

16 failed to adhere to Nyhoffs demands and follow him without question, Nyhoff either 
terminated them or made their working conditions so untenable that they resigned. 

17 A Council Member confided in Joanna Altman that Vallejo employees had informed them of 
Nyhoff's discrimination, harassment, retaliation, and bullying. Further, the Council Member 

18 disclosed that Nyhoff had bullied them, including pressuring them into signing a letter 
requesting that the Department of Justice investigate the Vallejo Police Department. 

19 Herb Lester, who worked for Vallejo during 2018 as a Risk Manager, harassed female staff. 

20 
Although Nyhoff eventually fired Lester, he did not do so until multiple complaints were 
made by senior staff. 

21 Phil White, who worked for Vallejo as Director of Development Services, harassed female 
staff. In or around January 2019, he joined the team working on the North Mare Island 

22 project, of which Moret and Slater Matzke were also members. In one instance, the team 
and Nyhoff were on a ferry to San Francisco to meet with developers. White told a female 

23 team member, •shouldn't you be back at your desk working since you can't keep up with 
everyone else," or words to that effect, while putting his hands on her shoulder. It was clear 

24 that the team member was uncomfortable with both White's words and his physical contact. 
White also constantly attacked the reputation, character, and abilities of his colleagues -

25 including Marat- behind their backs. Although Nyhoff eventually fired White, again, he did 
not do so until multiple complaints were made by senior staff. 

26 
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1 One substantial motivating factor for Morat's termination was his reporting of, and attempts 
to resolve the serious and ongoing discrimination against, and harassment and bullying of, 

2 an employee, a Black woman who worked for him and Matzke, by Judy Shepard-Hall, 
Vallejo's Housing and Community Development Manager. . 

3 The employee had reached out to Morat numerous times, dating back to January 2019, 

4 
seeking guidance on how to handle Shepard-Hall's abuse. She had also filed multiple 
complaints with Human Resources ("HR•), but nothing was done. 
On or around February 18, 2020, Morat and the employee attempted to attend a project 

5 meeting, run by Shepard-Hall. The moment they arrived, Shepard-Hall pulled Moret aside 

6 and told him, "This meeting isn't for staff. You're going to have to have [the employee] 
leave.• Incensed, Morat and the employee left. 

7 Immediately after, Morat spoke to Matzke and Altman about the incident. Matzke and 
Altman encouraged the employee to report this incident to HR as race discrimination and to 

a go directly to Nyhoff. In a show of support, Morat went to HR with the employee to report 
the incident, where they spoke to Doris Papillon-Allen, Personnel Analyst II. That evening, 

g Morat sent two (2) emails. The first was an email to all those in attendance at the meeting, 
briefly explaining why he had left so abruptly. The second was sent to Nyhoff, Heather Ruiz, 

1 O Director of Human Resources, and Anne Cardwell, Assistant City Manager, and Papillon­
Allen, regarding the incident and Shepard-Hall's ongoing treatment of the employee, 

11 officially lodging a complaint regarding the same. 
The next day, Morat met with Nyhoff and Ruiz, who told him that he was being placed on 

12 administrative leave. Nyhoff refused to offer any explanation. When Moret asked Ruiz for 

13 
an explanation, she simply said, ·vou shouldn't have sent the email,· or words to that effect. 
This was clearly retaliation for standing up for and protecting the employee, who was a 
victim of race discrimination. 

14 Shortly after Moret was placed on leave, Matzke assumed the role of interim supervisor for 

15 the Economic Development Division. He reviewed all of the allegations regarding the 
discrimination, harassment, and treatment of the employee. He emailed Nyhoff, Ruiz, 

16 Cardwell, and Risner, expressing his concerns. Again, Matzke's concerns were 
unanswered. Matzke also spoke to the employee, who told him that HR had not responded 

17 to any of their complaints. Matzke then spoke to Nyhoff and sent him an email expressing 
his further concerns and requesting guidance on how to handle the situation. Nyhoff was 

18 unresponsive, dismissive of the issue, and failed to address these serious HR vlolatlons and 
allegations. 

19 The employee then reached out to Altman, asking for advice. The employee discussed how 
Shepard-Hall had been discriminating against, and harassing and bullying, her. Altman 

20 advised her to fully document everything that had happened thus far and going forward, 
send it to Nyhoff, and to reach out to her union representative. 

21 Notably, Shepard-Hall is close friends with Ruiz and Cardwell-Shepard-Hall's supervisor. 

22 
In fact, shortly before the February 18 meeting, Shepard-Hall asked Ruiz if she would "get in 
trouble• if she kicked Moret and the employee out, or words to that effect. Ruiz told her that 

23 
she would not. Further, whenever a complaint was made to Ruiz about Shepard-Hall, Ruiz 
would tell her who had complained and would refuse to investigate. 

24 Further, Shepard-Hall conspired with of one Morat's direct reports to terminate Morat. 
In or around early March 2020, an investigation of Shepard-Hall's actions was conducted. 

25 Marat, Matzke, and Altman were interviewed. During the interviews with Matzke and 

26 
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1 Altman, the majority of the questions related to Marat and his behavior, management style, 
and conduct - nothing to do with Shepard-Hall's conduct. 

2 In fact, Shepard-Hall, Ruiz, and Cardwell all conspired to terminate Marat, Matzke, and 
Altman. 

3 It is clear that, although the investigation should have been confidential, their statements 
were disclosed to Shepard-Hall. 

4 Additionally, Nyhoff told Shepard-Hall that, if she signed a letter in support of him (·March 13 

5 
letter"), he would protect her in the investigation of her actions. Shepard-Hall signed the 
letter. 

6 In or around March 2020, the City Council ordered an investigation of Nyhoff. On March 31, 
2020, Marat, Matzke, and Altman were Individually interviewed by Linda Daube, the attorney 

7 hired to conduct the interview. Daube audio-recorded their interview, which Vallejo has 
refused to provide to them. 

a During Daube's investigation, Moret, Matzke, and Altman discussed, inter alia, the uneasy 
and hostile work environment created by Nyhoff and his retaliatory, discriminatory, and 

g bullying behavior. They discussed Nyhoff's failure to pay attention to, or read, reports, his 
failure to stay updated on key Issues even when given talking points from his staff, and the 

10 blame that Nyhoff placed on his staff when these failures caused him problems. In 
response to questions about Nyhoff and discrimination, they detailed the harassment, 

11 discriminatory and bullying culture cultivated by him, as well as his willful failure to 
investigate HR complaints. In short, each raised issues about possible violations of State 

12 and local law, regulations, charters, and rules. Daube asked them if Nyhoff ever brought up 

13 
issues of race or gender in Senior Leadership Team meetings. They confirmed that Nyhoff 
repeatedly admitted to being a racist during his thirties. 

14 
The City Council concluded the investigation of Nyhoff in a closed-door session on April 22, 
2020. The following morning, on April 23, 2020, Moral, Matzke, and Altman were summarily 

15 terminated. Only four (4) hours later, the employee that they had advocated for was notified 
that the investigation of Shepard-Hall's harassment was closed and that her claims were 

16 "not sustainable.■ 
Instead of conducting legitimate investigations of race discrimination, Vallejo wrongfully 

17 harassed, retaliated against, and terminated Morat, as well as Matzke and Altman, for 
participating in the investigation of complaints of unlawful discrimination based on race and 

18 for reporting unlawful discrimination based on race. 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 
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1 VERIFICATION 

2 I, Randall E. Strauss, am the Attorney in the above-entitled complaint. I have read 
3 

the foregoing complaint and know the contents thereof. The matters alleged are 
based on information and belief, which I believe to be true. 

4 
On February 5, 2021, I declare under penalty of perjury under the laws of the State of 

5 California that the foregoing is true and correct. 

6 
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Oakland, Callfornla 

-5-
Complaint- DFEH No. 202102-12539105 

Date Filed: February 5, 2021 


